EVALUATING THE IMPACT OF THE BEHEALTHY PROGRAMME *in Russia*

July 2015





Evaluation of Social Return on Investment for the Mondelēz Foundation Published in July 2015 by the Russian branch of the Charities Aid Foundation (CAF) www.cafrussia.ru

Contents

Report summary	8
Chapter 1 – Introduction	11
1.1 - The BeHealthy programme	11
1.2 – Objectives of this evaluation	14
Chapter 2 – Evaluation of healthy lifestyle programmes: the context	16
2.1 – Impact measurement of healthy lifestyle programmes in Russia	16
2.2 – BHP impact measurement experience	17
2.3 – PIP approach and ongoing measurement by the MIF	18
Chapter 3 - The SROI methodology	21
3.1 – Establishing the scope and identifying the stakeholders	21
3.2 – Data collection: sampling, indicators, and valuation	24
3.3 – Model and calculation	24
Chapter 4 – How does the BHP produce change?	25
4.1 – What is a theory of change (ToC)?	25
4.2 – Identifying stakeholders	25
4.3 – Understanding change over time	26
Changes for children involved in the programme	26
Changes for children not involved in the programme	28
Changes for parents of children involved in the programme	29
Changes for teachers directly involved in the programme	30
Changes for teachers not directly involved in the programme	32
4.4 – External factors influencing the outcomes of the BHP	33
Chapter 5 – Building the SROI model	35
5.1 – The modelling process	35
5.2 – Outcome incidence: understanding gross change	37
5.3 – Differences in outcomes by stakeholder	41
5.4 – Differences in outcomes across three locations	43
5.5 – BHP impact: understanding net change	44
5.6 – Assessing the materiality of negative outcomes	50
5.7 – Using financial proxies to assign values to the results	53
5.8 – Other modelling considerations	54

Chapter 6 – results of the SROI evaluation	65
6.1 – The social return on investment of the bhp	65
6.2 – Value distribution	66
6.3 – Sensitivity analysis	70
Chapter 7 – discussions and conclusions	76
7.1 – Main findings	76
7.2 - Improvements to the programme	76
7.3 – Stakeholder engagement in discussion of the sroi findings	77
7.4 – Evidencing programme impact	77
7.5 – Limitations of the methodology	78
Anneves	79
Annex 1	79
Annex 2	81
Annex 3	85
Annex 4	86
Annex 5	87
Annex 6	115
Annex 7	119
Annex 8	120
Annex 9	124
Glossary	125
References	127

List of tables

Table 1: Outcomes measured by SROI	9
Table 2: SROI scope	11
Table 3. The Stages and Principles of the SROI Methodology	21
Table 4. Stakeholder engagement for the SROI	23
Table 5: Stakeholder population and sample by school:	
Novgorod school 18, Ropsha school and Sobinka school 2	38
Table 6: Outcomes, indicators and incidence by stakeholder by school	40
Table 7. Novgorod school 18. General information	43
Table 8. Ropsha school. General information	43
Table 9. Sobinka school 2. General information	44
Table 10: Net change and attribution by outcome per stakeholder by school	48
Table 11. Share of stakeholders reporting no changes for the BHP outcomes by school	51
Table 12. Share of stakeholders reporting negative changes for the BHP outcomes by school	52
Table 13: Outcome achievement, benefit period and drop-off by stakeholder	55
Table 14. Extrapolating outcomes for children and parents: Novgorod school 18	57
Table 15. Extrapolating outcomes for children and parents: Ropsha school	59
Table 16. Extrapolating outcomes for children and parents: Sobinka school 2	62
Table 17: BHP grant funding per school by year	
Table 18: Inflation rates used to adjust the BHP investment	79
Table 19: BHP financial costs per school by year, adjusted for inflation	63
Table 20. Economic costs of BHP by school	64
Table 21: Economic costs of the BHP, per school by year, adjusted for inflation	64
Table 22: SROI of the BHP for Novgorod school 18	65
Table 23. SROI of the BHP for Ropsha school	65
Table 24. SROI of the BHP for Sobinka school 2	66
Table 25: Sensitivity Analysis - Proxies, Novgorod school 18	70
Table 26: Sensitivity Analysis - Proxies reduced by 50%, Novgorod school 18	70
Table 27: Sensitivity Analysis - Proxies, Ropsha school	71
Table 28: Sensitivity Analysis - Proxies reduced by 50%, Ropsha school	71
Table 29: Sensitivity Analysis - Proxies, Sobinka school 2	71
Table 30: Sensitivity Analysis - Proxies reduced by 50%, Sobinka school 2	72
Table 31: Sensitivity Analysis - Attribution	72
Table 32: Sensitivity Analysis - Drop-off and benefit period	91
Table 33. Indicators measured for the SROI by stakeholder across three schools	118
Table 34. Choice experiment results by stakeholder, Novgorod school 18	120
Table 35: Choice experiment results by stakeholder, Ropsha school	121
Table 36. Choice experiment results by stakeholder, Sobinka	122
Table 37: BHP expenses - total by year in Russian roubles	124
Table 38: Number of schools funded within the BHP, by year	124

List of figures

Figure 1: BeHealthy CAF Programme Impact Pathways (PIP) Diagram	19
Figure 2: Stakeholders affected by the BHP	22
Figure 3: Changes for children not involved in the BHP	26
Figure 4: Changes for parents of children involved in the BHP	28
Figure 5: Changes for teachers directly involved in the BHP	29
Figure 6: Changes for teachers not directly involved in the programme	45
Figure 7: Measuring impact	49
Figure 8. Attribution per outcome, average across three schools	67
Figure 9. Distribution of BHP benefits by stakeholder, Novgorod school 18	67
Figure 10: Distribution of value created by BHP across outcomes, Novgorod school 18	68
Figure 11: Distribution of BHP benefits by stakeholder, Ropsha school	69
Figure 12: Distribution of value created by BHP across outcomes, Ropsha school	69
Figure 13: Distribution of BHP benefits by stakeholder, Sobinka school 2	69
Figure 14: Distribution of value created by BHP across outcomes, Sobinka school 2	69
Figure 15: SROI variation, Novgorod school 18	73
Figure 16: SROI variation, Ropsha school	74
Figure 17: SROI variation, Sobinka school 2	74
Figure 18. An overview of the Theory of Change for the SROI approach by nef consulting	85
Figure 19. Theory of Change for the BeHealthy Programme	86

Abbreviations used in this report

- BHP BeHealthy Programme
- CAF Charities Aid Foundation
- CCP Critical Quality Control Point
- CSR Corporate Social Responsibility
- MIF Mondelēz International Foundation
- nef new economics foundation
- NS18 Novgorod school 18
- PE Physical Education (school subject)
- PIP Programme Impact Pathways
- RS Ropsha school
- RUB Russian rouble (national currency of the Russian Federation)
- SROI Social Return on Investment
- SS2 Sobinka school 2
- ToC Theory of Change
- WG Working group

Report Summary

This report presents an evaluation of social return for the BeHealthy Programme (BHP) implemented by the Charities Aid Foundation (CAF) in Russia with the financial support of the Mondelēz International Foundation (MIF). The programme is part of the Mondelēz Global Community Partnership Initiative to promote active, healthy lifestyles – a critical component of the company's wellbeing mission.

The evaluation measures the impact of the BHP over a seven-year period (2008-2014) in three schools located in three different Russian regions where the programme was implemented: school no. 18 in Novgorod, Ropsha school (Leningrad region) and school no. 2 in Sobinka (Vladimir region).

The objectives of this evaluation are:

- To understand the impact of the BHP through an evaluative study demonstrating the effectiveness of the investment undertaken by Mondelēz;
- To support strategic planning and decision-making processes within the BHP with regard to its funding approaches and expansion to new regions;
- To assist Mondelēz and CAF in identifying aspects of the programme that could be improved and the key drivers of the programme's success.

The SROI (Social Return on Investment) methodology was used for this evaluation.

Be Healthy Programme

The BHP is the Russian component of the Mondelēz International Foundation's US\$ 50 million, multi-year commitment to promote healthy lifestyles in 13 key markets: Australia, Brazil, China, France, Germany, India, Italy, Mexico, Russia, South Africa, Spain, UK and the US. As part of this commitment, the MIF is working with its partners to empower communities to embrace active and healthier lifestyles.

In 2014, eight programmes were running in markets that have some of the highest rates of childhood obesity.

The programme's three main objectives are:

- To offer nutrition education;
- To promote active play;
- To provide access to fresh foods.

Theory of change of the BHP

The overall goal of the BHP is to contribute to the development of healthy nutrition skills and to an increase in physical activity on the part of schoolchildren aged 8-12.

The theory of change (ToC) of the BHP describes the principal changes the programme delivered for the stakeholders who are most affected: the teachers in the schools involved in the programme, the parents¹ of children involved in the programme, and the schoolchildren themselves (both those involved and those not involved in the programme).

¹ In this SROI evaluation, parents and other carers will be referred to simply as 'parents'.

The changes, identified through a qualitative approach (focus groups and stakeholder interviews conducted in the three schools: Novgorod school no. 18, Ropsha School and Sobinka school no. 2), are as follows:

Stakeholders	Outcomes measured by SROI
Children involved in the programme	 Increased vitality Increased autonomy Better social development Increased self-esteem
Children not involved in the programme	Increased vitalityBetter social developmentIncreased self-esteem
Parents of children involved in the programme	Increased vitalityMore supportive relationshipsIncreased self-esteem
Teachers involved in the programme	 Increased vitality More supportive relationships Increased self-esteem Increased competence Increased sense of meaning and purpose
Teachers not directly involved in the programme	 Increased vitality More supportive relationships Increased self-esteem Increased sense of meaning and purpose

Table 1: Outcomes measured by SROI

Data collection

After the outcomes achieved were identified by the stakeholders, indicators were selected and questionnaires were developed to measure the quantitative data on the extent and intensity of the changes experienced by the stakeholders during the programme. Questionnaires were given to children, teachers and parents in February 2015 at the three schools included in the scope of this SROI.

Besides measuring change, data were also collected on other variables that influence the impact of the programme: financial proxies (valuation), counterfactual (the changes that would have happened anyway), attribution (the degree to which the programme itself can be considered responsible for each outcome), benefit period and annual drop-off.

Results and conclusions

Overall, we found that at the three schools included in this SROI, stakeholders report a positive change across all outcomes considered in this analysis. This change, however, is not uniform across outcomes and also differs between locations.

In Novgorod school 18 the children were the main beneficiaries of the BHP: they benefited from 49% of the value created, followed by the teachers (31%) and then the parents (20%).

The outcomes accounting for the most value at the Novgorod school are precisely the ones the BHP is directly aiming to achieve:

- increased vitality for all stakeholders (27% of total value created);
- supportive relationships for all stakeholders (19% of total value created);
- increased autonomy for children (15% of total value created);
- increased self-esteem for all stakeholders (15% of total value created).

In Ropsha school most of the value created by the BHP went either to teachers or children, with the former deriving the greatest value by a difference of 7% (45% and 38% of the value respectively), while parents derived 17% of the value.

The most highly valued outcomes at the Ropsha school are also the ones the BHP is directly aiming to achieve

- increased vitality for all stakeholders (38% of total value created);
- supportive relationships for all stakeholders (23% of total value created);
- increased self-esteem for all stakeholders (17% of total value created).

At Sobinka school 2 the benefits created by the BHP went mostly to the children (43%), who are the main target group, and parents (32%). This value distribution may be explained by the fact that the programme has been running at the school for quite a long time, enabling the children and parents to benefit from it as much as possible.

Again, vitality was the outcome that accounts for the largest proportion of value created (28%), followed by self-esteem and supportive relationships (22% each).

The unintended outcomes – such as increased satisfaction with the school on the part of parents of children involved in the programme, increased competence, and increased sense of meaning and purpose for the teachers – rated lower at all three schools.

Overall, the SROI ratios across the three schools vary:

- between 3.41 and 7.56 in Novgorod school 18
- between 1.26 and 2.70 in Ropsha school
- between 2.55 and 5.57 in Sobinka school 2.

We can therefore state with confidence that the BHP has had a positive impact at the three schools analysed for this SROI.

This impact might be higher in Novgorod school 18 than in the other locations due to the size of the school and the number of children it managed to involve in the programme during a relatively short period of time (196 children over three years, compared with 87 children over five years in Ropsha and 191 children over five years in Sobinka).

The SROI ratio for Ropsha school is the lowest, which might be explained by the following factors:

- the size of the school: it is the smallest of the three schools considered in this SROI
- the amount of investment: this school received more funding than the two other schools
- the time of the intervention: the programme here finished about two years before this SROI evaluation while in the two other schools it is still running.

The findings are indicative of the BHP's allocative effectiveness, since the vast majority of the benefits created accrue to the intended beneficiaries and outcomes.

Chapter 1 – Introduction

This report presents the results of the evaluation of social return on investment (SROI) undertaken with regard to the BHP implemented by CAF in Russia with the financial support of the MIF.

The programme is part of the Mondelēz Global Community Partnership Initiative to promote active, healthy lifestyles – a critical component of the company's wellbeing mission.

In Russia, the BHP has been working since 2007 in the regions where Mondelēz International has its business operation units. By 2014, it involved 47 schools, including 16 schools in the Leningrad region, 10 in the Vladimir region, 15 in Novgorod, and six in the Novosibirsk region².

The specific purpose of this SROI evaluation is to identify the impact of the social investment made through the BHP in three participant schools during different periods between the years 2008 and 2014:

Region	School	Years involved in the programme
Leningrad region	Ropsha School	2008 – 2012
Novgorod	School 18	2012 – 2015
Vladimir region	Sobinka 2	2010 – 2015

Table 2: SROI scope

1.1 The BeHealthy Programme

The background to the programme

In Russia, there are quite serious health-related problems amongst children. Only 30% of Russian schoolchildren aged 6 to 11 have a morning meal at home on a regular basis. This is a serious public health concern because a healthy breakfast is necessary for a child's physical health and good performance at school. Children who miss the nutritional and physical benefits of a healthy morning meal cannot make up the deficit through the other meals they consume later in the day. Many children who arrive at school hungry (especially in the rural regions) are from families in socio-economically vulnerable groups. In Russia, every school offers a free breakfast to the children during the school year.

In Russia, both children and adults tend to consume too much fat, salt and sugar, while their consumption of fruit and vegetables, dairy products, and fish and other seafood is too low (RF Ministry of Health and Social Development 2011). The family budget is a decisive factor, as low income often limits the food choices available to them.

Current research shows that a large number of Russian children of school age suffer from poor physical development. The last 20 years of political and economic change have undermined the ability of the system to engage children in sports and an active, healthy lifestyle. In the last two decades there has also been easier access to junk food and an increase in sedentary leisure activities such as watching TV and playing computer games. In the current school environment there is little space in the curriculum for nutritional education and very little effort to encourage an active, healthy lifestyle (RF Ministry of Health and Social Development 2011).

The design of the programme

The BHP is the Russian component of the MIF's \$50 million, multi-year commitment to promote healthy lifestyles in 13 key markets: Australia, Brazil, China, France, Germany, India, Italy, Mexico, Russia, South Africa, Spain, the United Kingdom and the United States. As part of this commitment, the MIF is working together with its partners to empower communities to embrace active and healthier lifestyles.

In 2014, eight programmes were running in countries that have some of the highest rates of childhood obesity.

The programme's three main objectives are:

- 1. To offer nutrition education;
- 2. To promote active play; and
- 3. To provide access to fresh foods.

² The Novosibirsk region only joined the BHP in the 2014-2015 academic year, and therefore it was not included in the SROI analysis

BHP focuses on pupils aged 8 to 12, an important age group for the development of knowledge, skills and good habits. By engaging in the programme these children learn to make informed choices that contribute to their own healthy development.

The programme objectives are pursued using an open grant competition mechanism to engage schools in the different regions. Schools participating in the BHP are required to introduce three main strands of activities for the target agegroup of children:

- activities aimed at promoting gardening and learning about food
- activities aimed at teaching cooking skills and establishing the importance of eating breakfast
- activities aimed at increasing the children's level of physical activity.

Grant competition

The programme runs on an annual basis concurrent with the academic school year. The grant competitions in the regions are organised by CAF with the support of local departments of education, and are based on well-structured requests for proposals and detailed submission instructions. The recipients of the grants are selected based on an evaluation of their proposals by the programme's Expert Committee. Grants for schools include funds for the purchase of the equipment and materials necessary to implement the BHP activities.

The request for proposals emphasises that the programme is not intended to impose a burden but instead to provide an opportunity for the schools to develop initiatives that would be beneficial and enjoyable within a particular school setting.

Schools are advised to work through four steps of project development – thinking, planning, doing and reviewing – with CAF acting as a facilitator and providing technical support at each stage. Also, every year before the grant competition for the next academic year is announced, initial training on project design and planning is held for schools that are considering taking part in the programme.

To make the programme inclusive and to take into account the children's needs and interests, schools are encouraged to involve pupils in the project planning process.

Financial support for schools

Based on the Expert Committee's decision, grants are awarded to schools for the following three basic categories of expenses:

- Purchases of equipment and materials for the purposes of cooking healthy food and providing extra opportunities for physical activities, as well as for gardening³ (this equipment is purchased for the children in the target age group but can later be used by any other schoolchildren according to their needs)
- Paying additional salaries to teachers who deliver the educational component of the programme nutrition classes
- Holding events aimed at engaging with parents and involving the children who are not the main target group of the programme: sports, competitions, cooking contests, picnics, trips to the countryside, etc.

In addition to these three basic categories, schools could include other items in their budgets depending on the design of particular projects. During the projects, budget reallocations were permitted if the prior agreement of CAF was obtained. CAF programme staff also assisted the schools in planning purchases of equipment for their projects: what equipment to buy, what technical conditions needed to be met in order to install it, what alternatives were available to reduce costs, etc.

- Schools are required to apply for grants on an annual basis, but the expenses are reviewed and adjusted by the experts and programme staff based on each individual school's previous experience and involvement in the project.
- Schools typically take part in the programme for a number of consecutive years:
 - the biggest investment takes place in the first year, for the purpose of purchasing equipment,

³ Although the climate in Russia is generally not very favourable for gardening, Sobinka school 2 in Vladimir region achieved impressive results and was even able to give some fresh vegetables to children from low-income families to take home.

- subsequent funding aimed at sustaining and/or expanding the programme in the school and at ensuring the teachers' commitment.
- In some cases, the funding for a particular project was reduced simply to paying a salary to one project leader amongst the staff, ensuring the project's basic activities would continue at that school.

The projects in the schools

a. Project activities

The project activities implemented by the schools within the BHP are aimed at primary school children aged 8-12 (grades 1-4 in the Russian system⁴) and include but are not limited to the following:

- New lessons introduced into the curriculum combining the basics of healthy nutrition theory and practical cooking, teaching the children to prepare healthy nutritious meals and snacks
- Growing healthy fresh foods in the classroom (typically on the window sill, where there is enough sunlight) or in the school garden (if the school has one)
- Introducing more physical activities into the children's daily routine at school (including active play during school breaks, inside or outside the school building, depending on the weather and on what equipment has been purchased)
- Introducing new elements of physical education using the equipment purchased within the programme (e.g. one
 of the schools in Sobinka bought skis for the children and introduced skiing lessons as part of the Physical Education
 (PE) curriculum)
- Providing more extra-curricular activities for the children (e.g. competitions, trips and leisure activities related to the programme's objectives).

b. Interaction with parents

The parents were not specifically targeted within the programme, as most of them typically do not have time to engage in school activities on a regular basis. They were, however, involved in the programme in the following ways:

- they had access to information on the programme through regular parent-teacher conferences;
- materials about the programme were made available to them on information stands in the schools;
- some parents took part in occasional programme events and competitions organised by the schools; and
- they also, of course, received information on the programme directly from their children.

Some of the parents with relevant professional knowledge, skills and experience (doctors, cooks, trainers, etc.) contributed to the programme by delivering talks as volunteers.

c. Community engagement

The majority of schools involved in the BHP are located in rural areas where the available leisure activities are very limited. Quite often, therefore, the schools also serve as community centres and the local community tends to be aware of any projects being carried out by the schools – for example this was the case in Ropsha, where the school is the venue for all community events. Rural schools, therefore, are very well placed to engage with local communities and to spread the word about the programme and its teachings about the fundamentals of a healthy lifestyle.

In most cases community engagement was not formalised in any way, but many schools did receive support from their local communities in the form of equipment, lecturers, materials, site visits to local businesses, etc.

Programme activities for the teachers: methodological support and experience sharing

As part of the programme, CAF provided methodological support to the teachers through training delivered by teacher trainers who were experts in the field of education specifically for this age group. The trainers were also experts in education pertaining to healthy lifestyles, including nutrition. The training involved:

⁴ In Russia, children start school at the age of seven or eight, and study in the primary school for four years.

- interactive approaches to working with children and other target audiences
- network projects to facilitate collaboration between schools under the BHP umbrella
- new methods of project management and planning
- developing creativity and critical thinking skills amongst the students.

The training also provided opportunities for teachers within the different regions to discuss and exchange experiences. A broader exchange of experiences took place at programme conferences organised by CAF at the end of the project cycle. In addition to presenting their project experience to colleagues from other schools and regions, teachers were able to discuss common issues, approaches and best practices aimed at improving their new project applications.

Another important aspect of the programme activities aimed at the teachers was the provision of a methodological resource pack published by CAF, which included materials useful both at the project planning stage and the implementation stage.

The programme has its own website, www.health4schools.ru, which contains:

- descriptions of projects supported within the programme
- databases of useful recipes and active games for the target age groups
- amusing photos and videos
- additional information both for the schools already participating in the programme and those considering getting involved.

Programme outreach

By 2014 the BHP involved 47 schools in four regions of Russia, engaging more than 15,000 children aged 8-12 in its activities.

1.2 Objectives of this evaluation

This evaluation has two main objectives:

- To understand and communicate the impact of the programme through an evaluative study (to prove);
- To inform the internal decision-making process within the BHP with regard to its project funding approaches and expansion to new regions. To identify aspects of the programme that could be improved and the key drivers of the programme's success (to improve).

To achieve these objectives a Social Return on Investment (SROI) approach has been used:

- 1. SROI is an approach that allows the measurement of social outcomes of the programme related to individual wellbeing. The concept of wellbeing is at the core of Mondelēz's CSR and community investment (MI, 2015);
- 2. SROI shows the extent to which the intervention is cost effective and the way outcomes are achieved for each stakeholder group to ensure the programme creates social value for its key target groups;
- 3. The SROI process can help CAF and Mondelēz maximise impact for a given amount of resources by analysing which factors, internal or external, are either contributing to or hindering the success of the BHP;
- 4. To an extent, SROI can be used in a comparative way to analyse the relative effectiveness of the BHP in different schools and regions.

Within this report, SROI was calculated for three schools and the ratios are discussed along with other data obtained within the research to provide a better understanding of how the programme produces social impact and what can be done to maximise it.

This report is structured as follows:

Chapter 2 provides context by presenting a brief summary of previous efforts by CAF and Mondelēz to evaluate the results and impact of the BHP along with other examples of approaching evaluation of similar programmes in Russia.

Chapter 3 outlines the research methodology with further details provided throughout the report and in the appendices.

Chapter 4 presents a theoretical understanding of how the BHP creates change for children (involved and not involved in the programme), parents, and teachers (involved and not directly involved in the programme), based upon stakeholder engagement data.

Chapter 5 includes the theory of change developed for every stakeholder group is tested by the SROI process presented in greater detail.

Chapter 6 contains the results of the SROI modelling. These are the changes observed for each stakeholder group and how they translate into impact and value.

Finally, in **Chapter 7**, the results of the evaluation are discussed along with the conclusions from the research and discussion points relating to programme design, delivery and further development.

The preliminary results of this evaluation were presented to Mondelēz Rus Company, MIF and the schools currently involved in the BHP, with the aim of stimulating discussion about best practices and possible improvements to the programme. This report will be available in English and with an abridged version in Russian, and will be published in openaccess resources for further discussion of the SROI approach and findings in the third sector as well as for expert and donor communities.

Chapter 2 – Evaluation of healthy lifestyle programmes: the context

2.1 – Impact measurement of healthy lifestyle programmes in Russia

Federal programmes

Healthy lifestyle and nutrition are trending topics both in Russia and worldwide, with new evidence being produced regarding the impact of eating habits and exercise on individuals' health and on the incidence of serious diseases such as type 2 diabetes.

Schools are viewed as one of the agents of change in this field that could contribute to improving children's nutrition and encouraging them to be more physically active. The latter is being pursued by increasing the time devoted to PE lessons (at least three hours per week instead of two – RF Government, 2009) and by the re-introduction of volunteer national physical training standards – GTO ('Ready for Labour and Defence') (RF Ministry of Sports, 2015).

As for the healthy nutrition component, a number of regulations have been introduced by the relevant departments (RF MH, 2002; Rospotrebnadzor, 2006 and 2008), and the main focus of the programme 'Healthy Nutrition at School', funded from the budget of the regional or municipal government, is to provide hot nutritious meals to all schoolchildren in the country.

The schools develop their own plans for the implementation of the programme and there is a set of indicators that are monitored at a federal level to assess the programme's effectiveness:

- 1. Lower incidence of foodborne diseases in children and adolescents
- 2. Stabilised or lower incidence of chronic diseases in general
- 3. Improved physical development of children and adolescents
- 4. Improved resistance to infections and negative environmental factors
- 5. Better academic results of school children

These outcomes, though traditionally associated with the quality of schoolchildren's food and amount of physical activity, can only be measured in the long term. Besides, they are influenced by a broad range of factors in addition to the quality of children's school meals, and even if a positive change is observed it would be an exaggeration or a post hoc ergo propter hoc logical mistake to attribute this change solely to the Healthy Nutrition at School programme.

Moreover, although these indicators might be acceptable for government officials, and collected through national statistical services, it would be difficult for an actual school or NGO to follow up on the children involved in the programme over the long term and obtain information on their progress with regard to the indicators listed above.

Other non-profit programmes

The Nestlé Russia Company, working in the same market segment as Mondelēz Rus, has been supporting the 'Talk about Healthy Nutrition' programme in the country for over 15 years. The programme is implemented in cooperation with local schools in 48 regions. It aims to teach the basics of healthy nutrition to schoolchildren aged 7 to 13, and does not include the gardening or the active play components. Within the programme schools receive free manuals for nutrition lessons and extracurricular activities.

In 2014, when the programme had been running for 15 years, its effectiveness was evaluated through research carried out by the Institute of Developmental Physiology of the Russian Academy of Education.

As part of this research, questionnaires were given to children aged 7-8 and their parents at the beginning and at the end of the programme, the aim being to assess what changes had taken place with regard to the following indicators:

For children:

• knowledge and understanding of healthy nutrition

For parents:

- influence of various factors on children's nutrition
- the main problems they have with their children's nutrition
- their children's eating habits
- the outcomes of the programme for them and their children

The researchers also measured the level of satisfaction with the programme on the part of children, teachers and parents, and their willingness to take part in it in future.

The short-term outcomes associated with new knowledge and skills were therefore measured along with the participants' satisfaction with the programme. However, the new skills and knowledge within such projects are a means to an end, which is to improve the stakeholders' wellbeing. It would be interesting to see these indicators transformed into meaningful changes for all participants, which would provide an understanding of what makes them satisfied with the programme and willing to continue taking part in it.

2.2 – BHP impact measurement experience

A major component of the MIF's Community Partnership initiative includes partnering and collaborating with community-based NGOs to identify best practices and tools needed to better deliver healthy lifestyle programmes and measure their impact. Therefore, the MIF has always included the evaluation component into its community partnership strategy and encouraged its partners to collect data on the programme's impact.

CAF efforts

CAF has extensive experience in the field of programme evaluation both as a client and as an evaluation service provider, so the evaluation component is included into all programmes.

In the BHP, the evaluation component is present throughout the programme cycle:

- The schools' applications are evaluated by experts
- The projects are monitored by the programme managers
- Each project has its own unique set of indicators based on its objectives and activities related to the three main programme strands.

However, there was a need for a set of universal indicators that could measure the programme's impact. In 2013 CAF carried out an evaluation of programme outcomes within a one-year cycle of the programme at five schools: one in Leningrad Region, one in Vladimir Region and three in Novgorod. The main focus of the evaluation was on Novgorod because it was a new region for the programme.

The evaluation measured three indicators:

- adequate healthy lifestyle knowledge
- regular consumption of fruit, vegetables and fresh food
- regular physical activity

The questionnaires were distributed to parents of schoolchildren taking part in the programme at the beginning of the school year, to collect baseline data, and at the end of the school year, to collect project-end data.

Overall, 306 questionnaires were filled in by the parents at baseline and 259 questionnaires at the end of the programme.

The survey results revealed significant changes (increases of up to 30%) with regard to children's physical activity. For the other two indicators the changes were very subtle (3-4% increase, which could merely be an issue of statistical accuracy), and the baseline figures for these indicators were already very high (approximately 92% for healthy lifestyle knowledge

and 88% for consumption of healthy food). Therefore, although the positive influence of the programme was obvious, it was not really captured in a compelling way by quantitative indicators within a one-year programme cycle.

In this case, parents had been used as proxies for their children, which could have affected the quality of data: parents might introduce bias by being reluctant to admit that their children cannot distinguish between healthy and unhealthy foods, or that they do not eat vegetables regularly. There was a general understanding of the need to collect information directly from the children.

2.3 – PIP approach and ongoing measurement by the MIF

In 2014, the MIF partnered with the Yale School of Public Health and brought together its community partners to reshape how they create, refine and measure the impact of healthy lifestyle programmes.

The Program Impact Pathways (PIP) model was used to present the way in which the BHP is intended to produce results and to identify the basic success indicators that will be used to measure the impact across all the foundation's programmes in future:

- 1. Nutrition Knowledge: the percentage of programme participants who improved their knowledge of nutrition
- 2. Physical Activity: the percentage of participants who increased their daily amount of physical activity or play
- 3. Healthier Eating: the percentage of participants who reported increased consumption of fruit, vegetables and other fresh foods

Additionally, NGO participants collectively identified three essential factors to ensure effective programmes:

- Strong training and developmental programmes for facilitators, whether they are teachers, community health promoters or NGO staff;
- Commitment from local government, school administrators and community-based organisations;
- Engagement of parents to reinforce the programme's messages at home.

The PIP approach used to present the logic of the BHP made it possible to produce the following programme model:



Figure 1: BeHealthy CAF Programme Impact Pathways (PIP) Diagram

The PIP diagram (Figure 1) indicates that for target children to be successfully included in the BHP, three conditions need to be met:

- the child's school must have an initial interest in participating in the programme to create a competitive project that can attract funding for project implementation (salary, equipment, food, events, etc);
- the teachers should be interested, motivated, and ready to learn and teach the four components of the BHP; and
- the local authorities should support programme implementation in their regions and give permission for the schools to participate

Once these conditions have been met and the children have the opportunity to experience all four strands of BeHealthy activities, the PIP diagram indicates a series of steps in order for programme goals to be achieved. First, children need to be taught the fundamentals of healthy nutrition. The schools should also provide conditions for cooking healthy dishes (breakfast), growing nutritious vegetables and herbs, and increasing physical activity during and after school hours. As a result, children improve their awareness of healthy lifestyles, leading to better nutrition and increased physical activity, in part because they are encouraged to participate in growing edible plants and cooking healthy food.

The key Critical Quality Control Points (CCPs) identified by the PIP analysis were ensuring the implementation of the four activity strands and increasing students', teachers' and parents' knowledge of what constitutes a healthy lifestyle for children.

The three key indicators identified by the PIP approach reflect healthy lifestyle knowledge and attitudes, dietary preferences, and physical activity.

The authors of the PIP analysis of the BHP admitted that there might be other activities that could explain changes in children's knowledge, habits and behaviour related to healthy lifestyles:

'For children to adopt the healthier behaviours modelled through the programme, they must have access to healthy food and opportunities for physical activity in their schools, homes, and neighbourhoods. This means that there are many other sources of influence besides BeHealthy that may positively change the behaviour of children in the programme'

(Mukhina & Novikova 2014).

Ongoing measurement

In 2014, CAF measured the key programme indicators for children identified in the PIP analysis, along with parents' and teachers' degrees of satisfaction with the programme. An external consultant was engaged to carry out the measurement.

Questionnaires were used to collect data on the three key indicators for schoolchildren at the beginning and end of the projects. This evaluation also included a control group – children of the same age and gender composition at a school in Novosibirsk region that was not involved in the programme.

The baseline data for the experimental and control group were generally similar, and when the project end data were collected, again only slight changes (not exceeding 10%) for all indicators were revealed for the experimental group. Also, some positive changes were indicated for the participants in the control group, which means there are other factors in the region that influence these children's lifestyle habits, nutrition and physical activity. These might include other programmes supported by the government or other donors, generally improved awareness of healthy lifestyle, family habits, increased interest in sports following the Sochi Winter Olympics, etc.

As for the parents' and teachers' satisfaction with the programme, the data were collected by conducting focus groups. The participants indicated that they were highly satisfied with the programme, saying it was useful not only for the children but also for themselves.

This brief and far from exhaustive overview of the previous efforts made to evaluate healthy lifestyle programmes, and of the BHP outcomes and impact in particular, provide evidence that:

- 1. though the positive impact of the programme is obvious, it is not easily captured in the short term (within one year of the programme)
- 2. the children and other programme stakeholders obviously experience other influences which may affect the programme outcomes and impacts, and these should be taken into account
- 3. children should be engaged in the evaluation process as they are the main target group of the programme and should be given a voice and an opportunity to shape the programme in whatever ways would best suit their needs.

This SROI analysis took the following issues into account:

- children were engaged at all stages of data collection and provided valuable inputs that could be used for strategic planning within the programme
- other influences were identified within the qualitative stage of research and their strength was measured within the quantitative stage
- the programme outcomes were viewed in the longer term, as we looked at the schools that were engaged in the programme for at least two consecutive years
- as a form of social cost-benefit analysis, SROI makes it possible to compare the social value created by the
 programme with initial investments (both financial and in-kind) to produce compelling evidence of positive effects
 (return on investment) generated by the programme.

Chapter 3 - The SROI Methodology

Social Return on Investment (SROI) is a form of cost-benefit analysis recognised by the Cabinet Office of the United Kingdom. The method helps organisations to assess intangible aspects of their programmes – i.e. aspects that are often not valued in a traditional cost-benefit framework.

Rather than simply focusing on the costs of investment, the SROI methodology takes into account all the impacts considered relevant by the different material stakeholders.

The SROI goes beyond conventional assessments that tend to focus only on the actions and activities undertaken by the programme, which do not always reflect the most important changes.

The richness of the SROI method lies precisely in its measuring of the 'change that has happened' and that was experienced by the stakeholders themselves. SROI measures the change that is relevant to the people or organisations who actually experienced or contributed to that change.

Once the principal changes have been identified, their impact is conveyed by assigning an equivalent monetary value to each one.

The SROI value is more than just a number: it tells the story of the change that took place and its goal is to generate information to support decisions, including qualitative, quantitative and financial data.

In summary, in the search for the story of how the change was brought about, what is measured is the social, environmental and economic impact of a programme.

An SROI evaluation may include the social value created by the entire organisation, or focus only on a specific aspect of that organisation's work.

This current analysis of the BHP is **evaluative**, i.e. it focuses on the impact and results in the three schools – Novgorod school 18, Ropsha school, and Sobinka school 2 and follows the principles of the SROI methodology.

The table below summarises the stages and principles of the SROI methodology according to the Guide to Social Return on Investment (UK Cabinet Office, 2012).

Stages of SROI analysis	SROI guiding principles
Establishing scope and identifying stakeholders	Involve stakeholders
Mapping outcomes	Understand what changes
Identifying outcomes and giving them a value	Value what matters
Establishing impact	Only include what is material
Calculating the SROI	
Reporting, using and embedding	Do not overclaim
	Be transparent
	Verify the result

Table 3. The Stages and Principles of the SROI Methodology

3.1 – Establishing the scope and identifying the stakeholders

Before starting the research, the information on the programme design, activities and participants was studied.

It was agreed with the managers responsible for the BHP at CAF that the research would include three schools in three different regions where the programme had been running for a substantial period. The three schools were selected on the basis of their being the most active, responsive and open to new initiatives, creating an expectation that they would contribute significantly to the SROI process.

The decision was made to analyse three schools in different locations so as to try to identify any regional differences or differences based on the school size (Ropsha and Sobinka 2 being small rural schools and Novgorod 18 an average-sized urban school).

The fact that the three schools were involved in the BHP during different periods (Ropsha, 2008-2012; Sobinka 2, 2010-2014; Novgorod 18, 2012-2014 – see **Table 2** above) might also have had some bearing on the programme's impact in each case – for example it would have affected the amount of investment each school received from the programme.

It is significant, moreover, that the programme in Ropsha ended more than two years before this SROI: the Ropsha school was included so as to see if the outcomes are sustained after the programme ends, as this could have implications for the project-funding strategy in future.

A stakeholder analysis was carried out to identify all the stakeholders affected in any way by the BHP. The results are shown below:

Figure 2: Stakeholders affected by the BHP



For the purposes of this analysis, the stakeholders consulted and involved in the impact assessment were those significantly affected by the BHP activities, highlighted in orange in the diagram.

Children involved in the BHP

Schoolchildren aged 8-12 are the key stakeholders and the main target group of the BHP. They participated in the project activities at school and were the primary users of all equipment and materials purchased as part of the projects. They were expected to have gained new knowledge and skills and to have experienced changes in their lifestyle and eating habits, resulting in greater vitality.

Children not involved in the BHP

This stakeholder group includes all other children who study in the same school but are not the main target group of the BHP.

These children are not directly targeted by the programme but are aware of it, have access to the equipment purchased through the programme, and take part in school events and activities.

Parents of the children involved in the BHP

The parents were informed about the programme by the teachers. They became involved in some activities and events, and could be expected to pick up some healthier eating and exercising habits from their children, who were directly targeted by the programme.

Teachers involved in the BHP

The teachers were affected by the training component of the BHP: they broadened their methodological portfolio and had extended opportunities for peer experience exchange and networking. They benefited from the equipment and materials purchased for the programme, incorporating them in their lessons. The programme also gave the teachers greater opportunities and resources for extracurricular activities.

Teachers not directly involved in the BHP Teachers who were not members of the project teams at their schools nevertheless learned about the programme during regular teacher meetings, took part in some of the programme's events and activities, and had access to the new equipment and materials.

The reasons for the non-inclusion of other stakeholders in this SROI analysis can be found in Annex 1.

Theory of change for the SROI

A Theory of Change (ToC) presents the components required to achieve the long-term goal of an intervention. Besides the links between inputs, outputs and outcomes, it explains how and why the expected change is achieved.

For this SROI the ToC was first drafted based on information either provided by the BHP managers in individual and group interviews or obtained from reviewing the programme documentation.

To refine the ToC and understand the outcomes for each stakeholder group affected by the BHP, the children, teachers and parents were interviewed at each of the schools. The table below documents the process of engaging the stakeholders in the qualitative stage of the SROI research.

In each case we made sure that the group for the interviews at the qualitative stage was representative of respective stakeholder groups: the groups of schoolchildren included both boys and girls of different ages and from different grades. The parents were mostly mothers and grandmothers, as they are traditionally more involved in school activities, but where we learned from the teachers that fathers also took part in the programme activities, we asked them specifically to invite these fathers for stakeholder engagement sessions.

Stakeholder engagement process	
3 group interviews – one at each of the schools (the groups were composed of boys and girls from various grades at the school involved and not involved in the programme – at least one boy and one girl from each grade)	
Total number of children involved in the three schools – 51 (including 24 girls and 27 boys) Also through information obtained from interviews with parents and teachers	
3 group interviews – one at each of the schools (the groups included at least 5 parents representing children in different grades; usually they were the mothers, as traditionally mothers are more involved than fathers in what their children do at school) Total number of parents involved in the three schools – 27	
3 group interviews – one at each of the schools (the groups were mixed, including both teachers who were members of project teams and teachers who were	
 not directly involved in the programme, and also representatives of the school administrations) Total number of teachers involved in the three schools - 30 	

The lists of questions for the stakeholder engagement interviews can be found in Annex 2.

The final ToC for the SROI for each stakeholder was presented as a diagram showing how change happens over time within the BHP.

3.2 - Data collection: sampling, indicators, and valuation

Indicators

Based on the refined ToC for every stakeholder, material outcomes were identified and indicators providing evidence of the outcomes were selected. Questionnaires were created to measure the indicators for every stakeholder group (see **Annex 5** for questionnaires for children, parents and teachers). The questionnaires also included questions aimed at obtaining additional impact data: counterfactual and attribution.

Information on drop-off and benefit period was collected through individual and group interviews with stakeholders and programme staff. No cases of displacement were identified for this evaluation.

Data collection and sampling

The researcher distributed questionnaires to children and teachers at each of the three locations. The children were also given additional questionnaires which they were requested to pass on to their parents. The parents completed the questionnaires at home and then gave them to their children to take back to school, where they were collected by the teachers and sent to CAF by post for processing.

The sample for children and parents was constructed using a convenience sampling approach, which means simply that the children given the questionnaires were those present at school on that particular day.

For teachers, because there were not many of them, continuous sampling was used at all three schools.

Valuation

The Choice Experiment technique, which is a form of stated preference valuation, was used to value different outcomes, and valuation exercises were conducted in the form of group interviews with children, parents and teachers at each location, at the same time as the data were collected.

A description of the Choice Experiment technique and the reasons for using it in this analysis can be found in **Chapter 5**, **Section 5.6**.

3.3 - Model and Calculation

All the data - indicators, values and programme inputs (financial and in-kind) and their projections (benefit period and drop-off) - were calculated on the basis of a cost-benefit model. From this model the following were calculated:

- SROI ratios based on the discount rates
- Distribution of values, by stakeholder
- Distribution of values, by result

Chapter 4 – How does the BHP produce change?

This chapter presents the ways in which the BHP creates changes for the children, parents and teachers. In line with SROI principles, these changes were mapped in consultation with the material stakeholders identified for this SROI.

After the outcomes achieved for every stakeholder were identified, the extent to which these outcomes were achieved could be measured and the impact of the programme understood.

4.1 – What is a Theory of Change (ToC)?

Programmes aimed at producing social change are implemented in a complex context, and involve a wide range of stakeholders as well as multiple influences. These influences, along with stakeholders' attitudes, should be understood and taken into account in order to ensure that the programme achieves the desired outcomes and its ultimate long-term goal.

A Theory of Change (ToC) defines all the building blocks required to bring about a given long-term goal. This set of connected building blocks – the outcomes along with interrelations between them, the activities, and the factors that enable or prevent change – are shown on a diagram, which is a graphic representation of the change process.

By taking into account the multifaceted environment of the programme and by aiming to answer the questions of 'how' and 'why' change is expected, a ToC helps to increase understanding of how and why the programme in question is or is not effective.

In most social programmes, change does not occur in linear fashion. The short- and medium-term results continue to feed into the process in the longer term contributing to the overall objective. However, for the sake of clarity and to facilitate understanding of the process and measuring of change for this SROI, the results will be presented in linear chronological order (short, medium and long term).

For this SROI a Theory of Change was developed for every stakeholder group using the approach presented in Annex 3.

4.2 – Identifying stakeholders

The ToCs by stakeholder were developed by a working group (WG) at CAF involving the following staff members:

- Director for programmes and donor relations
- Senior consultant (involved in previous evaluations of BHP)
- BHP director
- BHP manager
- SROI researcher

Based on a discussion of the programme and a review of the programme documents, the WG decided that the following stakeholders should be included in the SROI analysis:

- Children involved in the BHP
- Children not involved in the BHP
- Parents of children involved in the BHP
- Teachers directly involved in the BHP
- Teachers not directly involved in the BHP

Further details on each stakeholder group are provided in Section 3.1.

The ToC for the BHP was developed for each stakeholder group to represent the understanding by the WG of the changes they were expected to experience as a result of the intervention and how and why they were expected to undergo those changes.

After this, the stakeholders were engaged directly (see **Table 4** for stakeholder engagement details) to confirm the ToCs developed or change them so that they would reflect the actual process of change they had experienced within the programme (see **Annex 2** for the lists of questions used for stakeholder engagement). Section 4.3 of this report represents the ToCs over time based on stakeholder engagement.

These stakeholders were also used as proxies for other stakeholder groups that were excluded from this SROI on the basis that the changes they may have experienced within the BHP were not material for them (see Annex 2).

4.3 – Understanding change over time

Each stakeholder group experienced different changes at different times. This section explains in detail the outcomes achieved by the children involved and not involved in the BHP, the parents of children involved in the BHP, and the teachers involved in the programme either directly or indirectly. The timeframes for the changes were established through discussion with stakeholders individually for each stakeholder group.

Changes for children involved in the programme

The Theory of Change for children involved in the programme is presented in Figure 3.

Figure 3: Changes for children involved in the BHP



Short and medium-term changes

When the projects commenced, the children in the target group attended new classes on healthy lifestyles and nutrition, which increased their knowledge and awareness of the subject. The children learned about basic rules for healthy nutrition, the importance of breakfast as the main meal of the day, and the importance of regular physical activity.

With their newly acquired knowledge the children became more eager to eat breakfast at home, and so more of them regularly had breakfast at home before they went to school. They were also expected to start making healthier food

choices based on their new knowledge about nutrition, which led them to eating healthier food at school (in the canteen or during the cooking classes). In Ropsha school, thanks to new equipment, changes were introduced to the canteen menus for the duration of the project, so the change achieved was more sustainable.

As the new equipment for the project was purchased and installed in the school, the children also acquired new skills – cooking, physical activity, gardening (the set of particular skills might vary depending on the project design). Children learned to cook healthy meals themselves, to play new active games, to choose healthier food at the supermarket, etc.

The new skills and knowledge, along with the equipment for sports and games purchased by the school, resulted in an increase in the children's physical activity at school and at home.

There is much evidence from previous research suggesting that children's nutrition and amount of physical activity greatly influence their ability to concentrate at school (e.g. Pollitt, Leibel, and Greenfield, 1981), so in the BHP, in the medium term, the children who are eating more nutritious food and who exercise regularly might demonstrate increased engagement with lessons.

At the same time, the children's new practical knowledge and skills, which they can use not only at school but also at home and/or with friends, resulted in an increase in their self-esteem (they know things that their parents might not, they are less dependent other people's support, etc.).

'My mother did not believe me when I said I could cook buckwheat myself. She stayed in the kitchen and watched me as I cooked. She was very surprised when I finished, and my father said this was the best meal he had ever had! I felt so good about myself.' (Girl at Sobinka school 2)

The children's relationships with parents improved as they started cooking together at home and spending their free time in a more active way. Some of the parents themselves became involved in project events at school, which also served to improve their relationships with their children.

'I like this game, and to my surprise my granny liked it too! We often play it together when I come to see her.' (Boy at Ropsha school)

As the children became involved in other project activities, they interacted more with each other, with other children at their school, and with the teachers involved in the BHP. The result is that they began to develop better relationships with classmates, schoolmates and teachers.

Long-term changes

In the longer term, by the end of the project and after its completion, the children continue to use the knowledge and skills they have gained, which increases their autonomy).

'The whole family likes my cooking, and now I cook breakfast and dinner for everyone myself.' (Girl at Novgorod school 18)

'Most of my friends can cook for themselves, but I am the only one who makes a healthy choice when we go to the supermarket. My parents now turn to me for advice.' (Girl at Sobinka school 2)

Also, over the longer term, the children's vitality increases as they become more physically active, spend more time outdoors, and start to eat better on a regular basis. This in turn might lead to their being sick less frequently and therefore missing fewer classes.

'I used to get tired at school very often, but after the programme started, we spend more time outside, and I feel much-much better now.' (Boy at Novgorod school 18)

In Figure 3, the yellow line on the right separating the long-term outcomes from post-project outcomes is called the 'line of accountability'. This line shows the extent to which the long-term outcomes can be attributed to the programme. The

outcomes to the right of the line of accountability are influenced by multiple factors, including the children's genetics and chronic diseases, seasonal diseases, environmental factors that affect individuals' health, etc. Therefore, to avoid overclaiming the programme's impact on the children, for this SROI we will only take into account the material outcomes located to the left of the line of accountability on the ToC diagram.

Changes for children not involved in the programme

Initially, the children not involved in the BHP were not viewed as material stakeholders. However, during stakeholder engagement sessions with the teachers and the children involved in the programme, it was clear that they were in fact influenced by the programme and that the initial influence was negative. The Theory of Change for these children is presented in Figure 4 below.



Figure 4: Changes for children not involved in the BHP

Short and medium-term changes

At the beginning of the programme, the children not involved in it were told that their non-participation was due to them not being in the target age group. So, while the children in the programme enjoyed new interesting classes and activities, the other children felt excluded and offended by this situation.

'When the project started the children from grades 5 and 6 came up to me. They asked, "Why are we not in the programme?" Some even cried. It was very upsetting' (Teacher, Sobinka school)

In the short term, therefore, among the non-participant children (grades 5 to 9) there was a negative impact on their relationships with teachers and schoolmates who were involved. As a result of this situation of perceived inequality, their self-esteem decreased.

This situation did not last long, however. Once the projects commenced, all the children in the schools had the opportunity to eat healthier food in the canteen, use the new equipment to increase their physical activity, get involved in

events and competitions related to the programme, and participate voluntarily in other activities. All these factors helped them improve relationships with schoolmates and teachers.

Long-term changes

It was anticipated that in the long term the children might experience positive changes in relation to their vitality. This was due to healthier eating and physical activity and subsequently increased self-esteem as they get involved in more programme activities at school as participants or volunteers.

'The children from the class that was not involved in the programme started attending the local sports club on their own initiative, and they are always ready to help us when we organise something for the whole school' (a teacher in Novgorod school)

Consequently it was possible to identify a negative short-term influence that could be overcome by changing the project design requirements for the schools and encourage them to involve all pupils in project activities from the very beginning.

This has already been implemented within the programme, but the schools find it challenging to make the BHP interesting and attractive enough so that they are encouraged to engage fully with it.

This is one of the possible points of growth for future development. It could significantly enhance the programme's impact with only a minimal increase in investment, as most of the equipment has already been purchased by the schools.

Changes for parents of children involved in the programme

As has already been mentioned, there were no activities specifically designed for the parents within the BHP. However, the programme always encouraged schools to engage with parents so as to maximise the positive impact of their projects. As the ToC for the programme was developed and during stakeholder engagement sessions, it became clear that parents were instrumental for the successful achievement of the overall goal of the programme. The outcomes for the parents of children involved in the programme are presented in Figure 5 below.



Figure 5: Changes for parents of children involved in the BHP

Short and medium-term changes

At the beginning of the BHP parents received information about the project at the parent and teacher meetings; and they learned about the programme activities in more detail from their children who were involved in it directly. The homework tasks the children were given at school were another way of informing the parents about the programme: the tasks might be related to cooking, physical activity or growing healthy food, or they might involve some research on related topics. The parents thereby increased their knowledge of what constitutes a healthy lifestyle and good nutrition.

As they participate in the cooking tasks with their children and learn more about nutrition, the parents start applying the knowledge themselves, and whole families started eating healthier food.

'The programme is awesome! After every class we had a discussion about what our daughter learned. Thanks to it we now have a whole vegetable garden on the window sill: onions, dill and even cucumbers waiting to get to the kitchen table!'

(Mother of a child at Novgorod school 18)

As the children become more physically active, so do their parents: they start playing sports together with their children or simply start to play active games in their own free time. Some of the parents take part in the family sports competitions organised at the schools.

'The only thing that upsets me about the programme is that my son now won't let us sleep on a Sunday: at 8 am he is up and ready to go skiing or play football or whatever depending on the weather, and we have to go with him... Joking. I am very happy he is interested in sports more than in computer games.' (Father of a child at Sobinka school 2)

As they spend more quality time with their children, whether helping with healthy-lifestyle homework, cooking or playing active games together, the parents' relationships with their children improve. Their relationships with teachers also improve because they interact more and gain an understanding that their children are learning important skills and habits beyond the limits of the traditional school curriculum.

Long-term changes

For the parents in the long term, more nutritious food and increased physical activity result in increased vitality. Better relationships with the teachers, engagement in programme activities and understanding its importance for their children lead to increased satisfaction with their children's school.

'I think we are lucky our children go to this school and I recommend it to all friends and colleagues.' (Mother of a child at Ropsha school)

Engagement in various programme activities aimed at teaching their children healthy eating and lifestyle habits, and cooking healthier food for the whole family, make the parents feel better about their parenting abilities and thus increase their self-esteem.

'I now carefully read the labels at the supermarket: I buy milk instead of milk produce, look for fresh seasonal fruit and vegetables, and buy wholemeal bread. Even if it's not that important it definitely makes me feel good about myself.'

(Mother of a child at Sobinka school)

Changes for teachers directly involved in the programme

The teachers directly involved in the programme are a small stakeholder group but the changes they experienced are very important and valuable for them. The outcomes achieved by the teachers directly involved in the programme are outlined below in Figure 6.

Figure 6: Changes for teachers directly involved in the BHP



Short and medium-term changes

As the recipients of the initial training at the project development stage, teachers are the first material stakeholders influenced by the BHP. Thanks to this initial instruction, and the subsequent methodological training, the teachers gain more knowledge about healthy lifestyle and nutrition, active games, interactive teaching, project planning, management and reporting.

Teachers obtain new skills as they learn new recipes for healthy food, learn about new games and activities they can do with the children, etc. They develop new skills in the field of project planning and implementation which are extremely useful today, now that project planning and management are being applied to many spheres of activity where it was not used before, including formal education in Russian schools.

Also, as the programme provides them with new equipment and materials, teachers become more satisfied with their working conditions.

'The equipment that we bought almost five years ago is still here. It is all working perfectly, and we use it for the new projects and during the cooking classes.' (Teacher at Ropsha school)

The knowledge and skills they acquire give the teachers increased autonomy as they are able to make the right choices for themselves regarding food and physical activity.

As they learn more about the programme and teach healthy lifestyle basics to the children, teachers themselves start to eat healthier food and become more physically active.

'Now, if we get together to celebrate something like, say, Teacher's Day, we prefer to go to the local bowling alley instead of having tea with cakes and sweets.' (Teacher at Sobinka school)

Engagement in project activities and school events improves the teachers' relationships with their colleagues, the pupils and the parents of pupils involved in the programme.

Long-term changes

In the long term, increased autonomy and satisfaction with their working conditions lead to the teachers being more engaged in their work, which subsequently results in greater professionalism and improved quality of teaching.

Teachers' self-esteem increases when they develop better relations with colleagues, parents and children. This in turn has a positive effect on their competence as they start applying their new skills, particularly those related to project planning and management, to their work.

'What I loved most about the programme is that we had the tools to do exactly what we wanted to and achieve what we planned! I think if we decide to start another project it will be easier for us and we will succeed.'

(Teacher at Novgorod school)

Increased competence and improved quality of teaching contribute to increasing the teachers' sense of meaning and purpose, as they feel what they are doing is valuable and appreciated by the people around them.

'I feel I am able to teach the children something really important and this makes me more proud of being a teacher'

(Teacher at Sobinka school)

In the long term, regular consumption of healthy food and increased physical activity result in increased vitality, as the teachers feel more energetic and are more active.

In the longer term (post-project), based on what the teachers themselves said, this increased vitality could lead to them needing to take less time off work for illness. And improved health, together with an increased sense of meaning and purpose, might increase the teachers' overall life satisfaction. However, such outcomes are influenced by multiple factors and cannot be considered direct consequences of the programme – therefore they lie beyond the line of accountability and are not considered in this SROI analysis.

Changes for teachers not directly involved in the programme

Figure 7, below, shows the changes experienced by teachers who were not directly involved in the programme but who took an interest in it and participated in some of the events and/or activities.

Figure 7: Changes for teachers not directly involved in the programme



Short and medium-term changes

The teachers not directly involved in the BHP nevertheless benefitted from new equipment and materials, and became more satisfied with their working conditions.

By taking part in the programme activities they may acquire new knowledge and skills, but to a lesser extent than their colleagues who were part of the project teams at schools. The knowledge and skills resulted in increased autonomy for the teachers as they are able to make the right choices for themselves regarding food and physical activity.

These teachers also indicated that they themselves started to eat healthier food and become more physically active during the BHP, as they were influenced by their colleagues and were themselves motivated to adopt a healthier lifestyle.

'First I didn't take it seriously, but then I looked through the materials for the programme and thought: 'It's so easy and so good for me, why don't I do some of it myself?' (Teacher at Novgorod school)

Engagement in project activities and school events improved the teachers' relationships with their colleagues, making the whole atmosphere in the school more supportive.

Long-term changes

In the long term, increased autonomy and satisfaction with working conditions results in the teachers being more engaged in their work, which subsequently results in improved quality of teaching. This was what the teachers observed about themselves. This along with better relations with colleagues leads to teachers' increased self-esteem.

Self-esteem and increased quality of teaching contributes to increasing the teachers' sense of meaning and purpose, as they feel that what they and their colleagues do is valuable and appreciated by the people around them.

In the long term, regular consumption of healthy food and increased physical activity resulted into increased vitality, as the teachers felt more energetic and were more active.

As with the teachers involved in the programme, the longer-term outcomes associated with reduced sickness and increased overall life satisfaction are beyond the line of accountability and are not considered in this SROI.

4.4 – External factors influencing the outcomes of the BHP

To understand better how change within the BHP takes place over time, it is necessary to take into account other, external factors that can affect its outcomes in the short, medium and long term.

During ToC development with the working group at CAF and during the stakeholder engagement phase (group interviews at the schools), questions were asked about the factors that enabled or prevented the programme from achieving its objectives.

These factors that can either facilitate or prevent change were included in the programme impact assessment. They provide a better understanding of the outcomes and inform future strategic planning for the BHP and similar initiatives.

External influences

Local Ministries of Education

Though the local ministries of education are not directly involved in the implementation of the BHP, their endorsement and support are instrumental in the initial stage of the programme. They disseminate information about the programme across the schools in the region. The fact that the information comes from the ministry motivates the schools to learn more about the programme and get involved.

Without the support or at least the consent of the local ministry of education it would have been impossible to implement the programme. However, there are some negative examples, such as when the ministry in the Leningrad Region literally forced the schools to participate in the BHP in its early years: as a result the projects were viewed as a burden on the schools and they did not derive full benefit from the programme.

Well-balanced relationships with the local education ministries, therefore, are one of the key enabling factors for the programme's success.

Socio-economic situation of the families

During stakeholder engagement, both teachers and parents noted that the programme outcomes were different for children from different socio-economic backgrounds. In the case of lower-income families, given the budget limitations, it was more difficult to change their children's eating habits. Parents with sufficient or high income were able to buy cooking and/or sports equipment to use at home, which reinforced the positive effect of the programme, while low-income parents could not do this.

Parents' support for the BHP

Children's lifestyle and eating habits are shaped by their families. Support from parents is crucial in the case of an intervention such as the BHP as they naturally make all the most important decisions on behalf of children of primary school age.

A lot of parents in the schools where the programme is running have already understood its benefits and importance for the children, but more could be done to inform the parents about the BHP and its benefits for the children. Detailed recommendations are presented in **Chapter 7 - Main Findings** of this report.

School curriculum and pupils' workload

These days the workload of Russian schoolchildren is constantly increasing along with the amount of information generally available to them. Introducing the additional classes and activities required by the programme might be difficult and the children might be unable to benefit from the programme as they are overloaded with other activities and responsibilities. This is particularly true for older children, a factor to be taken into account if the programme were extended to other age groups.

Attitude of children not involved in the programme

According to the teachers, in some schools the initial stages of programme implementation saw children who were not involved in the projects reacting negatively to the programme activities – e.g. while everyone was having an active break they would demonstrate their protest by coming out and sitting with a packet of crisps so that everyone would see. This issue can be addressed by involving as many children as possible in the programme from the very beginning, thus minimising the risk of negative reactions and attitudes while at the same time maximising the social impact of the BHP.

The final Theory of Change for all stakeholders in the BHP is included in Annex 4 of this report.

Chapter 5 – Building the SROI model

5.1 – The modelling process

The application of the SROI methodology in measuring social impact involves a number of compulsory steps.

Step 1 – measuring the outcome incidence: how much change has occurred?

When the Theories of Change are based on stakeholder engagement, indicators are identified to measure the change for each of the material outcomes. With these indictors the aim is to carry out a twofold measurement:

- 1. the coverage, i.e. how many stakeholders involved in the programme experienced a change in a particular outcome; and
- 2. with regard to an outcome, the 'distance travelled' by the stakeholders since the beginning of the programme, i.e. the magnitude of change for those experiencing it.

Step 2 – measuring the impact

Once the outcome incidence has been measured it needs to be adjusted by subtracting:

- a. The amount of change that would have happened anyway, even without the intervention
- b. The part of the change that can be attributed to other actors/influences; and
- c. The benefits that are offset by unintended adverse impacts.

How this is done in practice depends on the context in which the analysis is carried out and the information available for the research.

The purpose of this step is to exclude outcomes that cannot be attributed to the programme, or which would have taken place anyway. It is an important step to ensure that the impact of an intervention is not overclaimed, i.e. outcomes are not attributed to the intervention if not all of them are a consequence of it, or if they occurred just because of the circumstances in a given context. The purpose of this step is to adjust the impact so that it corresponds only to the effect of the intervention. This careful approach reflects one of the seven principles of the SROI methodology.

The first adjustment, referred to in section a) above, is the counterfactual which can be defined as the amount of change that would have happened anyway, even if there was no intervention. This requires us to define, conceptually and statistically, what the situation would have been without the intervention.

The second adjustment, referred to in item b) above, is attribution, which makes it necessary to find out what percentage of the total change was caused directly by the intervention and/or by the contribution of the organization involved, i.e. how much of the change can be actually attributed to the intervention, excluding what might have changed as a result of other interventions which took place simultaneously or other influences.

The final adjustment, referred to in item c) above, is displacement, which consists of measuring the amount of the change adjusted for the counterfactual and attribution that can be considered the 'net benefit' – i.e. a new benefit created by the intervention, not the result of a transfer of a change from one place or context to another. Displacement can involve either positive or negative effects.

Step 3 – defining and assigning proxy values

After the net change or impact has been calculated, the next step is to identify and assign proxy values. This process is called 'social/environmental valuation' and consists of assigning monetary values to outcomes that do not have a generally agreed market price, e.g. social/environmental capital.

All the market prices people use on a daily basis are the approximations ('proxies') for the value (or utility) that the buyer and seller give or get within a transaction. The value will be different for different people in different situations (UK Cabinet Office 2012). For instance, a glass of water would have very little value for a person living in a city with access to tap water, but for someone struggling to survive in a desert the value of that same glass of water might be much higher.

For some things like a loaf of bread or a bottle of milk, the prices have been identified, agreed upon and used consistently by the buyers and the sellers on a day-to-day basis. For other goods, such as a flat or a car, one might expect a broader variation of possible prices. When a new product is brought to a market there may be nothing to compare it with.

Value, as can be seen from the above example with the glass of water, is a subjective category. Markets have developed to mediate between people's different subjective notions of how much different goods are worth. In some cases (like food or basic consumer goods) this is more obvious than in others, but even if the prices seem to represent the 'objective' value this is not actually the case (UK Cabinet Office 2012).

If we look at the value and, consequently, the price of a car, it depends on who we are referring to. The seller will have an understanding of how much money he would like to get for it, i.e. how much value it has for him. The buyer, in turn, knows how much he would like to pay for the car, i.e. how much value it has for him. In this case, the function of the market is to bring together the buyers and sellers whose perceptions of value for certain goods coincide. This process is called 'price discovery' but it does not mean any true or fundamental value has been revealed: instead it is the matching of people who agree broadly on what the price is for a particular good (UK Cabinet Office 2012).

Sometimes the market fails to facilitate the price discovery process, which results in a situation of stagnation in which very few or no transactions take place (Fangliang and Yong, 2008).

Estimating social value is similar, the only difference being that social 'goods' are not traded in the market and so there is no 'price discovery'. This does not mean, however, that these social goods do not have a value to people.

In SROI, financial proxies are used to estimate the social value of non-traded goods to different stakeholders. Just as two people may disagree on the value of a market good (and there will be no transaction), different stakeholders will have different perceptions of the value they derive from an intervention. When this value is estimated through financial proxies, and subsequently these valuations are combined, it is possible to obtain an estimate of the total social value created by an intervention.

The process is very similar to valuations on a stock market reflecting the cumulative subjective valuations of buyers and sellers. Within SROI, however, the total valuation arrived at is likely to be more complete, as share prices only reflect the valuations of a very limited group of stakeholders (institutional and retail investors), while SROI captures the different types of value relating to an intervention from the perspective of those that are affected – i.e. the stakeholders (UK Cabinet Office 2012).

The total value created by an intervention is calculated by multiplying the net change by the monetary values assigned to it through financial proxies.

Step 4 – establishing benefit period and drop-off

The impact of an intervention can last for a number of years after its completion, so a benefit period is established for SROI reflecting the period of time for which the stakeholders enjoy the social benefits created by an intervention. It depends on the length of intervention and/or on external influences. During this period, the benefits may remain the same or decrease over time. The decreasing trend is described as 'drop off'.

Step 5 – discounting the benefits and costs to represent their present value

All anticipated future benefits and costs must be adjusted so as to represent their equivalent present values, which is done by applying a discount rate to all future costs and benefits.

The discount rate represents time preferences: in general, people prefer to receive money today rather than tomorrow because there is a risk that tomorrow the money will not be paid, and also because of the opportunity costs: if you
receive money today, you can put it in the bank and earn interest. This is known as 'time value of money', and the higher the discount rate the greater the assumed preference for present (UK Cabinet Office 2012).

These steps were followed in building the models for returns on investments in the BHP in Novgorod school 18, Ropsha school and Sobinka school 2. The key aspects of the process and findings are outlined below.

5.2 – Outcome incidence: understanding gross change

To measure the material changes experienced by the stakeholders identified when building the ToCs for the BHP, we administered five different types of questionnaire:

- 1. To children involved in the BHP
- 2. To children not involved in the BHP
- 3. To parents of children involved in the BHP
- 4. To teachers directly involved in the BHP
- 5. To teachers not directly involved in the BHP

For this SROI, the intention with the data collection at each of the three locations was to question, directly or indirectly, the following groups:

- 100% of the teachers involved in the programme;
- 100% of the children involved in the programme;
- as many parents as possible; and
- a convenience sample of children not involved in the programme (one class in Ropsha, one in Sobinka, two in Novgorod)

The questionnaires (Annex 5) were given directly to the teachers and children. The children also received additional questionnaires for their parents to complete, which were subsequently collected by the teachers and posted to CAF for data processing and analysis. As all the questionnaires at all three schools were handed out during one day, only the children who were present at school on that day (and their parents) were included. The children's response rate was 100%, but not all the parents completed and returned their questionnaires. Therefore a convenience sample of stakeholders was questioned in the case of all the groups except the teachers, all of whom completed the questionnaire. Details of the number of stakeholders, the sample and the response rate are presented in Table 5 below.

Stakeholders	Population	Sample	Number of questionnaires answered	Response rate as % of sample	Response rate as % of the population		
Novgorod school 18							
Children in BHP	196	158	158	100%	81%		
Children outside BHP	131	39	39	100%	30%		
Parents	196	158	114	72% 5	58%		
Teachers directly in BHP	8	8	8	100%	100%		
Teachers indirectly in BHP	4	4	4	100%	100%		
Ropsha school							
Children in BHP	87	57	57	100%	66%		
Children outside BHP	44	17	17	100%	39%		
Parents	87	57	31	57%	36%		
Teachers directly in BHP	9	9	9	100%	100%		
Teachers indirectly in BHP	8	8	8	100%	100%		
	Sobin	ika school 2					
Children in BHP	192	149	149	100%	78%		
Children outside BHP	15	15	15	100%	100%		
Parents	191	149	108	73%	57%		
Teachers directly in BHP	10	10	10	100%	100%		
Teachers indirectly in BHP	8	8	8	100%	100%		
Total							
Children in BHP	475	364	364	100%	77%		
Children outside BHP	190	71	71	100%	37%		
Parents	475	364	253	70%	53%		
Teachers directly in BHP	27	27	27	100%	100%		
Teachers indirectly in BHP	20	20	20	100%	100%		

Table 5: Stakeholder population and sample by school: Novgorod school 18, Ropsha school and Sobinka school 2⁵

In the absence of baseline data for the indicators collected, the respondents were asked retrospectively what they achieved through becoming involved in the BHP. This approach is known as the Retrospective Pre Test, in which the investigation takes place at the end of an intervention and the participants are asked to make a comparative assessment of the situation before and after.

This approach evidently entails some bias from the respondents (Rockwell & Kohn 1989; Davis 2003; Raidl 2004; Lamb 2005). In addition, there is a tendency for the participants to overestimate the benefits to make them correspond with expectations – personal and social – of improvements due to the project and the time spent. However, it is the only realistic solution in a context where no baseline data is available.

Table 6 below presents the indicators selected to measure the BHP outcomes for each stakeholder group in this SROI. Where possible, more than one indicator and/or source of information was used for one outcome to ensure the quality and credibility of the data collected. e.g. the indicators measured for children were cross-checked with the parents and teachers to confirm the changes they reflect.

⁵ For presentation purposes of this SROI all the figures in the report are rounded to the nearest whole number, but for modelling the exact figures were used without rounding. The rates (discount rates and inflation) are traditionally rounded to two decimals.

Stakeholder	Outcome	Indicator	Outcome incidence (avg.), by school	Avg. incidence in three schools
Children involved in BHP	Increased vitality	Evolution of children's physical activity (self-reported)	Improvement NS18 – 31 RS – 26 SS2 – 33	30
	Increased autonomy	Evolution of children's autonomy (self-reported)	Improvement NS18 – 25 RS – 24 SS2 – 31	27
	Better social development	Weighted average of 4 relationships indicators: evolution of relationships with teachers, classmates and schoolmates and changes in the quality of time children spend together with the parents2	Improvement NS18 – 21 RS – 18 SS2 – 23	21
	Increased self-esteem	Evolution of children's self-esteem (self-reported)	Improvement NS18 – 20 RS – 21 SS2 – 28	23
Children not involved in BHP	Increased vitality	Evolution of children's vitality (self-reported)	Improvement NS18 – 16 RS – 16 SS2 – 12	15
	Better social development	Weighted average of 2 relationships indicators: evolution of relationships with teachers, and schoolmates	Improvement NS18 – 11 RS - 10 SS2 – 1	7
	Increased self-esteem	Evolution of children's self-esteem (self-reported)	Improvement NS18 – 10 RS – 24 SS2 – 2	12
Parents of children involved in BHP	Increased vitality	Evolution of parents' energy levels	Improvement NS18 –11 RS – 14 SS2 – 20	15
	More supportive relationships	Weighted average of 2 relationships indicators: evolution of relationships with teachers and children	Improvement NS18 – 15 RS – 16 SS2 – 23	18
	Increased satisfaction with the school	Evolution of parents' satisfaction with the school	Improvement NS18 – 24 RS- 15 SS2 – 21	20
	Increased self-esteem	Evolution of parents' self-esteem	Improvement NS18 – 8 RS – 11 SS2 – 17	12

Teachers involved in BHP	Increased vitality	Evolution of teachers' energy levels	Improvement NS18 – 31 RS – 40 SS2 – 25	32
	More supportive relationships	Weighted average of 3 relationships indicators: evolution of relationships with colleagues, parents and children	Improvement NS18 – 27 RS – 36 SS2 – 29	31
	Increased self-esteem	Evolution of teachers' self-esteem	Improvement NS18 – 16 RS – 25 SS2 – 25	22
	Increased professional competence	Evolution of teachers' ability to use the new methods they learned/mastered within the programme	Improvement NS18 – 33 RS – 36 SS2 – 32	34
	Increased sense of meaning and purpose	Evolution of the teachers' perception of intrinsic value of their profession	Improvement NS18 – 28 RS – 30 SS2 – 30	29
Teachers indirectly involved in BHP	Increased vitality	Evolution of teachers' energy levels	Improvement NS18 – 13 RS – 22 SS2 – 16	17
	More supportive relationships	Evolution of teachers' relationships with colleagues	Improvement NS18 – 25 RS – 16 SS2 – 25	22
	Increased self-esteem	Evolution of teachers' self-esteem	Improvement NS18 – 13 RS – 6 SS2 – 6	8
	Increased sense of meaning and purpose	Evolution of the teachers' perception of intrinsic value of their profession	Improvement NS18 – 19 RS – 13 SS2 – 13	15

Table 6: Outcomes, indicators and incidence by stakeholder by school⁶

Note: NS18 – Novgorod school 18, RS – Ropsha School, SS2 – Sobinka school 2. All figures are in per cent

The outcome incidence represents a percentage change reported by the stakeholders compared to the baseline (before the respondents were involved in the BHP). In three schools analysed for this SROI, the results in the table above reflect average change per outcome for:

- the 364 children in the programme;
- 71 children outside the programme;
- 253 parents of children in the programme;
- 27 teachers in the programme; and
- 20 teachers involved indirectly in the programme.

⁶ The weights for the children's "social development" outcome and the "supportive relationships" outcome for other stakeholders were identified during the choice experiment for valuation, where stakeholders listed the outcomes (including those related to improved relationships with different categories of people) in order of importance. For more details, see Section 5.6 below

Other indicators that were collected to verify the indicators in the table but not used for the SROI calculation can be found in **Annex 6**.

Overall, we see that all stakeholders demonstrate positive changes across outcomes considered in this analysis. However, there are some differences across stakeholders, outcomes and locations.

5.3 – Differences in outcomes by stakeholder

Children involved in the BHP

For children involved in the BHP there is a slightly higher incidence of outcomes related to vitality and autonomy (30% and 27% respectively on average across three schools) compared to outcomes related to social development and selfesteem (21% and 23% respectively on average across three schools). This corresponds to the programme design and objectives. The first two outcomes are intended and ensured by the programme activities: cooking classes, increased physical activity during breaks and after school, healthy lifestyle education, etc.

The social development outcome is indirect and occurs due to the whole scope of programme activities, as they are designed in a way that enables children to socialise better with each other and provides new joint activities for children and teachers, and children and parents. The increased self-esteem outcome is also indirect and may be achieved in different ways for different children: they may feel better about themselves because they know more and can do more, and for some of them the new area of activities introduced by the programme actually offers an opportunity to be successful at school even if they are not very good at academic school subjects.

Children not involved in the BHP

For the children not involved in BHP we could expect negative wellbeing outcomes that were identified during stakeholder engagement process (see Section 4.3 above). The questionnaires were designed in a way that allowed measuring the amount of negative outcomes (see Annex 5).

For the children not involved in BHP we could expect negative wellbeing outcomes that were identified during the stakeholder engagement process (see Section 4.3 above). The questionnaires were designed in a way that enabled the amount of negative outcomes to be measured (see Annex 5).

However, this was not the case, and the actual data did not show any negative outcomes for this group. This might be because the data collection at the three schools was carried out post-project, and the short-term negative outcomes this group had experienced were no longer present. This was due to the fact that during the course of the projects all schoolchildren got a chance to take part in them and the equipment purchased for the BHP was later used by the whole schools not just the target grades 3 and 4. If we carried out the data collection during the projects we might have been able to register the negative wellbeing outcomes for children not involved in BHP in the short term, but in our case the negative outcomes are presumable, and so they could not be included in further analysis.

The outcome incidence for children not involved in the BHP was positive but marginal across all the three outcomes that were measured for this SROI: across the three schools the average changes were as follows:

- 15% average increase in vitality
- 7% average improvement in social development
- 12% average increase in self-esteem

If these figures are adjusted for counterfactual and attribution obtained through questionnaires, no material change can be traced for this stakeholder group.

This can be explained by the fact that the children in the schools who were not directly involved in the programme were never seen as programme stakeholders, but they should be considered for future programme planning and schools should be encouraged to work with them more within their projects.

The children not involved in the BHP were therefore excluded from further analysis and modelling. However, it was very important to analyse changes for this group in the ToC development and stakeholder engagement process. Important negative outcomes and opportunities for maximizing the programme impact were identified within this group. It is also recommended to analyse the outcomes for this group of stakeholders in the future BHP SROI research.

Parents of children involved in the BHP

For parents of children involved in the programme the amount of change for outcomes related to increased vitality is slightly lower than that for supportive relationships and increased satisfaction with the school –respective outcomes of 15%, 18% and 20% on average across the three schools.

The incidence of increased self-esteem outcome is lower, the average increase across the three schools being 12%. This difference may be explained by the fact that improvements in vitality, relationships, and satisfaction with the school may be more closely related to the BHP and its impact. We cannot expect the programme to have a major impact on the parents' self-esteem as that is also influenced by many other factors, including their family, work and leisure activities, some of which are much more influential than the programme.

Parents were not directly targeted by the BHP. However, our analysis does provide evidence of a positive impact on their wellbeing that was made possible by the programme design and by involving the parents in the programme indirectly through their children. This should be taken into account for future programme strategy, as these outcomes can potentially be further improved by introducing more programme activities aimed at the parents and ensuring regular communication with them to raise awareness about the BHP and its benefits.

Teachers involved in the BHP

Based on the outcome incidence, teachers directly involved in the BHP were the group who experienced the biggest change. The incidence for the vitality outcome is 32% on average across the three schools, which is in line with the BHP design and activities.

The highest incidence outcome, however, is the one related to increased professional competence (34% on average across the three schools), which also appears to vindicate the original design of the programme as it included a specific teacher-training component.

Increased supportive relationships and increased sense of meaning and purpose are in third and fourth positions, with average incidences across the three schools of 31% and 29% respectively. These two outcomes are made possible by the contents of the programme and the scope of the activities as a whole: the way the activities are organized at the schools enables teachers to interact with each other, pupils and parents in a more informal way, which improves their relationships and it also gives them a greater sense of doing a valuable and worthwhile job.

For the teachers, as for the parents, the outcome with the lowest incidence was increased self-esteem (22% on average across the three schools). This might be because self-esteem is a multifaceted and unstable component of wellbeing, subject to many different influences.

Teachers not directly involved in the BHP

For the teachers not directly involved in the implementation of the BHP, the incidence of outcomes is similar to that observed for the parents who were also not directly targeted. The average incidences across the three schools were as follows:

- supportive relationships, 22%
- increased vitality, 17%
- increased sense of meaning and purpose, 15%
- increased self-esteem, 8%

The outcomes achieved for this group of stakeholders were unintended within the programme, but as the issues addressed by the programme are universal and important for all stakeholders as individuals, the influence of the programme turned out to be wider. It is understandable that these particular stakeholders experience most change in relation to supportive relationships as they were not involved in the whole course of the BHP but took part in occasional events and activities which are more likely to influence relationships than vitality.

5.4 – Differences in outcomes across three locations

The three schools analysed for this SROI are located in different regions, they differ in size (the school in Novgorod being an average urban school and Ropsha and Sobinka being smaller rural schools) and were involved in the BHP at different stages of its implementation. The length of involvement and total amount of investment for these schools were also different, so we could expect to see differences in outcomes per stakeholder. Some of these differences are discussed below.

Novgorod School 18

Year the school joined the BHP		2012			
Number of pupils in the school					
Number of pupils involved in BHP		196			
Pupils involved in the BHP	Male	111			
	Female	85			
Parents involved in the BHP	Average or high income	127			
	Low income	69			

Table 7. Novgorod school 18. General information

This school has been taking part in the programme for the shortest period of time and received less funding than other schools, but its achievements within the programme were significant. Within the programme it equipped a cooking class and a mini-gym for project activities. As the team leader in the school teaches IT, it was quite successful in using web-based technologies for programme activities: the children and parents took part in web-quests and worked on various assignments related to healthy nutrition and physical activity.

The school's pupils tend not to be high achievers academically, and this is one of the reasons why the programme is particularly successful here: the children get a chance to be good at something at school that does not require the knowledge of the traditional school subjects.

This school has a higher incidence of positive outcomes for teachers not directly involved in the Programme, while the outcomes for other stakeholders are close to average. This can be explained by the fact that:

- there were only 4 teachers involved in the programme indirectly in this school
- the programme has been in place for a relatively short period of time, and teachers who are not involved in it are more interested and enthusiastic about the programme.

Ropsha School

Year the school joined the BHP					
Number of pupils in the school					
Number of pupils involved in BHP					
Pupils involved in the BHP	Male	38			
	Female	49			
Parents involved in the BHP	Average or high income	37			
	Low income	50			

Table 8. Ropsha school. General information

With the funding received the school purchased equipment and materials for cooking classes, equipped a gym, and improved the kitchen equipment so as to be able to serve healthier hot meals to all the children.

The school building also serves as a community centre which is particularly active in hosting all types of social projects, and the school was able to successfully incorporate the BHP activities into the schedule of other school events. This may have affected the SROI results, decreasing the attribution of wellbeing outcomes to the BHP, as the stakeholders had difficulties distinguishing between the BHP and other school activities.

This school has a higher incidence of wellbeing outcomes for teachers involved in the programme, and this is supported by evidence: the programme was one of the first projects for the school, and having mastered the project development and management skills within this programme the teachers are now successfully applying them elsewhere. Another driver of success for this school was the fact that the director of the school not only supported the programme but was also actively involved in it, encouraging other teachers to participate.

Sobinka school 2

Year the school joined the BHP					
Number of pupils in the school					
Number of pupils involved in BHP					
Pupils involved in the BHP	Male	95			
	Female	97			
Parents involved in the BHP	Average or high income	115			
	Low income	77			

Table 9. Sobinka school 2. General information

This school was particularly successful at gardening as it has a piece of land that can be used for this purpose; it even bought a greenhouse in order to grow vegetables.

The programme also enabled the school to equip an outdoor sports ground and organise a corner for active play inside the building. A cooking classroom was fully equipped with kitchen appliances.

This school has the highest outcome incidence for children and parents, which is explained by the fact that it has been involved in the programme for a long time, like the Ropsha school, but unlike in Ropsha the programme is still running.

5.5 – BHP impact: understanding net change

Overview of approaches to impact measurement

Measuring net change or impact means excluding any impact that might have been due to other factors. As mentioned in **Section 5.1** those factors are:

- Counterfactual
- Attribution
- Displacement



To measure the counterfactual we need to assess what amount of change would have happened anyway without an intervention.

There are three ways to carry out such assessment, depending on the circumstances and resources available:

- a. Comparative approach involving a control group. This is a rigorous method to measure the counterfactual. However, the research must ensure that the control group is comparable to the target group. Furthermore, there are ethical reservations about the use of control groups with regard to social programmes (European Commission 2010).
- **b.** Hypothetical approach directly asking the stakeholders how much change they think would have taken place anyway, even without the programme.
- c. Trend approach comparing the outcomes for stakeholders with national or regional data, if and where comparable figures exist.

To measure the counterfactual for the BHP SROI the hypothetical approach was used: each stakeholder group was asked to estimate how much change they think would have happened if there had been no BHP in their school. The other options were rejected because of the difficulty of finding and accessing a control group with parameters comparable to the stakeholders at the three locations selected for the SROI (option a), and the lack of specific regional or national data on the outcomes measured for this SROI (option c). The approach chosen was the optimal one given the context of this SROI; however, it could have resulted into the respondents' recall bias (Hassan 2005). This was taken into account at the sensitivity analysis stage, where the three models were tested for sensitivity to recall bias and attribution (see Section 6.3).

Measuring *attribution* is necessary when there are other actors involved in a programme and/or when multiple actors are working in the same area to achieve similar goals (UK Cabinet Office 2012). As with the counterfactual, several approaches are possible when measuring the attribution.

- 1. If several organisations are contributing to a programme, one might want to assess the percentage of change that can be attributed to each organisation. This is only necessary if one wants to estimate how much credit for the results each organisation could claim for itself. This can be done in two ways:
 - 1.a Empirically, asking stakeholders what proportion of the overall benefit they would attribute to each of the different actors who participated in bringing about the change, or
 - 1.b Through an approach based on hypothesis in which the credit for the results is divided in proportion to the resources each organisation contributed/invested (UK Cabinet Office 2012).
- 2. If multiple programmes with similar goals are focusing on the same stakeholder groups, one might wish to estimate how much of the change can be attributed to each of these different programmes and actors. In this case the estimate of attribution can be made through hypothesis (for example based on the collection of qualitative information) or on the basis of empirical data, which involves directly asking the stakeholders to rank the organisations in accordance with the importance of their respective contributions to the result (UK Cabinet Office 2012).

Finally, *displacement* effects can occur in situations where the generation of positive changes for a stakeholder group (for example the direct beneficiaries of a programme) automatically causes negative changes for another group. In other words, the benefits are displaced from one group or area to another. In practice, displacement effects are difficult to measure because the causal relationship between an intervention and its impacts upon non-participants is difficult to determine (UK Cabinet Office 2012).

In this evaluation of the BHP no negative impact that could have been displaced to another location was determined during stakeholder engagement and ToC development stage.

The attribution was measured empirically for each of the outcomes by asking every stakeholder group. The data on other possible influences were collected during the stakeholder engagement stage. The parents and teachers were asked to attribute a percentage of change to the programme along with other factors that might have been influential, while for the children we used an exercise with ten apples which they had to share out in accordance with the importance of the possible influences. The questionnaires therefore included three questions for each outcome:

- a.Outcome incidence (distance travelled)
- b. Counterfactual (what would have happened anyway)
- c. Attribution (to what extent the programme was responsible for the change)

All the questionnaires for the various stakeholders can be found in Annex 4.

Table 10 below shows the net change and attribution for every stakeholder group, by outcome, in each of the three schools.

Stakeholder	Outcome	Net change	Attribution to BHP
Children involved	Increased vitality	NS18 – 38	22
in BHP		RS – 31	23
		SS2 – 40	29
	Increased autonomy	NS18 – 29	18
		RS – 21	21
		SS2 – 31	25
	Better social development	NS18 – 15	15
		RS – 15	16
		SS2 – 27	25
	Increased self-esteem	NS18-20	16
		RS – 18	13
		SS2 – 24	23
Parents of	Increased vitality	NS18 – 15	8
children involved		RS – 15	11
in BHP		SS2 – 22	16
	More supportive relationships	NS18 – 16	19
		RS – 14	11
		SS2 – 25	20
	Increased satisfaction with the school	NS18 – 23	19
		RS- 14	14
		SS2 – 17	23
	Increased self-esteem	NS18 – 9	4
		RS – 11	8
		SS2 – 16	16
Teachers involved	Increased vitality	NS18-44	41
in BHP		RS – 55	38
		SS2 – 35	25
	More supportive relationships	NS18-34	31
		RS – 38	35
		SS2 – 29	36
	Increased self-esteem	NS18 – 25	22
		RS – 30	25
		SS2 – 25	27
	Increased professional competence	NS18 – 45	47
		RS – 44	38
		SS2 – 32	38
	Increased sense of meaning and	NS18 – 31	31
	purpose	RS – 35	32
		SS2 – 35	29

Teachers indirectly	Increased vitality	NS18 – 19	19
involved in BHP		RS – 22	18
		SS2 – 22	16
	More supportive relationships	NS18 – 31	16
		RS – 16	10
		SS2 – 25	10
	Increased self-esteem	NS18 – 25	11
		RS – 3	13
		SS2 – 0	10
	Increased sense of meaning and purpose	NS18 – 38	13
		RS – 16	8
		SS2 – 9	5

Table 10: Net change and attribution by outcome per stakeholder by school

Note: NS18 – Novgorod school 18, RS – Ropsha school, SS2 – Sobinka school 2. All figures are in per cent

As we can see above, the teachers were the stakeholder group most likely to attribute the changes in their wellbeing to the BHP. Evidently this is because they are the group most closely connected with the BHP and its activities, whereas for the parents and children the programme activities are just part of the in-class and extracurricular activities they are involved in at their schools.

The teachers indirectly involved in BHP and parents are the two stakeholder groups that were not directly targeted by the programme, which explains lower attribution figures for all outcomes in their surveys. The attribution is especially low when it comes to parents' and teachers' self-esteem and teachers' sense of meaning and purpose, as these outcomes are complex and not intended within the programme.

It was noted during the data collection stage that children often found it difficult to distinguish between the programme and the teachers who were responsible for running it. Therefore, when calculating the attribution of change to the programme, the figure was increased by adding to it exactly half of the percentage the children attributed to the teachers.

For example, in Novgorod school 18 children attribute 17% of the change in their vitality to the BHP, and 11% of the change to their teachers. As they find it difficult to distinguish between the programme and the teachers, the following approach is used to calculate the attribution to the programme: Total attribution to BHP = Attribution to BHP + 50% Attribution to teachers = 17.00% + 5.50% = 22.50%; This approach was only used for the children, the assumption being that the other stakeholders were sufficiently able to distinguish between the impact of the programme and that of the teachers.

Another adjustment was made to the attribution figures in cases where there was no movement on an outcome for a stakeholder (zero gross change), and the stakeholder stated that nothing would have happened anyway (zero counterfactual). In this case, some respondents still filled in the attribution section in the questionnaires and stated the influences that they experienced. An assumption was made that if there was no change for the respondent within the programme but equally there would have been no change without it the absence of change could not be attributed to any influences, and the attribution figures were changed to zero to comply with the SROI principle on not overclaiming the impact.

As the children are the main target group of the BHP, for this SROI it was important not only to understand the programme's impact on their wellbeing but also what other influences help bring about positive changes.

Therefore, the responses of the children at the three schools to the attribution questions were analysed to produce the following overall picture of influences:



Figure 8. Attribution per outcome, average across three schools

Besides the impact of the BHP (maximum attribution 25% for changes in vitality) and teachers (maximum attribution 12% for social development), the children are significantly influenced by their families (maximum attribution 31% for changes in the children's autonomy) and friends (maximum attribution 15% for self-esteem), as well as the clubs they attend (maximum attribution 12% for vitality).

These influences should be further explored and taken into account for the future development of the programme: grantees should be encouraged to work more with families and local communities to maximise the positive influence of the programme.

5.6 – Assessing the materiality of negative outcomes

The survey of stakeholders revealed that besides those who experienced positive outcomes of the BHP there were those who experienced negative outcomes and those for whom there was no change in their wellbeing within the programme.

According to the questionnaires, the majority of stakeholders reported positive outcomes or no change for the wellbeing outcomes measured for this SROI. Table 11 below provides the percentage of stakeholders who reported that nothing changed for them within the programme or they would have achieved the same changes without the BHP.

Stakeholder	No change	School	% of stakeholders
Children involved in BHP	Vitality	NS18	27
		RS	30
		SS2	21
	Autonomy	NS18	30
		RS	42
		SS2	28
	Social	NS18	53
	development	RS	19
		SS2	54
	Self-esteem	NS18	42
		RS	23
		SS2	27
Children not involved in BHP	Vitality	NS18	44
		RS	59
		SS2	60
	Development	NS18	67
		RS	65
		SS2	87
	Self-esteem	NS18	59
		RS	76
		SS2	93
Parents of children involved	Vitality	NS18	58
in BHP		RS	55
		SS2	36
	Supportive	NS18	57
	relationships	RS	52
		SS2	33
	Satisfaction with	NS18	48
	the school	RS	52
		SS2	33
	Self-esteem	NS18	74
		RS	65
		SS2	40

Teachers involved in BHP	Vitality	NS18	0
		RS	0
		SS2	20
	Supportive	NS18	25
	relationships	RS	0
		SS2	10
	Self-esteem	NS18	50
		RS	44
		SS2	20
	Competence	NS18	0
		RS	0
		SS2	10
	Meaning and purpose	NS18	38
		RS	22
		SS2	10
Teachers not directly	Vitality	NS18	25
involved in BHP		RS	50
		SS2	50
	Supportive	NS18	50
	relationships	RS	63
		SS2	25
	Self-esteem	NS18	50
		RS	88
		SS2	63
	Meaning and	NS18	25
	purpose	RS	63
		SS2	63

Table 11. Share of stakeholders reporting no changes for the BHP outcomes by school

Note: NS18 – Novgorod school 18, RS – Ropsha school, SS2 – Sobinka school 2.

As it can be seen from the table, the teachers and children directly involved in the BHP mostly experienced some changes in the outcomes, for parents the situation is mixed, and for the teachers and children not directly involved in the BHP the majority of stakeholders experienced no change.

After the information on average changes for different BHP outcomes was gathered for various stakeholder groups at the three locations it was also important to understand if there were any negative changes for any of the stakeholders and if these changes were material.

To answer this question we looked at the net change outcomes to see if any of the stakeholders who did not experience the positive outcomes experienced a negative outcome. The results of this analysis for the schoolchildren and parents are presented in Table 12 below.

Stakeholder	Negative outcome	School	% of stakeholders	Attribution to BHP, %
Children	Decreased vitality	NS18	3	16
involved in BHP		RS	7	10
		SS2	6	16
	Decreased	NS18	5	10
	autonomy	RS	5	10
		SS2	7	11
	Less social	NS18	9	5
	development	RS	9	12
		SS2	12	12
	Decreased self-	NS18	4	4
	esteem	RS	9	10
		SS2	7	14
Children not	Decreased vitality	NS18	13	6
involved in BHP		RS	11	3
		SS2	7	0
	Less social development	NS18	10	5
		RS	6	0
		SS2	7	0
	Decreased self- esteem	NS18	13	8
		RS	6	0
		SS2	0	0
Parents of	Decreased vitality	NS18	1	20
children		RS	3	0
involved in BHP		SS2	2	10
	Less supportive	NS18	2	8
	relationships	RS	6	0
		SS2	1	0
	Decreased	NS18	4	8
	satisfaction with the	RS	10	10
	school	SS2	7	23
	Decreased self-	NS18	1	10
	esteem	RS	0	0
		SS2	3	20

Table 12. Share of stakeholders reporting negative changes for the BHP outcomes by school Note: NS18 – Novgorod school 18, RS – Ropsha school, SS2 – Sobinka school 2.

As can be seen from Table 12 above, the percentages of stakeholders who experienced negative outcomes in the three schools are small, and the average attribution of these negative changes to BHP is low. Thus, it can be concluded that there were no changes to wellbeing for the majority of stakeholders who did not experience positive changes within the BHP.

As for the teachers in the three schools involved in the BHP directly or indirectly, they did not report any negative outcomes associated with the BHP. Therefore, the outcomes either changed for the better or stayed the same as a result of the BHP.

5.7 – Using financial proxies to assign values to the results

The SROI evaluation requires that the impact of an intervention is expressed in monetary (financial) terms. This means assigning a 'proxy' ('approximate value') to goods that are not traded in the market and therefore do not have an agreed market value. Although this practice is becoming increasingly common with regard to environmental outcomes (e.g. carbon emissions trading), it is not yet the case with social outcomes, where there is still little consensus about methods and numbers.

In general, the following approaches are currently used to assign values to non-market outcomes:

- 1. **Stated preference** directly asking people how they value things relative to other things, or how much they would pay to get or avoid something. This approach assesses people's willingness to pay or accept compensation for something hypothetical.
- 2. **Revealed preference** valuation from the prices of related market goods. To this end data published on average household spending may be used.
- 3. Hedonic pricing a form of revealed preference technique that produces a value based on the market values of components of a service or a good.
- 4. Travel cost/time value an approach based on the notion that people are generally willing to travel a certain distance or spend a certain amount of time in order to obtain a good or service that is valuable to them. The cost of travel and/or time spent can be given a monetary value which represents an estimate of the value of that good or service (Fujiwara and Campbell 2011).

For this SROI a stated preference approach was used due to a) lack of relevant research data and b) the fact that the available national statistics data are mainly for a representative sample on the national level, and would be difficult to adjust to the stakeholder population in this research.

The data were obtained through an empirical 'Choice experiment' exercise based on consultations with the stakeholders: in this exercise the respondents describe the conditions that are essential in order to achieve a certain goal (a better life, for example) and, through discussion, draw up a ranking of those conditions in order of importance. Then they assign a monetary value to any material items that are present in the list. The monetary value of this item is taken to be the anchor value for any non-material conditions in the ranking (such as the wellbeing outcomes they improved thanks to BHP) that were given greater importance than that material item.

Applying the 'choice experiment' exercise

This exercise was used with all the stakeholders (children, parents and teachers) at all three locations in group discussions, the aim being to obtain monetary proxies to measure the value of the wellbeing outcomes of the BHP. Overall, nine choice experiments were conducted with groups of at least five people at the three schools.

The text of the experiment can be found in Annex 7.

The results of the choice experiments in each school and discussion of other possible proxies can be found in Annex 8.

Looking at the results, certain trends can be observed in the valuation of outcomes for stakeholders.

While children tend to mix material and non-material outcomes, parents and teachers tend to put all non-material values higher in their rankings. A possible explanation for this is that adults are more likely to give socially approved answers – and non-material things like relationships, knowledge and sense of meaning/purpose are traditionally valued more highly in Russian culture while material wellbeing is often declared unimportant (Nureev et al. 2010).

According to some Russian economists and sociologists, this perception of wellbeing is rooted in the Russian Orthodox Christian culture based on non-possession and collegiality, and also bears the influence of the Soviet era in which a person's material wellbeing depended more on their social position and relationships than their knowledge, skills and performance at work (Gudkov, Dubin & Levinson 2009; Nureev et al. 2010).

The rankings in Annex 8, therefore, can be seen as reflecting current Russian attitudes about wellbeing in general. These attitudes certainly affect further SROI calculations, as non-material wellbeing outcomes are often given extremely high

values. For this research, the respondents were encouraged to provide as many material values as possible with various prices to arrive at a reasonable valuation for the non-material ones by calculating the average.

It should be noted that most children did not have the 'material versus non-material' bias during the choice experiment – although in some cases older children were reluctant to attach importance to material elements of wellbeing, stating that it 'wouldn't be right'. This again supports the idea that attaching a higher value to non-material outcomes, or at least declaring that you do, is an element of Russian culture.

The estimated values for wellbeing outcomes without a market price were subsequently calculated based on the assumption that if an outcome is ranked higher than something which has a certain market price, that outcome is worth at least that market price. In cases where there were several wellbeing components with market prices with the same ranking, an average was calculated to produce the estimated value for the wellbeing component that needed valuation.

5.8 – Other modelling considerations

Benefit period and drop-off

This SROI evaluation was designed to demonstrate the value that has already been created in relation to the investments (costs).

At the three locations selected for this SROI, the BHP started in different years and also lasted for different lengths of time. Therefore, to evaluate the social value created by the programme for stakeholders at each of the schools, three separate models were developed to reflect the different periods of investment and benefit.

For the models we considered the BHP investments and benefits per year and adjusted the figures from the previous years for inflation, so that they would be converted into February 2015 prices (when the data collection and valuation were carried out for this SROI).

Through discussion with stakeholders and study of previous programme reports and evaluations, it was concluded that at least two years are required in order for the stakeholders to achieve the value created by the programme in relation to the outcomes measured for this SROI. As for the first year of the programme, after stakeholder consultations and review of the programme materials, it was assumed that teachers directly involved in the programme and also schoolchildren achieved 25% of the full value of the outcomes. The value of the outcomes for parents and other teachers who are not directly targeted within the programme would be close to 0%. It is within the first year that the short-term outcomes related to increase of knowledge and skills, and the practical application of this new knowledge and skills, are achieved.

As the programme in Ropsha ended in 2012 and ends in Novgorod and Sobinka in 2015, it is also necessary to consider its residual impact over the years that follow. The 'benefit period' is the period during which the effects of the programme can still be perceived, even if they are decreasing. The impact diminishes at a certain rate during this period – referred to in the SROI methodology as the 'drop off'.

Based on the evidence of the programme reports and evaluations, and also the information provided by stakeholders in the group interviews, it appears that after the end of the programme the drop-off happens quite quickly. This is because, although the equipment is still there, if the teachers no longer have financial incentives they quickly switch to other extracurricular activities, especially if those other activities offer extra funding opportunities for the school.

This was observed, for instance, in Ropsha school, where the programme ended in 2012. The teachers still remember the programme very well and the equipment is still used by the school, but the activities it is used for are different depending on what programmes the school is involved in (such as a club for elderly people who come to the school to have tea). The parents and children also get easily distracted by other activities. If there are no longer any programme activities in the school the outcomes drop-off by 50% in the first year post-programme and thereafter cannot be attributed to the programme at all.

There is evidence in research that optimal nutritional behaviors attained by a family could be maintained for up to five years (Nierman 1986; Block Joy, Pradhan & Goldman 2006). Documentation for more than 5 years has not been published. In the SROI for ChildFund International Responsive Parenting Program nef (2014) also used the benefit period length of five years.

In the case of BHP the assumptions on the length of benefit period were mostly based on stakeholder's opinions as well as on empirical data obtained by comparing the outcomes of the BHP in Ropsha where the programme ended two years before the SROI and two other schools where at the moment of data collection it was still running. The data showed that even two years after the BHP all stakeholders experience certain benefits associated with the program, but they are much less likely to attribute them to the BHP, and tend to think of other influences or attribute these benefits to themselves.

Adhering to the SROI principle of not overclaiming the most conservative estimates were used, and it was assumed that the benefit period for the outcomes would be one year after the end of programme, and that the drop-off rate for that year would be 50%. The estimates were further subject to sensitivity analysis (see **Section 6.3**).

Table 13 below shows the assumptions regarding outcome achievement, benefit period and drop-off for the various stakeholder groups.

Stakeholder	Outcomes	Year1	Year2	Year3	Post-prog. Year 1	Post-prog. Year 2
Children in the programme	Vitality Autonomy Social development Self esteem	25% value	100% value	100% value	50% value	0% value
Parents	Vitality Supportive relationships Satisfaction with the school Self-esteem	0% value	100% value	100% value	50% value	0% value
Teachers in the programme	Vitality Supportive relationships Self-esteem Competence Meaning and purpose	25% value	100% value	100% value	50% value	0% value
Teachers involved in the programme	Vitality Supportive relationships Self-esteem Meaning and purpose	0% value	100% value	100% value	50% value	0% value

Table 13: Outcome achievement, benefit period and drop-off by stakeholder

Discount rate

The discount rate is the rate used to express the social value that will continue into the future for the duration of the benefit period (one year in our case) as present value.

In calculating the SROI ratio, discounting is used so as to be able to compare the investments and benefits paid or received at different points in time. It reflects the time value of money, i.e. the fact that in general people prefer to receive money sooner rather than later so as to eliminate 1) the risk of the money not being paid to them and 2) the opportunity costs (potential gains from investing the money elsewhere).

There is no universal agreement about the time value of money, so a variety of discount rates may be used for modelling. The main problem with using a discount rate for SROI analyses, however, is that it encourages more short-term approaches, which is not good for social projects. This could lead to a false representation of how much people value their future (UK Cabinet Office 2012).

For this SROI we used three different discount rates:

- 1. The Social Rate of Time Preferences, calculated for Russia by experts from the Higher School of Economics in Moscow based on a range of factors. This rate is region-specific: 4.0% for the Leningrad region, 4.5% for the Vladimir region and 4.6% for Novgorod (Kossova & Sheluntsova 2012).
- 2. The Refinancing Rate of the Central bank of Russia, 8.25%: the rate for loans given by the Central Bank of Russia to commercial banks. It was introduced in 1992 and last changed in 2013. Until January 1, 2016 it will be used for reference purposes only (Bank of Russia 2012).
- 3. The Key Rate of the Central Bank of Russia, 15%: the main indicator of state monetary policy, introduced in September 2013 to replace the refinancing rate (Bank of Russia 2015).

Scaling up

Stakeholder engagement highlighted that the project outcomes for children were influenced by gender and age. Our research did not identify any similar criterion for teachers, and for parents differences were noted by stakeholders depending on the level of household income. We intended to survey the population for all material stakeholders. We had 100% response rate for teachers, an average of 77% for the children and 53% for the parents. Our convenient samples for parents and children yielded a high confidence level at 95% and a relatively small confidence interval of 2-4% and are reflective of respective population.

To scale up the outcomes to the whole population of children involved in the BHP, the average results per outcome obtained for the sample were counted and extrapolated by age and gender.

With the parents, the survey results were also scaled up, but in this case household income was used as the basis for extrapolation.

The results of extrapolation of outcomes for children and parents in the three schools are presented in Tables 14, 15, and 16 below.

For the teachers who were involved in the BHP either directly or indirectly, no extrapolation was needed as they were all surveyed for this SROI.

Stakeholders (Groups and subgroups)	Sample size	Population size	Outcome	Net change	Attribution					
Pupils in the programme:										
		Grade 2								
Male	13	31	Vitality	38	19					
			Autonomy	31	17					
			Social development	23	7					
			Self-esteem	23	11					
Female	17	24	Vitality	65	22					
			Autonomy	40	17					
			Social development	16	13					
			Self-esteem	32	15					

Grade 3							
Male	25	28	Vitality	36	21		
			Autonomy	32	16		
			Social development	17	15		
			Self-esteem	17	12		
Female	18	19	Vitality	36	18		
			Autonomy	21	19		
			Social development	19	16		
			Self-esteem	25	12		
		Grade 4					
Male	22	25	Vitality	56	27		
			Autonomy	40	22		
			Social development	21	24		
			Self-esteem	32	22		
Female	21	23	Vitality	37	29		
			Autonomy	23	24		
			Social development	17	25		
			Self-esteem	27	32		
		Grade 5					
Male	27	27	Vitality	18	19		
			Autonomy	22	13		
			Social development	5	8		
			Self-esteem	3	7		
Female	15	19	Vitality	27	28		
			Autonomy	28	21		
			Social development	12	18		
			Self-esteem	7	16		
		Parents					
Normal and high income families	76	127	Vitality	18	8		
			Supportive relationships	18	12		
			Satisfaction with the school	25	19		
			Self-esteem	10	3		
Low income families	38	69	Vitality	17	7		
			Supportive relationships	10	9		
			Satisfaction with the school	19	20		
			Self-esteem	13	6		

Table 14. Extrapolating outcomes for children and parents: Novgorod school 18

Note: all figures are in per cent

Stakeholders (groups and	Sample	Outcome	Net	Attribution					
subgroups)	size	size		change					
		r Pupils in the prog	ı gramme:						
Grade 6									
Male	10	15	Vitality	28	21				
			Autonomy	25	18				
			Social development	14	20				
			Self-esteem	25	27				
Female	12	14	Vitality	31	29				
			Autonomy	21	33				
			Social development	20	28				
			Self-esteem	21	20				
		Grade 7							
Male	1	1	Vitality	0	0				
			Autonomy	0	0				
			Social development	16	27				
			Self-esteem	0	0				
Female	8	14	Vitality	56	35				
			Autonomy	44	39				
			Social development	33	33				
			Self-esteem	34	21				
		Grade 8							
Male	8	14	Vitality	28	23				
			Autonomy	16	24				
			Social development	4	19				
			Self-esteem	16	16				
Female	6	13	Vitality	29	27				
			Autonomy	4	13				
			Social development	2	17				
			Self-esteem	8	7				
		Grade 9							
Male	7	8	Vitality	14	24				
			Autonomy	11	14				
			Social development	8	16				
			Self-esteem	4	14				
Female	6	8	Vitality	29	38				
			Autonomy	21	28				
			Social development	19	24				
			Self-esteem	17	11				

Parents									
Normal and high income	Normal and high income 12 37	37	Vitality	6	3				
families			Supportive relationships	6	5				
			Satisfaction with the school	3	10				
			Self-esteem	6	1				
Low income families 19	19	50	Vitality	16	11				
			Supportive relationships	16	12				
			Satisfaction with the school	16	14				
			Self-esteem	13	10				

Table 15. Extrapolating outcomes for children and parents: Ropsha school

Note: all figures are in per cent

Stakeholders	Sample size	Population size	Outcome	Net Change	Attribution					
Pupils in the Programme:										
		Grade	3							
Male	22	24	Vitality	41	22					
			Autonomy	40	23					
			Social development	13	30					
			Self-esteem	20	14					
Female	10	10	Vitality	25	29					
			Autonomy	23	33					
			Social development	8	29					
			Self-esteem	10	30					
		Grade	4							
Male	17	20	Vitality	50	44					
			Autonomy	41	43					
			Social development	20	44					
			Self-esteem	46	52					
Female	18	19	Vitality	49	46					
			Autonomy	39	42					
			Social development	22	43					
			Self-esteem	31	42					

Grade 5							
Male	10 10		vitality	55	50		
			autonomy	40	47		
			social development	18	45		
			self-esteem	40	45		
Female	16	25	Vitality	61	62		
			Autonomy	63	60		
			Social development	23	61		
			Self-esteem	44	54		
		Grade	6				
Male	10	14	Vitality	13	25		
			Autonomy	13	19		
			Social development	6	23		
			Self-esteem	8	26		
Female	11	16	Vitality	23	24		
			Autonomy	9	23		
			Social development	8	17		
			Self-esteem	2	14		
Grade 7							
Male	7	12	Vitality	32	44		
Male	7	12	Vitality Autonomy	32 14	44 23		
Male	7	12	Vitality Autonomy Social development	32 14 2	44 23 24		
Male	7	12	Vitality Autonomy Social development Self-esteem	32 14 2 25	44 23 24 24		
Male Female	7 9	12 14	Vitality Autonomy Social development Self-esteem Vitality	32 14 2 25 33	44 23 24 24 24 24		
Male Female	7 9	12 14	Vitality Autonomy Social development Self-esteem Vitality Autonomy	 32 14 2 25 33 25 	44 23 24 24 24 24 28		
Male Female	7 9	12 14	Vitality Autonomy Social development Self-esteem Vitality Autonomy Social development	 32 14 2 25 33 25 11 	44 23 24 24 24 24 28 11		
Male Female	9	12 14	Vitality Autonomy Social development Self-esteem Vitality Autonomy Social development Self-esteem	32 14 2 25 33 25 11 17	44 23 24 24 24 28 11 16		
Male Female	7 9	12 14 Grade	Vitality Autonomy Social development Self-esteem Vitality Autonomy Social development Self-esteem	 32 14 2 25 33 25 11 17 	44 23 24 24 24 28 11 16		
Male Female Male	7 9 9	12 14 Grade 14	Vitality Autonomy Social development Self-esteem Vitality Autonomy Social development Self-esteem 8 Vitality	32 14 2 25 33 25 11 17 17	 44 23 24 24 24 28 11 16 8 		
Male Female Male	7 9 9	12 14 Grade 14	Vitality Autonomy Social development Self-esteem Vitality Autonomy Social development Self-esteem Vitality Vitality Autonomy	32 14 2 25 33 25 11 17 17 3	44 23 24 24 24 28 11 16 8 2		
Male Female Male	7 9 9	12 14 Grade 14	Vitality Autonomy Social development Self-esteem Vitality Autonomy Social development Self-esteem Vitality Vitality Autonomy Social development0	32 14 2 25 33 25 11 17 17 3 1	 44 23 24 24 24 28 11 16 8 2 4 		
Male Female	7 9 9	12 14 Grade 14	Vitality Autonomy Social development Self-esteem Vitality Autonomy Social development Self-esteem Vitality Autonomy Social development Social development0 Social development0 Self-esteem	32 14 2 5 33 25 11 17 17 3 17 3 1 3	44 23 24 24 24 28 11 16 8 2 2 4 6		
Male Female Male Female	7 9 9 10	12 14 14 14 14	Vitality Autonomy Social development Self-esteem Vitality Autonomy Social development Self-esteem Vitality Autonomy Social development0 Self-esteem Vitality	 32 14 2 25 33 25 11 17 3 1 3 48 	44 23 24 24 24 28 11 16 8 2 8 2 4 4 6 22		
Male Female Male Female	7 9 9 10	12 14 14 14	Vitality Autonomy Social development Self-esteem Vitality Autonomy Social development Self-esteem Vitality Autonomy Social development0 Social development0 Self-esteem Vitality Autonomy Social development0 Self-esteem Vitality Autonomy	32 14 2 25 33 25 11 17 17 3 17 3 1 3 48 48 15	44 23 24 24 24 28 11 16 8 2 8 2 4 6 22 21		
Male Female Female	7 9 9 10	12 14 14 14	Vitality Autonomy Social development Self-esteem Vitality Autonomy Social development Self-esteem Vitality Autonomy Social development0 Self-esteem Vitality Autonomy Social development	32 14 2 25 33 25 11 17 3 17 3 1 3 48 48 15 11	44 23 24 24 24 28 11 16 8 2 8 2 4 6 22 4 6 22 21 25		

Parents									
Normal and high income	71	115	Vitality	22	16				
families			Supportive relationships	26	18				
			Satisfaction with the school	18	23				
		Self-esteem	17	15					
Low income families	Low income families 37 77	77	Vitality	21	17				
			Supportive relationships	18	20				
			Satisfaction with the school	12	21				
			Self-esteem	8	15				

Table 16. Extrapolating outcomes for children and parents: Sobinka school 2 Note: all figures are in per cent

It should be noted that grade seven in Ropsha school clearly stood out in terms of gender composition: there was only one boy and fourteen girls in this class at February 2015, when the data collection was carried out (see **Table 19**). According to the information provided by the teachers and school administration, the gender balance in this class was different when it took part in the BHP (eight boys and 14 girls), but then it changed, as the boys left and attended other schools.

The only boy from grade seven took part in the data collection and reported zero change for all outcomes except social development where he demonstrated 16% improvement with 27% attribution to the programme. However, as the majority of stakeholders influenced by the BHP are currently inaccessible for data collection, a decision was made to exclude data on outcomes for male pupils in the grade from the model not to overclaim the programme impact for this school.

Costs

For SROI evaluation the impact expressed in financial (monetary) terms is compared with the costs to assess the effectiveness of an intervention. The costs considered in an SROI evaluation can be financial or economic.

Financial costs are part of the budget, and represent the total amount of money spent in carrying out an intervention.

Economic costs (or non-financial costs) are values used to register an activity or intervention for which there has not been any financial recompense. These could be, for example, donations, volunteer work, or the provision of some kind on non-remunerated good or service. Depending on the intervention in question, these costs can be non-material, and therefore disregarded, or material, in which case they should be measured.

Financial costs of the BHP

To calculate the financial costs of the BHP for each of the three schools evaluated within this SROI, CAF's accounting data were used.

Within the BHP all schools received grant funding that was used to purchase equipment, organise events and activities, and pay teachers' salaries (for more details see **Chapter 1** above).

The grant amounts per school are listed in Table 17 below.

School	Year	Grant, RUB
Novgorod school 18	2012 - 2013	400,000
	2013 - 2014	100,000
	2014 - 2015	300,000
	TOTAL	800,000
Ropsha school	2008 - 2009	720,000
	2009 - 2010	400,000
	2010 - 2011	500,000
	2011 - 2012	450,000
	2012 - 2013	40,000
	TOTAL	2,110,000
Sobinka school	2010 - 2011	880,000
	2011 - 2012	500,000
	2012 - 2013	60,000
	2013 - 2014	150,000
	2014 - 2015	300,000
	TOTAL	1,890,000

Table 17: BHP grant funding per school by year

There were differences between the amounts of grant funding received. Ropsha school received the most and Novgorod school 18 the least, based on criteria including the following:

- Quantity and type of equipment needed, and the schools' capacity to install and maintain it
- Project design and activities
- Project scale and the number of children involved
- The schools' ability to manage grant funds

Besides the grant funding the schools received for their own projects, CAF also provided them with training, materials and ongoing support, and so CAF's programme expenses also needed to be accounted for.

To do this, accounting data on annual expenses across various budget lines were obtained from the accounting records, and information on the number of schools involved in the programme by year was requested from the programme managers.

The corresponding data can be found in Annex 9.

To calculate the annual amount of programme expenses per school, the total amount of programme expenses in a particular year was divided by the number of schools involved in the programme that year.

Also, as Russia has been experiencing significant inflation, an online inflation calculator http://inflationinrussia.com/ was used to express the amounts of investment made in the past in February 2015 prices. The inflation rates in this online tool are based on consumer price indexes, published by Federal State Statistics Service (Rosstat) and thus it is a reliable source of information. Presented in Tables 18 and 19 below is information on (a) inflation rates between the time when funding was received by the schools and February 2015, when this SROI evaluation was carried out, and (b) the adjusted funding amounts per school by year.

Funding received in	Inflation rate by Feb 2015*
Sept. 2008	70.13
Sept. 2009	52.44
Oct. 2010	42.56
Oct. 2011	32.97
Jun. 2012	28.25
Oct. 2012	24.77
Oct.2013	17.56
Nov. 2014	7.93

*Inflation rates calculated using online tool *http://inflationinrussia.com/ Table 18: Inflation rates used to adjust the BHP investment*

Year	2008 - 2009	2009 - 2010	2010 - 2011	2011 - 2012	2012 - 2013	2013 - 2014	2014 - 2015	TOTAL
Ropsha school	1,645,137	1,181,502	1,285,214	1,071,478	612,240			5,795,571
CAF grant	1,224,936	609,760	712,800	598,365	51,300			
CAF programme expenses	247,351	416,865	427,575	338,018	430,640			
Sobinka school 2			1,915,467	1,174,147	672,789	466,812	627,124	4,856,339
CAF grant			1,287,968	664,850	76,950	175,335	323,790	
CAF programme expenses			438,972	338,018	430,640	140,910	164,309	
Novgorod school					995,948	641,220	622,894	2,260,062
CAF grant					499,080	352,680	323,790	
CAF programme expenses					418,955	141,718	164,309	

Table 19: BHP financial costs per school by year, adjusted for inflation

Economic costs of the BHP

According to the information obtained from the programme documents and during the stakeholder engagement, the following economic costs were identified for the BHP:

• Volunteer work: parents or community members taking part in the programme as volunteers to deliver classes on particular topics, help organise events, etc.

Though this input from the parents and community is very important for understanding how the BHP achieves its impact, according to the stakeholders the volunteers' work was not material for their projects, and was only done occasionally and in small amounts, so this economic cost was not accounted for in this SROI.

• Goods and equipment purchased by the parents: during the programme many children learned to use new kitchen devices and became familiar with new sports activities and games. As a consequence they asked their parents to buy cooking and sports equipment to use at home, and many parents did so during the programme.

This input took place frequently and was considered material by the stakeholders: some parents claimed they spent significant amounts of money on these purchases (often their claims were corroborated by their children) and said their family benefited from having the goods and equipment at home. According to the teachers, children who were able to practise their new skills at home did indeed derive greater overall benefit from the programme. This input was taken into account for this SROI.

To value the goods purchased by the parents during the BHP, a corresponding question asking them to say if they bought any goods or equipment for cooking and sports activities within the BHP. How much they spent on those purchases was included in the parents' questionnaires (see **Annex 5**). The average amount spent per family, as obtained from the sample, was multiplied by the number of parents whose children were involved in the BHP at the school in question, then distributed in equal amounts across the time the programme was running for at that school.

The results of the calculations are presented in Table 20 below.

	Average amount spent on equipment	Number of parents	Total amount spent on equipment	Programme duration (years)	Average amount spent on equipment per year
Ropsha	5,839	87	507,993	5	101,599
Sobinka	3,372	192	647,424	5	129,485
Novgorod	1,593	196	312,228	3	104,076

Table 20. Economic costs of BHP by school

For the SROI models the annual amounts spent by parents on equipment were subsequently adjusted for corresponding inflation rates in **Table 18** above. The final amounts included in the models are shown in Table 21.

Year	2008- 2009	2009- 2010	2010- 2011	2011- 2012	2012- 2013	2013- 2014	2014- 2015	TOTAL
Ropsha school	172,850	154,877	144,839	135,096	130,300			737,961
Sobinka school 2			188,527	171,279	165,199	150,566	139,025	814,597
Novgorod school 18					129,856	122,352	112,329	364,537

Table 21: Economic costs of the BHP, per school by year, adjusted for inflation

Chapter 6 – Results of the SROI Evaluation

6.1 – The social return on investment of the BHP

For an intervention to be considered effective based on the results of an SROI evaluation, we must be able to see that:

- 1. When the present value of costs is subtracted from the present value of benefits, the net present value is greater than zero (NPV > 0)
- The SROI ratio obtained by dividing the present value of benefits by the present value of costs is greater than one (SROI > 1)

SROI= present value of benefits

present value of costs

(UK Cabinet Office 2012).

As there were some basic differences between the three schools involved, the building of the SROI models and the calculation of the SROI ratio were conducted separately for each school.

Novgorod school 18

The table below shows the value of the outcomes created in relation to the investments undertaken in the programme in 2012-2015, discounted at three different rates discussed above in **Section 5.5**.

Social return on investment for the BHP (in Russian roubles) in Novgorod school 18 in 2012-2015						
Discount rate:	4.60%	8.25%	15.00%			
Present value of benefits:	14,714,588	13,434,830	11,464,648			
Present value of costs:	2,090,150	1,967,697	1,772,352			
SROI ratio:	7.04	6.83	6.47			

Table 22: SROI of the BHP for Novgorod school 18

The SROI evaluation indicates that for every rouble invested in the BHP in Novgorod school 18, RUB 6.47 – RUB 7.04 was created in social value, i.e. up to 7.04 times the amount invested.

Ropsha school

The table below shows the results of the SROI evaluation for the BHP at the Ropsha school, i.e. the value of the outcomes created in relation to the investments undertaken in the programme in 2008-2012, discounted at three different rates discussed above in **Section 5.5**.

Social return on investment for the BHP (in Russian roubles) at Ropsha school in 2008-2012							
Discount rate:	4.00%	8.25%	15.00%				
Present value of benefits: (in Russian roubles)	13,985,072	12,120,900	9,810,523				
Present value of costs: (in Russian roubles)	5,235,899	4,733,432	4,086,001				
SROI ratio:	2.70	2.59	2.42				

Table 23. SROI of the BHP for Ropsha school

The SROI evaluation indicates that for every rouble invested in the BHP in the Ropsha school, RUB 2.42 - RUB 2.70 was created in social value, i.e. up to 2.70 times the amount invested.

Sobinka school

The table below shows the results of the value of the outcomes created in relation to the investments undertaken in the programme in 2010-2014, discounted at three different rates discussed above in **Section 5.5**.

Social return on investment for the BHP (in Russian roubles) in Sobinka school 2 in 2010-2014					
Discount rate:	4.5%	8.25%	15.00%		
Present value of benefits:	23,993,614	20,697,125	16,156,796		
Present value of costs:	4,392,434	4,063,738	4,261,965		
SROI ratio:	5.46	5.09	4.52		

Table 24. SROI of the BHP for Sobinka school 2

The SROI evaluation indicates that for every rouble invested in the BHP in Sobinka school, RUB 4.52 – RUB 5.46 was created in social value, i.e. up to 5.46 times the amount invested.

6.2 – Value Distribution

It is important to understand who exactly benefited from the BHP, i.e. how the benefits were distributed amongst the stakeholders. If an intervention is aimed at generating an impact for a particular group, it is important to verify whether that group was indeed the principal beneficiary.

Novgorod school 18

The diagram below shows the distribution of the benefits generated by the BHP at Novgorod school 18, by stakeholder group.

Figure 9. Distribution of BHP benefits by stakeholder, Novgorod school 18



In Novgorod school 18 the children were the main beneficiaries of the BHP, followed by the teachers and then the parents. This corresponds with the way the BHP was designed, the children having been the primary target group.

If distribution of value across various outcomes is considered for Novgorod school 18, the picture will be the following:





The outcomes that account for the most value at the Novgorod school are the ones the BHP is directly aiming to achieve:

- increased vitality for all stakeholders (27% of the total value created);
- supportive relationships for all stakeholders (19% of the total value created);
- increased autonomy for children (15% of the total value created);
- increased self-esteem for all stakeholders (15% of the total value created).

The unintended outcomes – such as increased satisfaction with the school on the part of parents of children involved in the programme, increased competence, and increased sense of meaning and purpose for the teachers – respectively account for 11%, 8% and 5% of the total value created.

We can therefore conclude that at Novgorod school 18 the BHP has a positive social impact. The children are the beneficiaries of almost half of the social value created; and the programme's most significant impacts are on stakeholders' vitality, supportive relationships and self-esteem, while it also influences the children's autonomy in a positive way.

Ropsha school

The diagram below shows the distribution of the benefits generated by the BHP at Ropsha school, by stakeholder group.

Figure 11: Distribution of BHP benefits by stakeholder, Ropsha school



Figure 11 shows that in Ropsha most of the value created by the BHP went either to teachers or children, with the former deriving the greatest value by a difference of 7%. This result might be associated with the fact that the outcomes for boys currently in grade 7 at the school were not taken into account for the calculation (see Section 5.7). Also, as noted above in Chapter 5, the teachers in this school claim to have benefited greatly from the programme, and they are still using the knowledge, skills and equipment they received. As for the children, because nearly two years have now passed since they were last involved in the programme, its impact might have become less obvious and therefore they might now be less likely to associate positive outcomes with it.

Figure 12 shows, for the Ropsha school, the various outcomes and what percentage of the total value they respectively accounted for:



Figure 12: Distribution of value created by BHP across outcomes, Ropsha school

Again, the most highly valued outcomes at the Ropsha school are the ones the BHP is directly aiming to achieve.

At Ropsha school, however, it should be noted that children's increased autonomy, an outcome the programme was directly aimed at accounts for only 1% of the total social value created. This is explained by the results of the choice experiment exercise carried out with the children, in which they assigned very little value to this outcome (see Section 5.6 above). The children at the Ropsha school are older than those in Novgorod and Sobinka (because the programme started earlier there), and autonomy might no longer be so valuable for them.

For the teachers, the increased 'competence' and 'sense of meaning and purpose' outcomes rated higher in Ropsha than in Novgorod (9% and 7% respectively), which can be explained by the profound impact the programme had on the Ropsha teachers, as confirmed by stakeholder engagement (see **Section 5.4**). Also, in Ropsha the number of teachers involved in the programme, directly or indirectly, is 75% higher than in Novgorod (21 as compared with 12) and the length of involvement is greater (5 years as compared with 3).

In conclusion, we can say that at the Ropsha school the BHP achieved its goal: it created most of its social value for teachers and children. Its most significant impacts were on stakeholders' vitality, supportive relationships and self-esteem; and it also significantly influenced the teachers' competence and sense of meaning and purpose.

Sobinka school 2

The diagram below shows the distribution of the benefits generated by the BHP at Sobinka school, by stakeholder group.

Figure 13: Distribution of BHP benefits by stakeholder, Sobinka school 2



At Sobinka school 2 the benefits created by the BHP went mostly to the children (43%), who are the main target group, and parents (32%). The remainder of the value created includes the teachers' benefits. This value distribution may be explained by the fact that the programme has been running at the school two years more than in Novgorod, enabling the children and parents to benefit from it as much as possible.

As for the teachers in this school, they are not involved in many project activities apart from the BHP: it is possible they are not fully aware of the benefits available through the training offered by the programme, and so derive less value than their counterparts in Novgorod and Ropsha.

Figure 14 shows, for Sobinka school 2, the various outcomes and what share of the total value they respectively accounted for:



Figure 14: Distribution of value created by BHP across outcomes, Sobinka school 2

Again, vitality is the outcome that accounts for the largest proportion of value created (28%), followed by self-esteem and supportive relationships (22% each). In this school the value of the autonomy outcome for the children, at 10% of the total social value, is more significant than at the other schools.

The unintended outcomes for teachers in Sobinka school 2 rank equally, at only 5%, while parents' satisfaction with the school accounts for 8% of the total social value created.

It should be noted that in Sobinka the outcomes for teachers not directly involved in the BHP were lower than in other schools. This could be explained by the nature of their involvement in the programme – and is an issue that might usefully be explored in future so as to maximise the positive impact of the programme for the whole school, including the teachers.

6.3 – Sensitivity analysis

This section analyses how certain changes in the assumptions and proxies would affect the value of the SROI in the three models that were developed. It will demonstrate the impact these changes have on the SROI and indicate a range within which, realistically, the SROI for the BHP at the three locations will fall. The sensitivity analysis was carried out by varying the assumptions of the model and analysing the impact on the SROI result.

The variation of the SROI ratio in the three schools depending on the discount rate used has already been discussed in **Section 6.1**. The sensitivity analysis for other assumptions in the models is carried out below. For the sensitivity testing the SROI ratio for 8.25% discount rate is used as the basis.

Proxies for various stakeholders

For this SROI evaluation the financial proxies for wellbeing outcomes experienced by stakeholders were obtained by asking them directly within a 'choice experiment exercise'. The figures obtained are very subjective and stakeholder-specific, so there is a need to test the three models for sensitivity to various proxies to understand how they affect the SROI ratios.

Outcome	Proxy	Changed to	Outcome	Proxy	Changed to	Base SROI	New SROI
Increased vitality (children)	70,000	35,000	Social development (children)	141,350	70,675	6.83	6.03
Vitality (parents)	138,667	69,333	Increased satisfaction with the school (parents)	138,667	69,333	6.83	6.35
Vitality (teachers)	296,333	148,167	Competence (teachers)	296,333	148,167	6.83	6.25

Novgorod school 18

Table 25: Sensitivity Analysis - Proxies, Novgorod school 18

Item analysed	SROI with lower proxy values for children	SROI with lower proxy values for children and teachers	SROI with lower proxy values for all stakeholders
Proxies reduced by 50%	5.16	4.08	3.41

Table 26: Sensitivity Analysis - Proxies reduced by 50%, Novgorod school 18

As can be seen from Tables 25 and 26 above, the SROI model for Novgorod school 18 is most sensitive to children's proxies (reducing two of them by 50% brings the SROI ratio down by 12%). When all children's proxies are reduced by 50%, the SROI ratio is reduced by 24%.

When all proxies are reduced by 50% for all stakeholders, the SROI ratio is still positive (3.41) and is also reduced by 50%.

Ropsha school

Outcome	Proxy	Changed to	Outcome	Proxy	Changed to	Base SROI	New SROI
Increased vitality (children)	150,000	75,000	Social development (children)	96,000	48,000	2.59	2.21
Vitality (parents)	200,000	100,000	Increased satisfaction with the school (parents)	266,667	133,333	2.59	2.46
Vitality (teachers)	208,889	104,444	Competence (teachers)	208,889	104,444	2.59	2.27

Table 27: Sensitivity Analysis - Proxies, Ropsha school

	SROI with lower proxy values for	SROI with lower proxy values for children and	SROI with lower proxy values
Item analysed	children	teachers	for all stakeholders
Proxies reduced by 50%	2.07	1.50	1.26

Table 28: Sensitivity Analysis - Proxies reduced by 50%, Ropsha school

The Ropsha school SROI model is also sensitive to children's proxies (reducing two of them by 50% brings the SROI ratio down by 14%). When all children's proxies are reduced by 50%, the SROI ratio is reduced by 19%.

When all proxies are reduced by 50% for all stakeholders, the SROI ratio is still positive (1.26) and is also reduced by 50%.

Sobinka school 2

Outcome	Proxy	Changed to	Outcome	Proxy	Changed to	Base SROI	New SROI
Increased vitality (children)	75,125	37,563	Self-esteem (children)	130,500	65,250	5.09	4.42
Vitality (parents)	243,333	121,667	Increased satisfaction with the school (parents)	243,333	121,667	5.09	4.66
Vitality (teachers)	266,667	133,333	Competence (teachers)	266,667	133,333	5.09	4.80

Table 29: Sensitivity Analysis - Proxies, Sobinka school 2

	SROI with lower SROI with lower proxy		
	proxy values for	values for children and	SROI with lower proxy values
Item analysed	children	teachers	for all stakeholders

Table 30: Sensitivity Analysis - Proxies reduced by 50%, Sobinka school 2

As was the case for Novgorod and Ropsha, the SROI model for Sobinka school 2 is sensitive to children's proxies (reducing two of them by 50% brings the SROI ratio down by 13%). When all children's proxies are reduced by 50%, the SROI ratio is reduced by 21%.

When all proxies are reduced by 50% for all stakeholders, the SROI ratio is still positive (2.55) and is also reduced by 50%.

Attribution

Attribution is another parameter that was measured by directly asking the stakeholders at the end of the programme and it is, therefore, based on their subjective assumptions and can be influenced by the respondents' recall bias (Hassan 2005). There are two possible scenarios for these assumptions:

- stakeholders attribute too much change to the programme based on its length and their involvement in it;
- stakeholders attribute too little change to the programme because when the change has already taken place, they think they would have achieved it themselves (Mueller et al 2014).

To test the models for sensitivity to attribution we increased and then reduced the attribution figures for all stakeholders and outcomes by 25% to reflect these two possible scenarios. The 25 per cent adjustment was selected based on nef studies that attempted to measure to what extent the respondents' recall bias (which often concerns attribution) can affect an evaluation.

The results of the testing are presented in the table below.

Item analysed	Best scenario	Worst scenario	Base SROI	SROI best scenario	SROI worst scenario
Attribution, Novgorod school 18	Increased by 25%	Reduced by 25%	6.83	8.53	5.12
Attribution, Ropsha school	Increased by 25%	Reduced by 25%	2.59	3.20	1.92
Attribution, Sobinka school 2	Increased by 25%	Reduced by 25%	5.09	6.36	3.82

Table 31: Sensitivity Analysis - Attribution

Attribution increased by 25% for the three SROI models increases the SROI ratio by 25%, and when it is reduced by 25% the SROI ratio is 25% lower. However, even with attribution reduced by 25% the SROI ratio is positive for all three schools.

Benefit period and annual drop-off rate

The annual drop-off rate and benefit period for this SROI were estimated by asking stakeholders directly. Additional information was obtained by comparing data from Ropsha where the BHP ended about 2 years before the SROI evaluation with Novgorod and Sobinka where it ends in 2015. The drop-off rate was estimated to be 50% during the benefit period of one year (see Section 5.7). Various scenarios for the drop-off rate and presence/absence of benefit period were tested for the three models, and the results are presented in the table below:
Item analysed	Basis of study	Best scenario	Worst scenario	Base SROI	SROI best scenario	SROI worst scenario
Annual drop-off rate and benefit period, Novgorod	50%, 1 year	25%, 1 year	100%, 0 years	6.83	7.56	5.37
Annual drop-off rate and benefit period, Ropsha	50%, 1 year	25%, 1 year	100%, 0 years	2.59	2.7	2.29
Annual drop-off rate and benefit period, Sobinka	50%, 1 year	25%, 1 year	100%, 0 years	5.09	5.57	4.14

Table 32: Sensitivity Analysis - Drop-off and benefit period

If the annual drop-off rate is considered to be 25%, the SROI ratio increases: by 11% in Novgorod school 18, by 6% in Ropsha school, and by 9% in Sobinka school 2.

If the drop-off rate is 100% or the benefit period is 0 years, the SROI ratios decrease respectively: by 21% in Novgorod school 18, by 11% in Ropsha school, and by 19% in Sobinka school 2.

Thus, we can see that Novgorod school 18 SROI model is the most sensitive to benefit period and drop-off rate and Ropsha school SROI model is the least sensitive when these parameters are concerned.

Overall, the SROI ratios in the three school vary:

- between 3.41 and 7.56 in Novgorod school 18;
- between 1.26 and 2.70 in Ropsha school; and
- between 2.55 and 5.57 in Sobinka school 2.

Figures 15-17 below provide a graphic representation of the SROI variation at the three schools.

Figure 15: SROI variation, Novgorod school 18







Figure 17: SROI variation, Sobinka school 2



Other observations from the sensitivity analysis

Other sensitivity analyses aimed at revealing the main components of the social return on investment were as follows:

If the impact on the children was not considered:

- in Novgorod school 18, the SROI would fall to 3.48;
- in Ropsha school, the SROI would fall to 1.59;
- in Sobinka school 2, the SROI would fall to 2.95.

If there was no increase in the children's vitality:

- in Novgorod school 18, the SROI would be 5.82;
- in Ropsha school, the SROI would be 2.02;
- in Sobinka school 2, the SROI would be 4.43.

If the impact on the children alone was measured:

- in Novgorod school 18, the SROI would be 3.34;
- in Ropsha school, the SROI would be 0.98;
- in Sobinka school 2, the SROI would be 2.14.

For the SROI to become equal to 1:

- in Novgorod school 18, we would have to reduce all three proxies by 80% (20% of the values used) and take the drop-off rate to be 100% (or consider a model without a benefit period);
- in Ropsha school we would have to reduce all three stakeholders groups' proxies by 60% (40% of the values used);
- in Sobinka school 2, we would have to reduce all the proxies by 75% (25% of the values used) and consider the drop-off rate to be 100%.

We can, therefore, confidently say that the BHP in has a positive impact at the three schools analysed for this SROI.

This impact might be higher in Novgorod school 18 than in the other locations due to the size of the school and the number of children it managed to involve in the programme during a relatively short period of time (196 children over three years, compared with 87 children over five years in Ropsha and 191 children over five years in Sobinka).

The SROI ratio for Ropsha school, is the lowest, which might be explained by the following factors:

- the size of the school: it is the smallest of the three schools considered in this SROI
- the amount of investment: this school received more funding than the two other schools
- the time of the intervention: the programme here finished about two years ago while it is still running in the two other schools.

Chapter 7 – Discussions and conclusions

7.1 – Main findings

The evidence obtained through this SROI analysis has demonstrated that

- The BHP is an effective intervention from a return-on-investment perspective. At the very least it generates 1.2 times the cost of its implementation for the stakeholders in our analysis. In fact it can create, in social value, up to 7.56 times the value of the investment.
- Most of the value generated is derived by the primary target group, i.e. the schoolchildren, which demonstrates the allocative efficiency of the programme. Furthermore, teachers and parents also benefit substantially from this intervention.
- The value created by the BHP corresponds to its initial goals and design: it generates the highest amount of value by contributing to the increase in vitality experienced by all the stakeholders, which is the primary goal of healthy nutrition and physical activity programmes.

7.2 – Improvements to the programme

This SROI has pointed out some areas for possible development and improvement of the BHP. Though the programme is effective at providing healthy nutrition to children and encouraging them to be more physically active at school, this does not necessarily mean they will do the same at home.

Within this SROI the factors that enable or prevent positive changes for the children were identified and improvements suggested accordingly:

- Schools should be encouraged to involve all pupils in the programme's activities to avoid creating perceived social inequality and to maximise the programme's impact. However, for children older than the current target group, age-specific approaches and methodologies should be developed with the support from MIF.
- Schools should aim to engage parents in the BHP activities or at least ensure their support and approval of the programme so that they can encourage the children to adhere to a healthy lifestyle at home.

Ongoing communication about the programme and engaging the parents at the project planning stage could give them a greater sense of ownership and therefore encourage them to take more responsibility for the programme's success.

Of course, it is impossible to engage all of the parents as many of them are busy at work or have other issues to deal with. However, it would be helpful to form groups of active parents who could perform some trustee functions:

- engage in strategic planning
- help to raise additional funding or in-kind support for the BHP
- assist with organization of events
- help to disseminate important information and messages to the other parents more effectively.
- To reduce the influence of the socio-economic differences BHP could consider some additional form of support for individual low-income families, which might include in-kind support – products, kitchen devices, basic sports equipment).
- Another opportunity to tackle the socio-economic differences within the programme would be to come up
 with a variety of healthy menus for families with various income levels, and to reach out to parents through the
 programme website explaining that there are affordable healthy eating options.
- Web-based technologies could become an effective engagement tool both for the parents and for older schoolchildren: the programme website www.health4schools.ru could be developed and promoted (potentially via social media), which would require additional investment by the Mondelēz foundation.
- Schools could take into account the influences children experience every day and work more with local communities to attract new supporters, disseminate information on healthy lifestyle and nutrition, and sustain the outcomes that have been achieved. This could potentially increase the in-kind investments and volunteer support for the programme.

• In terms of investment, schools need to be provided with ongoing funding to motivate the teachers and maximise the positive effect of the equipment and materials purchased in the first year.

The largest investment should be made in the first year or at the point when a school wants to start a new strand of activities (if that involves the purchase of new equipment). Subsequently full-scale activities could be supported with smaller amounts of funding, while new schools could also be involved in the programme.

The ongoing funding is very important, because otherwise there is a risk that without support the teachers will not use the equipment and skills they gained systemically, as is the case in Ropsha school, where the programme activities did not continue after the project finished. As the programme is currently part of extracurricular activities, in the absence of financial support the teachers tend to switch to other activities that have the potential for extra funding and/or acquisition of new skills and knowledge.

7.3 – Stakeholder engagement in discussion of the SROI findings

The SROI process, findings, conclusions and recommendations presented in this report were communicated to the BHP stakeholders for verification. This was achieved during several stages between May and August 2015 and further activities are planned in this regard.

- 1. The initial findings of the SROI analysis were shared in May 2015. This involved schools that participated in the research and teachers who were involved in the BHP. They were asked to share and discuss the findings with parents and children of appropriate ages (grade 5 and older). The teachers and parents specifically stressed the importance of ongoing funding and future opportunities to involve children from other age groups. This has been included in this report.
- 2. The SROI process and findings were presented to all schools currently involved in the BHP within a workshop in Valdai in June 2015. In particular, they discussed how the findings could be applied in practice to make the BHP more effective in each of the schools.
- 3. The findings and report were presented to the donor of the BHP Mondelēz Foundation in August 2015. The changes to the BHP design based on the SROI results are currently being discussed and planned for the future rounds of the program.

7.4 - Evidencing programme impact

In conducting this research a range of tools were developed that can be used for the future cycles of the BHP to capture the impact on the stakeholders' wellbeing: theories of change, questionnaires, questions for stakeholder engagement, etc.

Some of the outcomes identified and measured in this SROI could feed into the measurement system being developed by the MIF to provide even more compelling evidence of the changes brought about by the BHP. They could also boost the case for supporting similar projects, and possibly for introducing aspects of the programme into school curricula.

These SROI tools can also be used to measure the social return on investments made within the BHP at other schools, or at the same schools if they continue to take part in the programme, in order to evidence changes over time and to increase the evidence for the programme's effectiveness.

Finally, the data collection tools developed for this SROI evaluation could be adjusted and used in other regions where the MIF implements its community partnership programme, enabling it to measure the returns on those other social investments around the world.

7.5 – Limitations of the methodology

Detailed descriptions of the methodological approach have been made throughout this report. However there were some limitations in our approach to data collection.

The indicators used for the analysis were collected from stakeholders by asking subjective questions, and measured across two time points using a retrospective approach.

In respect of subjective measurement, it was necessary to do without baseline data in capturing the change brought about by the programme.

As in the case of BHP the changes for the various stakeholders were personal, attitudinal or intangible social changes, the retrospective pre-test design is justified, as it works best for capturing the participants' perception of changes they experienced (Colosi & Dunifon 2006).

However, this approach includes several threats to validity that should be taken into account:

- Recall bias associated with respondents' inability to accurately recall attitudes and behaviours held in the past
- Social desirability bias related to the need to report change to fit programme expectations
- Effort justification bias that occurs when respondents report improvements to justify the time and energy they invested in the program; and
- **Cognitive dissonance** when participants report improvement to meet their own expectations that they should have changed (Colosi & Dunifon 2006).

These were taken into account when working on the questionnaires for data collection and at the sensitivity analysis stage. The questions were formulated in a way to minimize the opportunity for these biases, and the respondents were asked to answer the questions as honestly as possible.

Given the limited resources, this research developed optimal questions to collect information about the amount of change experienced by the stakeholders.

Another limitation on data collection in this SROI was the absence of a control group and of national or regional data that could have been used as such. The counterfactual information was therefore also obtained from the stakeholders by asking them subjective questions.

This approach has a number of strengths:

- It is less resource-intensive and more convenient than traditional approaches
- It can be applied when there is no control or comparison group data available (Mueller et al. 2014).

This approach can only be used for changes in self-reported personal outcomes, which was the case with the BHP, so it was the best that could be done given the research context.

However, the counterfactual self-estimation is associated with self-estimation bias. As it is not yet known if respondents usually tend to overestimate or underestimate their counterfactual (Mueller et al. 2014), when we did sensitivity testing both scenarios were considered.

The approach used to identify financial proxies for this research also has certain limitations, tending to be very subjective because respondents' answers are often influenced by concerns about social desirability. However, it provided a good way to capture value as perceived by our particular stakeholder groups. This is supported by the fact that the results obtained by implementing the 'choice experiment' at the three locations were more or less consistent.

This was the first SROI evaluation of a social programme implemented in Russia. The best available tools and approaches were used for it in order to ensure the SROI principles are properly observed.

Justifications for non-inclusion of stakeholders in the SROI evaluation

For the **purpose of registration** the manner in which the other stakeholders might have been affected by the BHP are described below. The information collected in the interviews during the stakeholder engagement stage showed that these stakeholders did not experience significant change as a result of the programme.

1. Local communities

Local community members learned more about the importance of a healthy lifestyle and nutritious food through the teachers, parents and children involved in the programme, as well as by taking part in programme events. This could result in more community members having healthier lifestyle habits and making more conscious food choices. However, according to stakeholder engagement data from teachers and parents, this impact was not observed during the programme, and even if it was achieved to some extent, it was not material for the local communities.

For instance, during stakeholder engagement interviews the teachers said that though the BHP influenced both schoolchildren and their parents, they did not observe anything similar in their own families. This might be due to the specific BHP design as it focused on primary schoolchildren in classroom and at school.

2. Local businesses

One of the objectives of the programme was to change families' eating habits, we can expect local retailers selling healthy food to benefit from the programme due to increased sales, and local owners of sports facilities to notice higher levels of attendance. However, according to the stakeholders questioned, these outcomes, even if they were achieved, were not material for them.

Teachers and parents were used as proxies for this stakeholder group and reported no significant changes. The absence of positive impact in this case is explained by the fact that the locations included in this SROI have a limited number of supermarkets and sports shops, and in most cases, even if families switched to healthier food choices, they still went to the same supermarket.

3. Local departments of education

The BHP is beneficial for the local departments of education because it fully corresponds to the current priorities of promoting a healthy lifestyle at schools. When the programme is running in a particular region the local departments tend to report greater progress in this field. However, these stakeholders were not included in the SROI analysis because the positive influence of the programme is not material for them. The local departments of education were contacted by phone for stakeholder engagement, but none of them reported significant changes that could be attributed to the BHP.

However, as this programme would not be able to run in the region without the department's consent and support, the local departments of education were considered a critical factor in enabling or preventing achievement of the programme's goals.

4. Schools in the regions not involved in the BHP

These schools receive information on the programme and have access to programme materials on the website health4schools.ru, so they have the opportunity to incorporate some of the programme's elements into their curriculum. However, it was noted during stakeholder engagement that this was never done without the material incentives for the teachers, so again the programme impact was not considered to be material in this case.

Of the three schools involved in this SROI analysis, two (Ropsha and Sobinka) were rejected by the programme Expert Committee, in their first application. It was very upsetting and their self-esteem and resilience decreased for a while as a result. Thus, the grant competition mechanism used by the programme has an unintended negative effect on schools not involved in the programme. However, the teachers said it was not material and they soon switched to other activities.

Schools' administrative bodies

The schools' administrative bodies involved in the BHP benefit from it by being able to offer more extracurricular activities to pupils and parents, but it became clear during stakeholder engagement that even if there had been no programme the school administration would still have found other opportunities to organise these activities, so the impact was not material.

Representatives of schools' administrative bodies took part in stakeholder engagement interviews at the three schools. They all stressed the importance and benefits of having the programme at their school for the children and parents, but did not report any changes for themselves and the administrative functions they perform.

Cleaners and cooks at the schools

As the schools purchased new equipment and introduced changes in the canteen menus, we might have expected changes (either positive or negative) in the workload for the schools' cleaners and cooks. However, none of these changes were actually reported during the stakeholder engagement stage by the teachers or the school administration who were used as proxies for these stakeholders.

Scripts used in group interviews during stakeholder engagement – Qualitative stage

Evaluation of BHP in _____(Novgorod school 18/Ropsha school/Sobinka school 2)

We need your views!

Thank you for taking an interest in helping us with our research. I work for CAF, the organization that funded the BHP at your school. CAF implements this programme with the financial support of Mondelez International Foundation.

The funders want to understand how BHP has worked, and what the programme has achieved. We want to get a better understanding of your experiences being part of the programme. We will be sharing our findings with other people working at CAF and Mondelez International Foundation.

CAF want to understand how well the programme did or didn't work well so they can improve it, so if you are have both positive and negative things to tell about the programme please do so.

To get a better understanding of this programme I will ask you a series of questions. Our conversation will last 30-40 minutes. Some of the questions may be quite personal, but you will be able to move on to the next question at any time and we will not ask you to share anything you do not wish to.

What you tell me during the discussion may form part of a report. We will make sure your responses are anonymous.

Do you have any questions?

I will give you my contact details at the end of the conversation in case you have any questions once we have finished.

If you are happy to take part, can you please confirm the following by answering 'yes'

I confirm that I understand the purpose of this research and have had the opportunity to ask questions. (Yes/No)

I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time, without giving reason. (Yes/No)

I agree to take part in this study. (Yes/No)

Stakeholder interview questions

Teachers

How long has BHP been operating in _____ (name of the school)?

What is your school trying to achieve from the programme? (AIMS and NEEDS)

- Are you allowed to respond to the children's needs or was it predetermined by CAF?
- What is the impact of this?
- Can you deliver what is needed?

How did the programme work in practice?

- Activities
- Other delivery partners
- Level of engagement with CAF
- Any changes to original scope as a result of children/parent feedback?

What is the level of investment from CAF ? (INPUTS)

• What type of spending? (Prompt: staff, equipment, etc)

What other inputs not funded by CAF have enabled this programme to be delivered successfully (Inputs)

- Time (Prompt: estimation of commitment)
- Donated/purchased assets (Prompt: estimated cost)

Which parts of the programme worked well and what were the reasons for this? (Enablers) (Prompt: internal and external) Which parts of the programme did not work well and what were the reasons for this? (Preventers)

- What intra- and inter-organisational challenges impacted on the project delivery?
- What was the impact of this? (i.e. what did this mean for the children and indirect stakeholders –parents, community)
- What external challenges impacted on the delivery of the project?
- What was the impact of this?

What difference did this programme make to you? (Outcome)

- Prompt: Well-being outcomes vitality, competence, self-esteem, supportive relationships
- Prompt: Unexpected positive and negative outcomes
- Do you think you would have experienced any of the changes without the programme (Prompt: refer back to their stated outcomes)?
- Other than CAF who else (organisations/individuals)has facilitated this change? (Prompt: fellow teachers)
- How long do you think these changes will last after the BHP ends at your school? (Benefit Period)

What difference did this programme make to children? (Outcome)

- Prompt: short term, medium term. long term
- Prompt: Health, concentration, Well-being outcomes autonomy, self-esteem, social development
- Prompt: Unexpected positive and negative outcomes
- Do you think you would have experienced any of the changes without the programme (Prompt: refer back to their stated outcomes)?
- Other than CAF who else (organisations/individuals)has facilitated this change? (Prompt: family)
- How long do you think these changes will last after the BHP ends at your school? (Benefit Period)

What difference did this programme make to parents? (Outcome)

- Prompt: Health and Well-being outcomes self-esteem, supportive relationships, vitality
- Prompt: Unexpected positive and negative outcomes

Do you think you would have experienced any of the changes without the programme (Prompt: refer back to their stated outcomes)?

Other than schools who else (organisations/individuals)has facilitated this change?

How long do you think these changes will last after the BHP ends at your school? (Benefit Period)

Are you aware of any difference this programme has made to the local community or other stakeholders? (Outcome)

- Prompt: Health and Well-being outcomes
- Prompt: Unexpected positive and negative outcomes
- Do you think you would have experienced any of the changes without the programme (Prompt: refer back to their stated outcomes)?
- Who who else (organisations/individuals)has facilitated this change?

What did you like most about the programme? (Project Design/Approach)

How do you think the programme could achieve more? (Prompts: Are the activities boring? More staff training, more engagement with parents or community?) (Project Design/Approach)

Parents

What was your involvement with the programme?

What difference did this programme make to your child? (Outcome)

- Prompt: short term, medium term. long term
- Prompt: Health, concentration, Well-being outcomes competence
- Prompt: Unexpected positive and negative outcomes
- Do you think you would have experienced any of the changes without the programme (Prompt: refer back to their stated outcomes)?
- Other than CAF who else (organisations/individuals)has facilitated this change? (Prompt: family)
- How long do you think these changes will last after the BHP ends at your school? (Benefit Period)

What, if anything, has changed for you as a consequence of your involvement and/or your child's involveent? (Outcome)

- Prompt: Health and Well-being outcomes competence
- Prompt: Unexpected positive and negative outcomes
- Do you think you would have experienced any of the changes without the programme (Prompt: refer back to their stated outcomes)?

- Other than schools who else (organisations/individuals) has facilitated this change?
- What about the programme has enabled these changes to happen?
- How long do you think these changes will last after the BHP ends at your school? (Benefit Period)

Are you aware of any difference this programme has made to others (e.g. neighbours/friends/other family members? (Outcome)

- Prompt: Health and Well-being outcomes competence
- Prompt: Unexpected positive and negative outcomes
- Do you think you would have experienced any of the changes without the programme (Prompt: refer back to their stated outcomes)?
- Who else (organisations/individuals)has facilitated this change?
- How long do you think these changes will last after the BHP ends at your school? (Benefit Period)

What did you like most about the programme? (Project Design/Approach)

How do you think the programme could achieve more? (Prompts: Are the activities boring? More staff training, more engagement with parents or community?) (Project Design/Approach)

Children

What was your involvement with the programme?

What did you like most about the programme? (Project Design/Approach)

What difference did this programme make to you? (Outcome)

- Prompt: Health, concentration, Well-being outcomes competence
- Prompt: Unexpected positive and negative outcomes
- Do you think you would have experienced any of the changes without the programme (Prompt: refer back to their stated outcomes)?
- Other than the school who else (organisations/individuals)has facilitated the changes? (Prompt: family)
- How long do you think these changes will last after the BHP ends at your school? (Benefit Period)

Are you aware of any difference this programme has made to others (e.g. other family members, friends in other schools? (Outcome)

- Prompt: Health and Well-being outcomes competence
- Prompt: Unexpected positive and negative outcomes
- Do you think you would have experienced any of the changes without the programme (Prompt: refer back to their stated outcomes)?
- Who else (organisations/individuals) has facilitated this change?

How do you think the programme could achieve more? (Prompts: Are the activities boring? More staff training, more engagement with parents or community?) (Project Design/Approach)

Theory of Change for the SROI

Figure 18. An overview of the Theory of Change for the SROI approach by nef consulting



Theory of change for the BHP

Figure 19. Theory of Change for the BeHealthy Programme



Questionnaires by stakeholder – Quantitative stage

Children involved in the BHP

Children in the projects	School: Sobinka 2/ Ropsha/ School no 18, Novgoi	rod		
Hello! As you know, your sc "Be Healthy!" Programme i Your answers will help us ur children involved.	hool has been taking part in "Be Healthy!" program in 2008-2012. We would like to know more about t nderstand the positive and negative aspects of the	nme since 2010/2 he changes that H programme and	2012 OR took part in happened as a result. improve it for any new	
It will take you up to 20 mi participation in the Program	inutes to fill in the questionnaire below. You will nee mme and after. Please complete it as honestly as p	ed to recall your lif	fe before your	
This is not a knowledge che answers will be used for res	eck. There are no correct or incorrect answers. Your search purposes only. We promise we won't share ye	responses are and our answers with d	onymous, and your anyone else.	
Do you agree to take part i	in this research? (please mark as appropriate)	Yes	No	
First, tell us a little bit abou	ıt yourself:			
1. How old are you?				
2. What grade are you in?				
3. You are (circle as approp	vriate) a boy a girl			
4. What grade were you in	when you started to take part in the programme?			
The statements below relative we will want to know the ch	te to three thematic areas – vitality, relationships, r. hange that happened (or did not happen) followin	esponsibility and g your involvemer	self-esteem. For each nt in the programme.	
For example, if previously you were not very active but following involvement in the Be Healthy Programme, took up a sport or began exercising at home regularly, you will answer that your level of physical activity increased a lot. Alternatively, if you were previously not very active but later started to play active games from time to time during breaks or after school, you will say that your physical activity increased a little. Also, if you think there was a decrease or no change at all for any of the changes described below, please select the appropriate answer.				
We will also ask questions t	to understand what your vitality, relationships, resp	onsibility and self	f-esteem would have	

We will also ask questions to understand what your vitality, relationships, responsibility and self-esteem would have been like in the absence of the programme. Finally, we will ask about who has helped bring about this change and the extent to which they have helped.

A. Vitality

Physical activity

Tick the box next to the response that best describes your experience:

5a. Since becoming involved in the Be Healthy Programme, my level of physical activity has...

decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot	
5b. Imagine now that you were never involved in the Be Healthy Programme. Over the same period, what would you					
expect your leve	l of physical activity to	be like?			

decree	ased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot

5c. Changes you experience will be due to a combination of choices you made and the influence of others e.g. the Be Healthy Programme or your parent's encouragement. We want to understand the influence of others on your level of physical activity.

Let's imagine you have 10 apples to distribute to reflect their contribution. Please allocate the apples across the following individuals/organisations. Remember, the one who gets the most apples is the one that influenced you the most.



- Your family: _____ apple(s)
- Your friends: _____ apple(s)
- The clubs you attend: _____ apple(s)
- Be Healthy Programme: _____ apple(s)
- Other activities at your school: ____apple(s)
- Your teacher(s) : _____ apple(s)
- Other (pls. specify):
- apple(s)

B. Responsibility

6a. Since I became involved with the Be Healthy Programme, my responsibility for myself and my family (e.g. offering to cook for my family, do the household chores, get ready for classes without being reminded by my parents) has...

decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot

6b. Imagine now that you were never involved in the Be Healthy Programme. Over the same period, what would you expect your level of physical activity to be like?

decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot

6c. Changes you experience will be due to a combination of choices you made and the influence of others e.g. the Be Healthy Programme or your parent's encouragement. We want to understand the influence of others on your level of responsibility.

Let's imagine you have 10 apples to distribute to reflect their contribution. Please allocate the apples across the following individuals/organisations. Remember, the one who gets the most apples is the one that influenced you the most.



- Your family: _____ apple(s)
- Your friends: _____ apple(s)
- The clubs you attend: _____ apple(s)
- Be Healthy Programme: _____ apple(s)
- Other activities at your school: _____apple(s)
- Your teacher(s) : _____ apple(s)
- Other (pls. specify):
- apple(s)

Teachers

Tick the box next to the response that best describes your experience:

7a. Since becoming involved in Be Healthy Programme, the quality of my relationships with the teacher(s) involved in the Programme is...



7b. Imagine now that you were never involved in the Be Healthy programme. Over the same period, do you think your relations with the teacher(s) involved in the Programme would change and in what direction?



7c. Changes you experience will be due to a combination of choices you made and the influence of others e.g. the Be Healthy Programme or your teachers. We want to understand the influence of others on your relationships with the teacher(s).

Let's imagine you have 10 apples to distribute to reflect their contribution. Please allocate the apples across the following individuals/organisations. Remember, the one who gets the most apples is the one that influenced you the most.



- Your family: _____ apple(s)
- Your friends: _____ apple(s)
- The clubs you attend: _____ apple(s)
- Be Healthy Programme: _____ apple(s)
- Other activities at your school: ____apple(s)
- Your teacher(s) : _____ apple(s)
- Other (pls. specify):
- apple(s)

Parents

Tick the box next to the response that best describes your experience:

8a. Below we want to know about both the amount of time and quality of time spent with your parents.

Since becoming involved in Be Healthy Programme, the amount of time I spend with my parents has

decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot

8b. Imagine now that you were never involved in the Be Healthy programme.

Over the same period, do you think the amount of time you spend with your parents would change and in what direction?



Over the same period, do you think the quality of time you spend with your parents would change and in what direction?

much worse	much worse	no change	a little better	much better

8c. Changes you experience will be due to a combination of choices you made and the influence of others e.g. the Be Healthy Programme or your parent's encouragement. We want to understand the influence of others on your relationships with parents.

Let's imagine you have 10 apples to distribute to reflect their contribution. Please allocate the apples across the following individuals/organisations. Remember, the one who gets the most apples is the one that influenced you the most.

The ten apples are drawn below to make the task easier.



- Your family: _____ apple(s)
- Your friends: _____ apple(s)
- The clubs you attend: _____ apple(s)
- Be Healthy Programme: _____ apple(s)
- Other activities at your school: ____apple(s)
- Your teacher(s) : _____ apple(s)
- Other (pls. specify):

_____: ____apple(s)

Schoolmates

9a. Since becoming involved in Be Healthy Programme, the quality of my relations with my schoolmates is...

much worse	much worse	no change	a little better	much better

9b. Imagine now that you were never involved in the Be Healthy programme. Over the same period, do you think your relations with schoolmates would change and in what direction?



9c. Changes you experience will be due to a combination of choices you made and the influence of others e.g. the Be Healthy Programme or your parent's encouragement. We want to understand the influence of others on your relationships with parents.

Let's imagine you have 10 apples to distribute to reflect their contribution. Please allocate the apples across the following individuals/organisations. Remember, the one who gets the most apples is the one that influenced you the most.

The ten apples are drawn below to make the task easier.



- Your family: _____ apple(s)
- Your friends: _____ apple(s)
- The clubs you attend: _____ apple(s)
- Be Healthy Programme: _____ apple(s)
- Other activities at your school: _____apple(s)
- Your teacher(s) : _____ apple(s)
- Other (pls. specify):

_____: _____apple(s)

C. Self-esteem

Tick the box next to the response that best describes your experience:

10a. Since becoming involved in Be Healthy Programme, my self-esteem (i.e. how positive I feel about myself and how much I like myself) has...

decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot

10b. Imagine now that you were never involved in the Be Healthy programme. Over the same period, do you think your self-esteem would change and in what direction?

decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot

10c. Changes you experience will be due to a combination of choices you made and the influence of others e.g. the Be Healthy Programme or your parent's encouragement. We want to understand the influence of others on your self-esteem.

Children not directly involved in the BHP

Children not directly involved in the programme	School: Sobinka 2/ Ropsha/ School no 18, Novgorod
---	---

Hello! As you know, your school has been taking part in "Be Healthy!" programme since 2010/2012 OR took part in "Be Healthy!" Programme in 2008-2012. We would like to know more about the changes that happened as a result. Your answers will help us understand the positive and negative aspects of the programme and improve it for any new children involved.

It will take you up to 20 minutes to fill in the questionnaire below. You will need to recall your life before your participation in the Programme and after. Please complete it as honestly as possible.

This is not a knowledge check. There are no correct or incorrect answers. Your responses are anonymous, and your answers will be used for research purposes only. We promise we won't share your answers with anyone else.

Do you agree to take par	t in this research?	(please mark	as appropriate)	Yes	No
		(prede e main		100	110

First, tell us a little bit about yourself:

1. How old are you? ____

2.	What	arade	are	vou	in?
		J		J · · ·	

3. You are (circle as appropriate) a boy a girl

4. What grade were you in when you started to take part in the programme?

The statements below relate to three thematic areas – vitality, relationships, responsibility and self-esteem. For each we will want to know the change that happened (or did not happen) following your involvement in the programme.

For example, if previously you were not very active but following involvement in the Be Healthy Programme, took up a sport or began exercising at home regularly, you will answer that your level of physical activity increased a lot. Alternatively, if you were previously not very active but later started to play active games from time to time during breaks or after school, you will say that your physical activity increased a little. Also, if you think there was a decrease or no change at all for any of the changes described below, please select the appropriate answer.

We will also ask questions to understand what your vitality, relationships, responsibility and self-esteem would have been like in the absence of the programme. Finally, we will ask about who has helped bring about this change and the extent to which they have helped.

A. Vitality

Physical activity

Tick the box next to the response that best describes your experience:

5a. Since becoming involved in the Be Healthy Programme, my level of physical activity has...

decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot		
5b. Imagine now that you were never involved in the Be Healthy Programme. Over the same period, what would you expect your level of physical activity to be like?						
decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot		

5c. Changes you experience will be due to a combination of choices you made and the influence of others e.g. the Be Healthy Programme or your parent's encouragement. We want to understand the influence of others on your level of physical activity.

Let's imagine you have 10 apples to distribute to reflect their contribution. Please allocate the apples across the following individuals/organisations. Remember, the one who gets the most apples is the one that influenced you the most.



- Your family: _____ apple(s)
- Your friends: _____ apple(s)
- The clubs you attend: _____ apple(s)
- Be Healthy Programme: _____ apple(s)
- Other activities at your school: ____apple(s)
- Your teacher(s) : _____ apple(s)
- Other (pls. specify):
- apple(s)

B. Relationships

Teachers

Tick the box next to the response that best describes your experience:

6a. Since my school became involved in the Programme, the quality of my relationships with the teacher(s) involved in the Programme is...

much worse	much worse	no change	a little better	much better

6b. Imagine now that your school was never involved in the Be Healthy programme. Over the same period, do you think your relations with the teacher(s) involved in the Programme would change and in what direction?

much worse	much worse	no change	a little better	much better

6c. Changes you experience will be due to a combination of choices you made and the influence of others e.g. the Be Healthy Programme or your parent's encouragement. We want to understand the influence of others on your level of physical activity.

Let's imagine you have 10 apples to distribute to reflect their contribution. Please allocate the apples across the following individuals/organisations. Remember, the one who gets the most apples is the one that influenced you the most.

The ten apples are drawn below to make the task easier.



- Your family: _____ apple(s)
- Your friends: _____ apple(s)
- The clubs you attend: _____ apple(s)
- Be Healthy Programme: _____ apple(s)
- Other activities at your school: _____apple(s)
- Your teacher(s) : _____ apple(s)
- Other (pls. specify):
- _____: ____ apple(s)

Schoolmates

Tick the box next to the response that best describes your experience:

7a. Since my school became involved in Be Healthy Programme, the quality of my relationships with my schoolmates is...

much worse	much worse	no change	a little better	much better

7b. Imagine now that your school was never involved in the Be Healthy programme. Over the same period, do you think your relations with schoolmates would change and in what direction?

much worse	much worse	no change	a little better	much better

7c. Changes you experience will be due to a combination of choices you made and the influence of others e.g. the

Be Healthy Programme or your parent's encouragement. We want to understand the influence of others on your relationship with schoolmates.

Let's imagine you have 10 apples to distribute to reflect their contribution. Please allocate the apples across the following individuals/organisations. Remember, the one who gets the most apples is the one that influenced you the most.

The ten apples are drawn below to make the task easier.



- Your family: _____ apple(s)
- Your friends: _____ apple(s)
- The clubs you attend: _____ apple(s)
- Be Healthy Programme: _____ apple(s)
- Other activities at your school: _____apple(s)
- Your teacher(s) : _____ apple(s)
- Other (pls. specify):
- apple(s)

C. Self-esteem

Tick the box next to the response that best describes your experience:

8a. Since my school became involved in Be Healthy Programme, my self-esteem (i.e. how positive I feel about myself and how much I like myself) has...

decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot

8b. Imagine now that your school was never involved in the Be Healthy programme. Over the same period, do you think your self-esteem would change and in what direction?

decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot

8c. Changes you experience will be due to a combination of choices you made and the influence of others e.g. the Be Healthy Programme or your parent's encouragement. We want to understand the influence of others on your selfesteem.

Let's imagine you have 10 apples to distribute to reflect their contribution. Please allocate the apples across the following individuals/organisations. Remember, the one who gets the most apples is the one that influenced you the most.

The ten apples are drawn below to make the task easier.

- Your family: _____ apple(s)
- Your friends: _____ apple(s)
- The clubs you attend: _____ apple(s)
- Be Healthy Programme: _____ apple(s)
- Other activities at your school: ____apple(s)
- Your teacher(s) : _____ apple(s)
- Other (pls. specify):
- apple(s)

Parents of children involved in the BHP

Parents	School: Sobinka 2/ Ropsha/ School no 18, Novgorod					
Dear participant! As you know, your child's school has been taking part in "Be Healthy!" programme since 2010						
(Sobinka)/2012(Novgorod) OR took part in "Be Healthy!" Programme in 2008-2012 (Ropsha). We would like to know						
more about the changes that happened as a result. Your answers will help us understand the positive and negative						
aspects of the programme and improve it for any new children involved.						

It will take you up to 10 minutes to fill in the questionnaire below. You will need to recall your life before your participation in the Programme and after. Please complete it as honestly as possible.

This is not a knowledge check. There are no correct or incorrect answers. Your responses are anonymous, and your answers will be used for research purposes only. We promise we will not share your answers with anyone else.

Do you agree to take part in this research? (please, mark as appropriate)

No

Yes

1. Tell us about your child(ren):

	Gender	Age	Grade	Took part in the Programme (Y/N)	Grade they were in when the Programme started
Child 1					
Child 2					
Child 3					

Please fill in Section 2 of this questionnaire for every child that took part in Be Healthy programme

The statements below relate to three thematic areas – vitality, relationships and self-esteem. For each we will want to know the change that happened (or did not happen) following your involvement in the programme.

We will ask you about the amount of change. E.g. if you were not very physically active but after your child's involvement in the Be Healthy Programme you took up a sport or began to exercise at home regularly, you will answer that your level of physical activity increased a lot. However, if you were not very active but now play active games or do some sports from time to time you will say that your activity increased a little. Also, if you think there was a decrease or no change at all for any of the changes described below, please select the appropriate answer.

We will also ask questions to understand what your and your child(ren)'s vitality, relationships and self-esteem would have been like in the absence of the programme. Finally, we will ask about who has helped bring about this change and the extent to which they have helped.

Section 1 Your own experience

A. Vitality

Physical activity

Tick the box next to the response that best describes your experience:

2a. Since my child became involved in Be Healthy Programme, my level of physical activity has ...

decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot	

2b. Imagine now that your child was never involved in the Be Healthy programme. Over the same period, what would you expect your level of physical activity to be like?

decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot

2c. Changes you experience will be due to a combination of choices you made and the influence of others. Please, indicate how much in percent (out of 100%) the change in your physical activity was influenced by the following factors. If you think there was no influence leave a blank space or put a zero.

Your family: _____ %

Your friends and colleagues: _____%

The clubs you attend/your hobbies: _____%

Be Healthy Programme: ______%

Other programmes and projects: ____%

Other (please, specify): ______: ____%

Energy levels

3a. Since my child became involved in the Programme, my energy levels have...

decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot

3b. Imagine now that your child did not become involved in the Be Healthy programme. Over the same period, what would you expect your energy levels to be?

decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot

3c. Changes you experience will be due to a combination of choices you made and the influence of others. Please, indicate how much in percent (out of 100%) the change in your energy levels was influenced by the following factors. If you think there was no influence leave a blank space or put a zero.

Your family: _____ %

Your friends and colleagues: _____%

The clubs you attend/your hobbies: _____%

Be Healthy Programme: ______%

Other programmes and projects: _____%

Other (please, specify): _____: ____%

B. Relations

Your child

4a. Here we will ask you about the quality and quantity of time you spend with your child(ren)

Since my child became involved in the Programme, the amount of time I spend with my child during the week has ...

decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot				
Since my child became involved in the Programme, the quality of time I spend with my child during the week h								
decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot				
4b. Imagine now the	at your child was never	involved in the Be	e Healthy programme.	1	1			
Over the same perio what direction?	d, would you expect th	e amount of time	e you spend with your o	child during the week	to change and in			
decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot				
Over the same perio what direction?	d, would you expect th	e quality of time	you spend with your ch	nild during the week	to change and in			
decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot				
4c. Changes you exp indicate how much i influenced by the fo	berience will be due to in percent (out of 100% llowing factors. If you t	a combination of 6) the change in t hink there was nc	choices you made and he amount and quality) influence leave a blar	l the influence of oth y of time you spend v k space or put a zerc	ners. Please, with your child was o.			
Your family:	_ %							
Your friends and coll	leagues:%							
The clubs you attend	d/your hobbies:	%						
Be Healthy Program	Be Healthy Programme: %							
Other programmes and projects:%								
Other (please, specify)::%								
5a. Since my child became involved in the Programme my relations with my child have become								
much worse	much worse	no change	a little better	much better				

5b. Imagine now that your child was never involved in the Be Healthy programme. Over the same period, would you expect your relations with your child to change and in what direction?

much worse	much worse	no change	a little better	much better

5c. Changes you experience will be due to a combination of choices you made and the influence of others. Please, indicate how much in percent (out of 100%) the change in your relations with your child were influenced by the following factors. If you think there was no influence leave a blank space or put a zero.

Your family:%	
Your friends and colleagues:%	
The clubs you attend/your hobbies:%	
Be Healthy Programme: %	
Other programmes and projects:%	
Other (please, specify):::	%

Teachers and the school

6a. Since commencement of this Programme, my relationships with teacher(s) involved in the Programme have become...

much worse	much worse	no change	a little better	much better

Since commencement of the Programme, my satisfaction with my child's school has...

decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot

Since commencement of the Programme, the number of positive comments I make about my child's school to friends, family and colleagues has...

decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot

6b. Imagine now that your child was never involved in the Be Healthy programme. Over the same period,

Would you expect your relations with your child's teacher(s) involved in the programme to change and in what direction?

much worse	much worse	no change	a little better	much better

Would you expect the level of your satisfaction with your child's school to change and in what direction?

decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot

Would you expect the number of positive comments you make about your child's school to friends, family and colleagues to change and in what direction?

decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot

6c. Changes you experience will be due to a combination of choices you made and the influence of others. Please, indicate how much in percent (out of 100%) the change in your relations with your child(ren)'s teacher and your satisfaction with the school was influenced by the following factors. If you think there was no influence leave a blank space or put a zero.

Your family: %	
Your friends and colleagues:%	
The clubs you attend/your hobbies:%	
Be Healthy Programme: %	
Other programmes and projects:%	
Other (please, specify):::	%

C. Self-esteem

7a. Since commencement of the Programme, my self-esteem has...

decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot

7b. Imagine now that your child was never involved in the Be Healthy programme. Over the same period, would you expect your self-esteem to change and in what direction?

decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot

7c. Changes you experience will be due to a combination of choices you made and the influence of others. Please, indicate how much in percent (out of 100%) the change in your self-esteem was influenced by the following factors. If you think there was no influence leave a blank space or put a zero.

Your family: _____ %

Your friends and colleagues: _____%

The clubs you attend/your hobbies: _____%

Be Healthy Programme: ______ %

Other programmes and projects: _____%

Other (please, specify): _____: ____%

Now, tell us a little bit about yourself and your family:

8. Your gender (pls. mark as appropriate) Male Female

9. What is your family's average monthly income?

Less than RUB 5 000 per person

RUB 5,000 – 10,000 per person

____ RUB 10,000 – 15,000 per person

____ Over RUB 15,000 per person

10 Did you buy any kitchen appliances to cook healthy food or equipment for sports games and activities for your child during the Programme?

yes (please, list the items you bought and their approximate price in roubles below)

Section 2. Tell us about the changes you may have noticed in your child (1)

Child 1 Gender_____ Age_____ Grade_____

A. Vitality

Physical activity

Tick the box next to the response that best describes your experience:

12a. Since my child became involved in the Programme, his/her energy levels have ...

decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot

12b. Imagine now that your child was never involved in the Be Healthy programme. Over the same period, would you expect their energy levels to change and in what direction?

decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot

12c. Changes your child experiences will be due to a combination of choices they made and the influence of others. Please, indicate how much in percent (out of 100%) the change in your child's energy levels were influenced by the following factors. If you think there was no influence leave a blank space or put a zero.

Your family: _____ %

Their friends and schoolmates: _____%

The clubs they attend/your hobbies: _____%

Be Healthy Programme: ______%

Other programmes and projects: _____%

Other (please, specify): _____: ____%

13a. Since my child became involved in the Programme, his/her physical activity has...

decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot

13b. Imagine now that your child was never involved in the Be Healthy programme. Over the same period, what would you expect their physical activity to be?

decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot

13c. Changes your child experiences will be due to a combination of choices they made and the influence of others. Please, indicate how much in percent (out of 100%) the change in your child's physical activity was influenced by the following factors. If you think there was no influence leave a blank space or put a zero.

Your family:	%
--------------	---

Their friends and schoolmates: _____%

The clubs they attend/your hobbies: _____%

Be Healthy Program	ıme: %
--------------------	--------

Other programmes and projects: _____%

Other (please, specify): ______ %

Autonomy

14a. Since commencement of the Programme, I find my child's ability to cook for themselves, help about the house and self-organise (autonomy) has....

decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot

14b. Imagine now that your child was never involved in the Be Healthy programme. Over the same period, would you expect their autonomy to change and in what direction ?

14c. Changes your child experiences will be due to a combination of choices they made and the influence of others. Please, indicate how much in percent (out of 100%) the change in your child's autonomy was influenced by the following factors. If you think there was no influence leave a blank space or put a zero.

Your family: ______ % Their friends and schoolmates: _____% The clubs they attend/your hobbies: _____% Be Healthy Programme: ______ % Other programmes and projects: _____% Other (please, specify): ______ : ____ %

B. Self-esteem

15a. Since commencement of the Programme, the extent to which my child feels positive about themselves (their selfesteem) has ...

decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot			
15b. Imagine now expect their se	that your child was ne elf-esteem to change a	ver involved in the nd in what directi	e Be Healthy programn on?	ne. Over the same pe	eriod, would you		
decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot			
15c. Changes your Please, indicat following facto	15c. Changes your child experiences will be due to a combination of choices they made and the influence of others. Please, indicate how much in percent (out of 100%) the change in your child's self- esteem was influenced by the following factors. If you think there was no influence leave a blank space or put a zero.						
Their friends and set							
Their menas and scr	100imates:%	<i></i>					
The clubs they atter	d/your hobbies:	_%					
Be Healthy Program	me: %						
Other programmes and projects:%							
Other (please, specif	y):	_: %					
If you have other ch	ildren who took part in	Be Healthy Progr	amme, please, fill in ar	other Section(s) 2 b	elow for them.		

Thank you very much for sharing your thoughts!

Teachers directly involved in the programme

Teachers directly involved in the programme	School: Sobinka 2/ Ropsha/ School no 18, Novgorod				
Dear colleague!					
As you know, your school has been taking part in "Be took part in "Be Healthy!" Programme in 2008-2012 happened as a result. Your answers will help us unde improve it for any new children involved.	e Healthy!" programme since 2010 (Sobinka)/2012(Novg ? (Ropsha). We would like to know more about the change erstand the positive and negative aspects of the programme	orod) OR es that me and			
It will take you up to 10 minutes to fill in the questio participation in the Programme and after. Please co	nnaire below. You will need to recall your life before your mplete it as honestly as possible.				
This is not a knowledge check. There are no correct a answers will be used for research purposes only. We	pr incorrect answers. Your responses are anonymous, and promise we won't share your answers with anyone else.	your			
Do you agree to take part in this research? (please, r	nark as appropriate) 🔄 Yes 🔄 No				
1.How long have you been working on Be Healthy P	rogramme?years				
The statements below relate to four thematic areas – vitality, relationships, self-esteem and positive functioning. For each we will want to know the change that happened (or did not happen) following your involvement in the programme.					
We will ask you about the amount of change. E.g. if the Be Healthy Programme you took up a sport or be of physical activity increased a lot. However, if you w from time to time you will say that your activity incr at all for any of the changes described below, please	you were not very physically active but after your involver egan to exercise at home regularly, you will answer that yo vere not very active but now play active games or do some eased a little. Also, if you think there was a decrease or no e select the appropriate answer.	nent in our level e sports o change			
We will also ask questions to understand what your have been like in the absence of the programme. Fir the extent to which they have helped.	vitality, relationships, self-esteem and positive functioning nally, we will ask about who has helped bring about this ch	j would 1ange and			

A. Vitality

Physical activity

Tick the box for the response that best describes your experience:

2a. Since I started to work on the Programme, my level of physical activity has ...

decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot

2b. Imagine now that your school was never involved in the Be Healthy Programme. Over the same period, what would you expect your level of physical activity to be like?



- 2c. Changes you experience will be due to a combination of choices you made and the influence of others. Please, indicate how much in percent (out of 100%) the change in your physical activity was influenced by the following factors. If you think there was no influence leave a blank space or put a zero.
- Your family: _____ %

Your friends and colleagues: _____%

The clubs they attend/your hobbies: _____%

Be Healthy Programme: ______%

Other activities at your school: _____%

Other (please, specify): _____: ____%

Energy levels

3a. Since I started to work on the Programme, at home, my energy levels have...



3b. Imagine now that your school was never involved in the Be Healthy programme. Over the same period, do you think your energy levels would change and in what direction?



3c. Changes you experience will be due to a combination of choices you made and the influence of others. Please, indicate how much in percent (out of 100%) the change in your energy levels was influenced by the following factors. If you think there was no influence leave a blank space or put a zero.

Your family: %	
Your friends and colleagues:%	
The clubs they attend/your hobbies:%	
Be Healthy Programme: %	
Other activities at your school:%	
Other (please, specify)::%)

B. Relationships

Your pupils

Below we ask questions about your relations with pupils who were targeted by the Programme and also those who were not.

4a. Since I started to work on the Programme my relations with pupils who are the target group for the Programme have become...

much worse	much worse	no change	a little better	much better

Since I started to work on the Programme my relations with the pupils who are not the target group of the Programme have become...

much worse	much worsemuch worse		a little better	much better

4b. Imagine now that your school was never involved in the Be Healthy Programme.

Over the same period, do you think your relations with the children who are the target group for the Programme would change and in what direction?

much worse	much worsemuch worse		a little better	much better

Over the same period, do you think your relations with the children who are not the target group for the Programme would change and in what direction?

much worse	much worse	no change	a little better	much better

4c. Changes you experience will be due to a combination of choices you made and the influence of others. Please, indicate how much in percent (out of 100%) the change in your relations with your pupils was influenced by the following factors. If you think there was no influence leave a blank space or put a zero.

Your family: _____ %

Your friends and colleagues: _____%

The clubs they attend/your hobbies: _____%

- Be Healthy Programme: ______%
- Other activities at your school: _____%
- Other (please, specify): _____: ____%

Parents

5a. Since I started to work on the Programme, my relationships with the parents of pupils targeted by the Programme have become...

much worse	much worse	no change	a little better	much better			
5b. Imagine now th direction do you	5b. Imagine now that your school was never involved in the Be Healthy Programme. Over the same period, in what direction do you expect your relationships with these parents to change?						
much worse	much worse	no change	a little better	much better			
 5c. Changes you experience will be due to a combination of choices you made and the influence of others. Please, indicate how much in percent (out of 100%) the change in your relations with the parents was influenced by the following factors. If you think there was no influence leave a blank space or put a zero. Your family:% 							
Your friends and coll	eagues:%						
The clubs they atten	d/your hobbies:	%					
Be Healthy Program	me: %						
Other activities at yo	our school:%						
Other (please, specif	y):	_: %					
Colleagues							
6a. Since I started to	work on the Program	me, my relations v	vith my colleagues invo	olved in the Program	me have become		
much worse	much worse	no change	a little better	much better			
6b. Imagine now that your school was never involved in the Be Healthy Programme. Over the same period, would you expect your relations with your colleagues involved in the Programme to change and in what direction?							
much worse	much worse	no change	a little better	much better			
 6c. Changes you experience will be due to a combination of choices you made and the influence of others. Please, indicate how much in percent (out of 100%) the change in your relations with colleagues was influenced by the following factors. If you think there was no influence leave a blank space or put a zero. Your family:% 							
Your friends and colleagues:%							
The clubs they attend/your hobbies:%							
Be Healthy Program	Be Healthy Programme:%						
Other activities at yo	our school:%						
Other (please, specif	Other (please, specify)::%						
C. Self-esteem

7a. Since I started to work on the Programme, my self-esteem has...

decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot				
7b. Imagine now that your school was never involved in the Be Healthy programme. Over the same period, would you expect your self-esteem to change and in what direction?								
decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot				
7c. Changes you experience will be due to a combination of choices you made and the influence of others. Please, indicate how much in percent (out of 100%) the change in your self-esteem was influenced by the following factors. If you think there was no influence leave a blank space or put a zero.								
Your family:	_ %							
Your friends and sch	oolmates:%							
The clubs you attend/your hobbies:%								
Be Healthy Programme: %								
Other programmes and projects:%								
Other (please, specif	Other (please, specify)::%							

D. Positive functioning

Autonomy

8a. Since I started to work on the Programme, my ability to use activity-based learning approach and apply it in my job...

decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot

8b. Imagine now that your school was never involved in the Be Healthy programme. Over the same period, would you expect your ability to use activity-based learning approach and apply it in your job to change and in what direction?

decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot	

8c. Changes you experience will be due to a combination of choices you made and the influence of others. Please, indicate how much in percent (out of 100%) the change in your autonomy was influenced by the following factors. If you think there was no influence leave a blank space or put a zero.

Your family: _____ %

Your friends and colleagues: _____%

The clubs you attend/your hobbies: _____%

Be Healthy Programme: ______%

Other activities at your school: _____%

Other	(please,	specif	y):				%	
-------	----------	--------	-----	--	--	--	---	--

Meaning and purpose

9a. Since I started to work on the Programme, my perception of the intrinsic value of the teaching profession has...

decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot	riad would you			
expect your perc	ception of the intrinsic	value of the teach	ning profession to char	nge and in what direc	tion?			
decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot				
9c. Changes you exp indicate how mu profession was in zero.	9c. Changes you experience will be due to a combination of choices you made and the influence of others. Please, indicate how much in percent (out of 100%) the change in your perception of intrinsic value of the teaching profession was influenced by the following factors. If you think there was no influence leave a blank space or put a zero.							
Your family:	_ %							
Your friends and coll	eagues:%							
The clubs you attend	d/your hobbies:9	6						
Be Healthy Program	me: %							
Other activities at yo	our school:%							
Other (please, specif	y):	_: %						
Now tell us a little	e about yourself:							
10. Your gender (pls	. mark as appropriate)	Male Fe	emale					
Tell us how Be Healt	hy Programme was fun	ided in your schoo	bl					
11. Did the Program consultations pr	ime in your school rece ovided by CAF ? Pls. spi	ive any additiona ecify.	l support besides the f	unding, training, mat	erials and			
Yes (pls. mark	as appropriate)							
Financial s	support (co-funding for	your project from	n other sources)	(amo	ount in RUB)			
Volunteer support (e.g. volunteers delivering classes on healthy nutrition)(approx. amount of hours)								
In-kind support (any equipment/materials provided for the school by the parents, project partners, etc.)								
(pls. describe and provide the approximate cost of such support in RUB)								
No								
Thank you very muc	h for sharing your thou	ghts!						

Teachers not directly involved in the programme

Teachers not directly involved in the Programme	School: Sobinka 2/ Ropsha/ School no 18, Novgorod						
Dear colleague!	Dear colleague!						
As you know, your school has been taking part in "Be Healthy!" programme since 2010 (Sobinka)/2012(Novgorod) OR took part in "Be Healthy!" Programme in 2008-2012 (Ropsha). We would like to know more about the changes that happened as a result. Your answers will help us understand the positive and negative aspects of the programme and improve it for any new children involved.							
It will take you up to 10 minutes to fill in the questi participation in the Programme and after. Please c	tionnaire below. You will need to recall your life before your complete it as honestly as possible.						
This is not a knowledge check. There are no correct answers will be used for research purposes only. We	t or incorrect answers. Your responses are anonymous, and your 'e promise we won't share your answers with anyone else.						
Do you agree to take part in this research? (please,	e, mark as appropriate) Yes No						
How long have you been involved in Be Healthy Pro	rogramme?years						
The statements below relate to four thematic area For each we will want to know the change that hap programme.	The statements below relate to four thematic areas – vitality, relationships, self-esteem and positive functioning. For each we will want to know the change that happened (or did not happen) following your involvement in the programme.						
We will ask you about the amount of change. E.g. i the Be Healthy Programme you took up a sport or of physical activity increased a lot. However, if you from time to time you will say that your activity inc at all for any of the changes described below, pleas	We will ask you about the amount of change. E.g. if you were not very physically active but after your involvement in the Be Healthy Programme you took up a sport or began to exercise at home regularly, you will answer that your level of physical activity increased a lot. However, if you were not very active but now play active games or do some sports from time to time you will say that your activity increased a little. Also, if you think there was a decrease or no change at all for any of the changes described below, please select the appropriate answer.						
We will also ask questions to understand what you have been like in the absence of the programme. F the extent to which they have helped.	ır vitality, relationships, self-esteem and positive functioning would Finally, we will ask about who has helped bring about this change and						
A. Vitality							
Physical activity Tick the box next to the response that best describe	es your experience:						
decreased a lotdecreased a little no ch	hangeincreased a littleincreased a lot						
2b. I magine now that your school was never involved in the Be Healthy Programme. Over the same period, what would you expect your level of physical activity to be like?							
2c. Changes you experience will be due to a combination of choices you made and the influence of others. Please, indicate how much in percent (out of 100%) the change in your physical activity was influenced by the following factors. If you think there was no influence leave a blank space or put a zero.							
Your family: %							
Your friends and colleagues:%	Your friends and colleagues:%						

The clubs you attend/your hobbies: _____%

- Be Healthy Programme: ______%
- Other activities at your school: _____%

Other (please, specify): _____: ____%

Energy levels

3a. Since the commencement of the Programme, my energy levels have...

decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot

3b. Imagine now that your school was never involved in the Be Healthy programme. Over the same period, would you expect your energy levels to change and in what direction?

3c. Changes you experience will be due to a combination of choices you made and the influence of others. Please, indicate how much in percent (out of 100%) the change in your energy levels was influenced by the following factors. If you think there was no influence leave a blank space or put a zero.

Your	fam	ily: _	 %	
	-			

Your friends and colleagues: ____%

The clubs you attend/your hobbies: _____%

Be Healthy Programme: _____ %

Other activities at your school: _____%

Other (please, specify): _____: ____%

B. Relationships Colleagues

4a. Since commencement of Be Healthy Programme, my relations with my colleagues involved in the Programme have become...

much worse	much worse	no change	a little better	much better

4b. Imagine now that your school was never involved in the Be Healthy programme. Over the same period, would you expect your relations with colleagues involved in the Programme to change and in what direction?

4c. Changes you experience will be due to a combination of choices you made and the influence of others. Please, indicate how much in percent (out of 100%) the change in your relations with colleagues was influenced by the following factors. If you think there was no influence leave a blank space or put a zero.

Your family: _____ %

Your friends and colleagues: _____%

The clubs you attend/your hobbies: _____%

Be Healthy Programme: ______%

Other activities at your school: _____%

Other (please, specify): ______ %

C. Self-esteem

decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot				
5b. Imagine now that your school was never involved in the Be Healthy programme. Over the same period, would you expect your self-esteem to change and in what direction?								
decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot				
5c. Changes you experience will be due to a combination of choices you made and the influence of others. Please, indicate how much in percent (out of 100%) the change in your self-esteem was influenced by the following factors. If you think there was no influence leave a blank space or put a zero.								
Your family:	_ %							
Your friends and coll	eagues:%							
The clubs you attend	d/your hobbies:	%						
Be Healthy Program	me: %							
Other activities at your school:%								
Other (please, specif	Ey):	_:%						
C. Positive functioning								

5a. Since commencement of the Programme, my self-esteem has...

Meaning and purpose

6a. Since commencement of the Programme, my perception of the intrinsic value of the teaching profession has...

decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot

6b. Imagine now that your school was never involved in the Be Healthy programme. Over the same period, would you expect your perception of the intrinsic value of the teaching profession to change and in what direction?

decreased a lot	decreased a little	no change	increased a little	increased a lot

6c. Changes you experience will be due to a combination of choices you made and the influence of others. Please, indicate how much in percent (out of 100%) the change in your perception of intrinsic value of the teaching profession was influenced by the following factors. If you think there was no influence leave a blank space or put a zero.

Your family: ______% Your friends and colleagues: _____% The clubs you attend/your hobbies: _____% Be Healthy Programme: ______% Other activities at your school: _____% Other activities at your school: _____% Other (please, specify): _____: ____% Your gender (pls. mark as appropriate) ____ Male ____ Female Thank you very much for sharing your thoughts!

Indicators on outcome incidence measured for the SROI

The value created by the BHP is distributed across a number of wellbeing outcomes for various stakeholders. To measure these outcomes all stakeholders were contacted directly and asked to fill in questionnaires.

For the purpose of confidence and accuracy, where possible, more than one indicator was measured to verify or crosscheck the outcome incidence for various stakeholders, but subsequently only one indicator was used in the SROI calculations.

For example, the children's 'vitality', 'autonomy' and 'self-esteem' outcomes were cross-checked with the parents, 'relationships with teachers' were cross-checked with the teachers respectively and for 'relationships with parents' two indicators were measured and verified through parents' questionnaires: the change in the amount of time children and parents spend together and in the quality of time they spend together.

For parents we measured two 'vitality' indicators – changes in the amount of physical activity and in their energy levels, and verified the relationships outcomes with children and teachers respectively. As for satisfaction with the school, two indicators were used to verify the outcome incidence: the change in the parents' satisfaction with the school and the change in the number of positive comments they make about the school.

For teachers, again, two indicators related to the amount of physical activity and the energy levels were measured to verify the 'vitality' outcome incidence, and the relationships outcomes were cross-checked with the other stakeholders.

In **Table 33** the indicators included in the SROI calculation are given in bold. In all cases we selected the indicators that were measured directly with the stakeholders.

Where two outcomes were measured for vitality, the 'energy levels' indicator was selected, because for adult stakeholders there could be limitations related to increase of physical activity on the one hand, and on the other hand their energy levels could increase because they start eating more nutritious food, without any changes in their physical activity.

For the children, however, the 'physical activity' indicator was used, because it was the only indicator measured with them directly, as we thought it would be difficult for the children to report on their energy levels.

Where the changes in quantity and quality of time spent by the parents and children were measured, the qualitative indicator was included in the SROI calculation based on the assumption that the qualitative change is more important, and can be achieved without the change in the quantity of time spent together.

For the parent's satisfaction with the school the indicator measuring the change in the satisfaction was used for the SROI calculation, whereas the change in the number of positive comments they make about the school was a quantitative indicator measured to verify the change.

For the relationships indicators, weighted average was calculated to account for 'social development' outcome for children and 'supportive relationships' outcome for adult stakeholders. The weights were obtained from the 'choice experiment' exercise where stakeholders ranked the relationships along with other wellbeing components in order of importance.

As we can see from Table 33 below, on the whole the different indicators for the same outcomes demonstrate similar amounts of change and attribution. Generally, the incidence of outcomes reported by the parents and children is very similar, but parents tend to attribute slightly less change to the programme. This can be explained by the fact that, as parents, they tend to attribute larger proportions of positive changes in their children to themselves.

Teachers are the ones with higher outcome incidence and attribution for all outcomes, which may be explained, as it was mentioned in the report by the fact that they have the most knowledge about the BHP, its objectives and activities it involves.

4	Outcomos	Indicators	Novgorod sc	hool 18	Ropsha school		Sobinka school 2					
#	Outcomes	maicators	Net change	Attribution	Net change	Attribution	Net change	Attribution				
		C	hildren involv	ed in the BH	P							
1	Increased self- esteem	Evolution of children's self- esteem (self-reported)	+20	16	+18	13	+24	23				
		Evolution of children's self- esteem (reported by parents)	+21	11	+18	13	+30	19				
2	Better relationships	Evolution of children's relationships with teachers	+20	20	+16	19	+20	28				
	with teachers	Evolution of teachers' relationships with children	+53	41	+35	43	+35	25				
3	Better relationships with parents	Change in the quantity of time children and parents spend together (reported by children)	+13	15	+11	19	+11	27				
		Change in the quality of time children and parents spend together (reported by children)	+16	15	+9	19	+6	27				
		Change in the quantity of time children and parents spend together (reported by parents)	+17	12	+19	9	+20	18				
		Change in the quality of time children and parents spend together (reported by parents)	+23	12	+19	9	+17	18				
4	Better relationships with classmates	Evolution of children's relationships with classmates (self-reported)	+11	14	+21	16	+21	22				
5	Better relationships with schoolmates	Evolution of children's relationships with schoolmates (self-reported)	+6	12	+10	13	+14	21				
6	Increased autonomy	Evolution of children's responsibility (self-reported)	+29	18	+21	20	+31	26				
		Evolution of children's autonomy reported by the parents	+27	14	+20	15	+28	20				
7	Increased vitality	Evolution of children's physical activity (self- reported)	+38	22	+31	23	+40	29				
		Evolution of children's physical activity (reported by the parents)	+36	18	+26	14	+28	20				
		Evolution of children's energy levels reported by the parents	+34	18	+30	14	+31	19				
		Chi	ldren not invo	lved in the B	HP							
8	Increased vitality	Evolution of children's vitality (self-reported)	+13	7	+13	9	+8	2				
9	Increased self- esteem	Evolution of children's self- esteem (self-reported)	+3	6	+19	5	+2	1				
10	Better relationships	Evolution of children's relationships with teachers	+2	7	-13	1	-2	0				
	with teachers	Evolution of teachers' relationships with children	+22	20	+30	43	+25	37				

11	Better relationships with classmates	Evolution of children's relationships with classmates (self-reported)	+8	7	+7	8	0	1
12	Better relationships with schoolmates	Evolution of children's relationships with schoolmates (self-reported)	-2	6	+3	9	0	1
		Parents	of children i	nvolved in	the BHP			
13	Better relationships with teachers	Evolution of parents' relationships with teachers	+16	19	17	14	+21	23
		Evolution of teachers' relationships with parents	+31	35	+45	43	+25	36
14	Better relationships with children	Change in the quantity of time children and parents spend together (reported by parents)	+17	12	+19	9	+20	18
		Change in the quality of time children and parents spend together (reported by parents)	+23	12	+19	9	+17	18
		Evolution of parents' relationships with children	+16	11	+13	8	+26	17
15	Increased vitality	Evolution of parents' physical activity	+14	11	+14	11	+26	18
		Evolution of parents' energy levels	+15	10	+15	8	+22	16
16	Increased self- esteem	Evolution of parents' self- esteem	+9	4	+11	8	+16	16
17	Increased satisfaction with the school	Evolution of parents' satisfaction with the school	+23	19	+14	14	+17	23
		Change in the number of positive comments parents make about their children's school	+22	19	+15	14	+18	23
		Teache	rs directly ir	nvolved in t	he BHP			
18	Better relationships with parents	Evolution of teachers' relationships with parents	+31	35	+45	43	+25	36
		Evolution of parents' relationships with teachers	+16	19	+17	14	+21	23
19	Better relationships with children	Evolution of teachers' relationships with children	+53	41	+35	43	+35	25
		Evolution of children's relationships with teachers	+20	20	+16	19	+20	28
20	Better relationships with colleagues	Evolution of teachers' relationships with colleagues	+19	29	+40	34	+35	35

21	Increased self- esteem	Evolution of teachers' self- esteem	+25	22	+30	30	+25	27
22	Increased vitality	Evolution of teachers' physical activity	+50	48	+30	30	+25	27
		Evolution of teachers' energy levels	+44	43	+55	38	+35	25
23	Increased competence	Evolution of teachers' competence (in using the project planning and management skills)	+45	47	+44	38	+32	38
24	Increased sense of meaning and purpose	Evolution of teachers' sense of meaning and purpose	+31	31	+35	34	+35	29
		Teache	rs not directly	involved in t	he BHP			
25	Better relationships with colleagues	Evolution of teachers' relationships with colleagues	+31	16	+16	14	+25	13
26								
	Increased self- esteem	Evolution of teachers' self- esteem	+25	11	+3	19	0	14
27	Increased self- esteem Increased vitality	Evolution of teachers' self- esteem Evolution of teachers' physical activity	+25 +38	11 15	+3 +6	19 16	0+16	14 21
27	Increased self- esteem Increased vitality	Evolution of teachers' self- esteemEvolution of teachers' physical activityEvolution of teachers' energy levels	+25 +38 +19	11 15 19	+3 +6 +22	19 16 18	0 +16 +22	14 21 21

Table 33. Indicators measured for the SROI by stakeholder across three schools Note: all figures are in per cent.

'Choice experiment' text

'For our research, you have helped us identify outcomes of the BHP that are important for your personal wellbeing. In this workshop we would like to try to estimate the financial value of these outcomes for you. This will take us about 30 minutes. Everyone will have an opportunity to speak, and all opinions are equally important.

- 1. To begin with, let's spend a few minutes reflecting on things that make you happy or could make you happier in your everyday life. These could be things that make your life easier or more comfortable. They can be small things as well as extravagant things.
- 2. [After a few minutes] Please share your thoughts with the group and I'll make a note on the board/flipchart.
- 3. I'll now give out a list of things identified by another group, in Moscow, as making them feel happy.

Please have a look at the printouts, and then for a few minutes discuss with the person next to you to see if you disagree with any items on the list. We're not expecting you to agree with everything but we want to make sure we don't miss anything.

Also, please tell us if you've thought of anything else that makes you happy, i.e. in addition to the items on the board/flip chart and the list

Write the answers on post-it notes.

- 4. Now, let's rank these things according to how important they are to you, the first being the most important and the last one being the least important.
- 5. Finally, please now estimate:
 - a) how much money you would need to obtain the things that are material (e.g. a new car, a bigger flat)
 - b) how much money you would gain from the things that generate income (e.g. a new job).
- 6. Now that we've estimated the cost of the material things and the money that would be generated by the incomegenerating things, we can put values on the non-material things using our ranking. Do you agree with the following values as the minimum ones for the non-material things that affect your wellbeing?

Thank you very much for your time.

Choice experiment results by school

Ranking	Elements of wellbeing	Annual value (RUB)	Estimated value (RUB)
Children			
1	Relationships with teachers		150,500
	Relationships with parents		150,500
	New clothes and shoes	40,000	
	More pocket money (rub 1000 a day)	261,000	
2	Self-esteem		120,000
	Autonomy		120,000
	Relationships with classmates		120,000
	Relationships with schoolmates		120,000
	Tasty and healthy food	120,000	
3	Vitality		70,000
	A trip to moscow/to the seaside	120,000	
	Visit to a waterpark with family and friends	20,000	
Parents			
1	Relationships with children		138,667
	Vitality		138,667
	Satisfaction with the school		138,667
2	Relationships with teachers		138,667
	Self-esteem		138,667
3	Owning your own flat/house	333,333	
	Opportunities for travel	200,000	
	Culture and leisure	120,000	
	Additional education/training	10,000	
	A new computer	30,000	
Teachers			
1	Vitality		296,333
	Good relationships with pupils		296,333
	Good relationships with parents		296,333
2	Good relationships with colleagues		296,333
	Self-esteem		296,333
	Meaning and purpose		296,333
	Competence		296,333
	Opportunity for travel	200,000	
	Owning your own flat/house	333,333	
	Being able to buy a cake every week	52,000	
	An additional source of income	600,000	

Table 34. Choice experiment results by stakeholder, Novgorod school 18

Ranking	Elements of wellbeing	Annual value (RUB)	Estimated value (RUB)
	Children		
1	Relationships with parents		150,000
2	Vitality		150,000
	Self-esteem		150,000
	Yamaha aerox motorbike	150,000	
3	Relationships with classmates/schoolmates		60,000
	Relationships with teachers		60,000
	A trip to paris	100,000	
	Sony playstation 4	20,000	
4	Autonomy		15,000
	A new computer/tablet	20,000	
	A new snowboard/bicycle	15,000	
	Tickets to a rock-concert	10,000	
	Parents		
1	Health		
2	Relationships with children		600 000
	Additional source of income	600,000	
3	Self-esteem		266 667
	Vitality		266 667
	Owning your own flat/house	266,667	
4	Relationships with teachers		200 000
	Satisfaction with the school		200 000
	Opportunities for travel	200,000	
	Teachers		
1	Vitality		164 444
	Relationships with pupils		164 444
	Relationships with parents		164 444
2	Relationships with colleagues		164 444
	Self-esteem		164 444
	Meaning and purpose		164 444
	Competence		164 444
	Opportunities for travel	120,000	
	Owning your own flat/house	133,333	
	Additional source of income	240,000	

Table 35: Choice experiment results by stakeholder, Ropsha school

Ranking		Elements of wellbeing	Annual value (RUB)	Estimated value (RUB)				
		Children						
1	Relationships with	parents		130,500				
	Self-esteem			130,500				
	More pocket mone	² Y	130,500					
2	Relationships with	teachers		75,125				
	Relationships with	classmates		75,125				
	Relationships with	schoolmates		75,125				
	Vitality			75,125				
	Autonomy			75,125				
3	A trip abroad (to E	urope)	100,000					
	A new computer		50,000					
	A bicycle		20,000					
		Parents						
1	Relationships with	children		243,333				
	Vitality			243,333				
2	Self-esteem			243,333				
3	Satisfaction with the	ne school		243,333				
	Relationships with	teachers		243,333				
4	Additional educati	on/training	40,000					
	Opportunities for t	ravel	200,000					
	Owning your own f	lat/house	133,333					
	Additional source of	of income	600,000					
		Teachers						
1	Vitality			266,667				
	Good relationships	with colleagues		266,667				
	Good relationships	with pupils		266,667				
2	Self-esteem			266,667				
3	Meaning and purp	ose		266,667				
	Competence			266,667				
4	Owning your own f	lat/house	266,667					

Table 36. Choice experiment results by stakeholder, Sobinka

The values were assigned to material wellbeing elements in the following way:

- Where a flat (apartment) was mentioned, the stakeholders were asked to state the amount of money they would need to buy it, and this amount was then divided by 15 (the average number of years between a Russian moving into a new flat/house and the flat/house starting to require financially significant renovation, 15 years being an average life cycle of interior finish materials, furniture and homeware (Gosstroy 1964)) to calculate the annual value of a flat to the new owner. As can be seen from the tables above, various different prices were stated by the stakeholders at the different locations.
- Where an additional source of income was mentioned, the participants were asked to state the amount of money they would like to receive, on a monthly basis, in order to then calculate the annual value that would be generated by that source of income
- Where an opportunity to travel was included, the stakeholders came up with an average cost of two trips per year for a family of three (the average size of a household in Russia is 2.5 people in urban areas and 2.8 people in rural areas(Rosstat 2015); most families in the schools where the research was carried out had only one child)
- Where children mentioned more pocket money they were asked to provide daily amounts that were multiplied by the number of working days in a year (365 days minus 104 Saturdays and Sundays)
- For goods/services, stakeholders were asked to come up with the prices which were then compared to prices from open sources; average annual amounts were calculated, where needed, by multiplying the price by the number of goods/services needed per year. .g. an average ticket to a water park costs RUB 500, so for a group of friends numbering four people an average visit would cost RUB 2,000, and the children mentioned they would like to be able to go to a water park 10 times per year, which gives us the annual cost of RUB 20,000.

The alternative approaches to applying willingness to pay methodology for valuation of wellbeing outcomes would involve finding out the market prices of goods and/or services that stakeholders could purchase to achieve similar changes in their wellbeing.

For instance, in case with vitality this could be the price for a year of gym membership, which is RUB 26,500 on average for Saint-Petersburg and Leningrad Region (Ropsha)⁷, RUB 17,000 in Novgorod⁸, and RUB 32,000 in Vladimir Region (Sobinka)⁹.

The proxies for outcomes associated with parents' satisfaction with the school could be obtained by calculating the average amount parents in Russia are ready to pay annually for their children's education, which would be RUB 63,000 based on data from Romir research company¹⁰.

For the teachers' outcomes associated with increased professional competence we could use the average cost of an advanced teacher training course in Russia, which would be around RUB 10,000. However, as we worked with schools in the areas where infrastructure is not very well developed, and these services either do not exist or are not easily accessible, we did not feel it would be appropriate to use country-level or regional data for the valuation. Also, there were certain outcomes (e.g. increased self-esteem or increased sense of meaning and purpose) that could not be easily valued by using equivalent marketed goods or services.

The valuations obtained within a choice experiment gave us an opportunity to find out the use value of the outcomes we create for our particular stakeholder groups and to compare the outcomes by ranking them in order of importance. Thus, the choice experiment methodology was considered more appropriate given the stakeholders and outcomes for this SROI.

⁷ fitness.profsefera.ru/_abonement_v_fitnes_klub_tseny

⁸ http://go.2gis.com/9zb89 http://go.2gis.com/z4xep

¹⁰ http://www.finanz.ru/novosti/lichnyye-finansy/rossiyane-v-krizis-ne-gotovy-oplachivat-obrazovatelnye-uslugi-1000737182

Information used to calculate CAF BHP programme expenses per school by year

Expense Items	2008-2009	2009-2010	2010-2011	2011-2012	2012-2013	2013-2014	2014-2015
Staff salaries	768,164	1,323,958	1,913,390	2,183,925	1,235,758	718,425	401,541
Social Insurance	154,221	264,474	443,292	508,220	273,625	200,809	96,960
Office rent	188,182	489,051	933,453	781,161	300,241	252,000	278,962
Training		72,910		8,950			78,439
Post and courier services	2,364	12,554	2,848	1,718	6,089	769	168
Office supplies	5,168	10,998	11,816	22,408	3,642	1,480	1,329
Communications (phone, fax, internet)	43,973	92,966	167,979	146,613	64,060	48,131	55,014
Equipment maintenance	28,929	59,360	106,682	109,512	47,656	36,000	39,851
Equipment purchase			35,223	41,662			9,035
Travel	170,302	196,262	306,271	271,535	58,166	239,487	231,596
Other expenses			3,000			662	
Domain name registration				85,933	115,267	19,070	48,450
Printed materials		311,500			243,000		
Computer expendables			3,980				
PR				179,850			
Events	16,351	10,620	2,735	1,342	518	694	2,326
Specialists' fees	3,939	40,647	71,449	95,915	161,417	32,411	381,383
Contractors (legal entities)	65,700	75,240	932,804	272,900	50,000	125,000	244,237
Bank charges	8,314	15,486	26,669	27,052	11,913	9,000	9,768
Indirect expenses (legal, admin, finance)	289,067	578,978	1,036,934	1,108,039	450,685	365,400	404,496
	1,744,674	3,555,006	5,998,524	5,846,735	3,022,035	2,049,337	2,283,555

Table 37: BHP expenses - total by year in Russian roubles

Year	2008-2009	2009-2010	2010-2011	2011-2012	2012-2013	2013-2014	2014-2015
Number of schools funded	12	13	20	23	9	17	15
within the BHP							

Table 38: Number of schools funded within the BHP, by year

Glossary

Attribution	An assessment of how much of the outcome was caused by other organisations or people (UK Cabinet Office 2012).
Autonomy	Feeling free to do what you want and having the time to do it (nef 2009).
Benefit period	How long the outcomes of an intervention last.
Competence	Feeling accomplishment from what you do and being able to make use of your abilities (nef 2009)
Counterfactual	A measure of the amount of outcome that would have happened even if the activity had not taken place.
Displacement	An assessment of how much the outcome has displaced other outcomes (UK Cabinet Office 2012).
Drop-off	The deterioration of an outcome over time (UK Cabinet Office 2012).
Expert Committee	A collective body of the BHP comprising experts in nutrition, healthy lifestyle and education who evaluate the applications submitted to the BHP and inform funding decisions.
Impact	The difference in an outcome for perticipants taking into account what would have happened anyway, the contribution of others and the length of time the outcomes last (UK Cabinet Office 2012).
Indicator	Well-defined measure of an outcome (UK Cabinet Office 2012).
Inputs	The contributions made by each stakeholder necessary for the activity to happen (UK Cabinet Office 2012).
Line of accountability	A line on a ToC diagram to the left of which the outcomes the intervention can account for are located.
Line of evaluation	A line on a ToC diagram to the left of which the outcomes included in the evaluation are located.
Materiality	Having the potential to affect the readers' or stakeholders' decisions (UK Cabinet Office 2012).
Meaning and purpose	Feeling that what you do in life is valuable, worthwhile and valued by others (nef 2009).
Outcome	The changes resulting from an activity. The main types of change from the stakeholders' perspective are unintended and intended, positive and negative change (UK Cabinet Office 2012).
Output	A way of describing the activity in relation to each stakeholder's inputs in quantitative terms (UK Cabinet Office 2012).
Proxy	An approximation of value where an exact measure is impossible to obtain (UK Cabinet Office 2012).
Recall bias	The inability to accurately recall attitudes and behaviors held in the past (Colosi & Dunifon 2006).

Social development	The outcome comprising changes in the children's relationships with teachers, parents, classmates and other schoolmates calculated as the weighted average of those relationship outcomes based on their relative importance to the children.
Stakeholders	People, organisations or entities that experience change whether positive or negative as a result of the activity that is analysed (UK Cabinet Office 2012).
Supportive relationships	The extent and quality of interactions in close relationships with family, friends and others who provide support (nef 2009).
Valuation	Process of assigning monetary values.
Vitality	Having energy, feeling well-rested and healthy and being physically active (nef 2009).
Wellbeing	The dynamic process that gives people a sense of how their lives are going through the interaction between their circumstances, activities and psychological resources (nef 2009).

References

Bank of Russia (2012) *Directive 'On the refinancing rate of the Bank of Russia*' September 13 2012 N 2873-u [online]. Available at http://base.garant.ru/70229592/ [Accessed April 22, 2015].

Bank of Russia (2015) *Information 'On the key rate of the Bank of Russia*' 30.01.2015 [online]. Available at http://www. consultant.ru/document/cons_doc_LAW_130733/ [Accessed April 22, 2015].

Block Joy, A, Pradhan, V and Goldman, G (2006) Cost-benefit analysis conducted for nutrition education in California [pdf]. Available at http://ucce.ucdavis.edu/files/repositoryfiles/ca6004p185-69376.pdf [Accessed August 14, 2015].

Colosi, L. and Dunifon, R. (2006) What's the Difference? "Post then Pre" & "Pre then Post" [pdf]. Available at http://www. human.cornell.edu/pam/outreach/parenting/parents/upload/What-s-20the-20Difference-20Post-20then-20Pre-20and-20Pre-20then-20Post.pdf [Accessed June 12, 2015].

Davis, G. (2003) "Using Retrospective Pre-post Questionnaire to Determine Program Impact". Journal of Extension, vol. 41, no.4.

European Commission (2010) *European Textbook on Ethics in Research.* Directorate-General for Research. Science Economy and Society, 2010.

Fangliang, H. and Yong, H. (2008) *Price Discovery, Competition And Market Mechanism Design.* Asian Social Science Journal vol.4 no.6, June 2008.

Federal State Statistics Service (Rosstat) (2015) The number and size of households in RF subjects [online]. Available at http://www.gks.ru/PEREPIS/t4.htm [Accessed March 15, 2015].

Fujiwara, D. and Campbell, R. (2011) Valuation Techniques for Social Cost-Benefit Analysis: Stated Preference, Revealed Preference and Subjective Well-Being Approaches. A Discussion of the Current Issues. HM Treasury Department for Work and Pensions, 2011.

Gudkov, L. Dubin, B. and Levinson A. (2009) Composite portrait of a Russian inhabitant. World of Russia, 2009 no.2.

Hassan, E. (2005) *Recall Bias can be a Threat to Retrospective and Prospective Research Designs.* The Internet Journal of Epidemiology. 2005 Volume 3 Number 2.

Kossova, T. and Sheluntcova, M. (2012) *Towards a social discount rate in Russia: methodology and regional differences.* Proceedings of the Finance and Economics Conference 2012. Muenchen: The Lupcon Center for Business Research, 2012.

Lamb, T. (2005) "The Retrospective Pretest: An Imperfect but Useful Tool". Evaluation Exchange, vol. 11, no. 2.

Mondelēz International (MI) (2015) *The call for wellbeing* [online] Mondelēz International. Available at http://www.mondelezinternational.com/well-being [Accessed 12 May 2015].

Mueller, C.E. Gaus, H. and Rech J. (2014) The Counterfactual Self-Estimation of Program Participants: Impact assessment Without Control Groups or Pretests. American Journal of Evaluation 2014, Vol 35

Mukhina, M. and Novikova, I. (2014) *BeHealthy Charities Aid Foundation Program, Russia: A Program Impact Pathways (PIP) Analysis.* Food and Nutrition Bulletin, vol. 35, no.3 2014 (supplement), The Nevin Scrimshaw Nutrition Foundation.

nef (2009) *National Accounts of Wellbeing* [pdf]. Available at http://www.nationalaccountsofwellbeing.org/public-data/ files/national-accounts-of-well-being-report.pdf [Accessed March 14, 2015].

nef (2014) Rosie Maguire and Olivier Vardakoulias. *The benefits of investing in early child development: an SROI analysis of the Responsive Parenting Program* [pdf]. Available at http://www.nef-consulting.co.uk/about-us/our-publications/reports/benefits-investing-early-child-development/ [Accessed August 14, 2015].

Nierman LG. (1986) A Longitudinal Study of the Retention of Foods and Nutrition Knowledge and Practices of Participants from Michigan Expanded Food and Nutrition Education Program. Doctoral dissertation. Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI.

Nureev, R. et al. (2010). National Economics. Moscow: Infra-M, 2010.

Pollitt E, Leibel R, and Greenfield D. (1981) *Brief fasting, stress and cognition in children.* Am J Clin Nutr August 1981 vol. 34 no. 8.

Raidl et al. (2004) "Use Retrospective Surveys to Obtain Complete Data Sets and Measure Impact Extension in Programs". Journal of Extension, vol. 42, no.2.

RF Government (2009) *Decree "Strategy for Development of Physical Culture and Sports in Russia till 2020*" no 1101-r dated 7/8/2009 [online]. Available at http://www.garant.ru/products/ipo/prime/doc/96059/ [Accessed April 14, 2015].

RF Ministry of Health (2015) *Decree on introduction of SanPin 2.4.2.1178-02 "Hygienic requirements for educational institutions*" N44, 28 November 2002 [online]. Available at http://www.tehdoc.ru/files.3096.html [Accessed April 23, 2015].

RF Ministry of Health and Social Development (2011) *Report "On Children's Wellbeing in the Russian Federation"* (2008-2009), November 17 2011 [online]. Available at http://www.garant.ru/products/ipo/prime/doc/55087983/ [Accessed 22 May 2015].

RF Ministry of Sports Press Office (2015) *Press-conference dedicated to the reintroduction of GTO in Russia.* [press-release] 12 March 2015. Available at http://www.gto-normy.ru/press-konferentsiya-posvyashhennaya-kompleksu-gto/ [Accessed April 14, 2015].

Rockwell, S. and Kohn, H. (1989) "Post-Then-Pre Evaluation". Journal of Extension, vol. 27 no.2.

Russian Federal Service for Surveillance on Consumer Rights Protection and Human Wellbeing (Rospotrebnadzor) (2008) "Sanitary and Epidemiological requirements to organization of nutrition of primary and secondary school pupils" SanPin 2.4.5.2409-08, 2008 [online]. Available at http://ohranatruda.ru/ot_biblio/normativ/data_normativ/53/53610/ [Accessed April 23, 2015].

Russian Federal Service for Surveillance on Consumer Rights Protection and Human Wellbeing (Rospotrebnadzor) (2006) *Decree "On nutrition of students in educational institutions"* no. 30 dated 31.09.2006 [online]. Available at http://78.rospotrebnadzor.ru/documen/rospotrebnadzor/postanov [Accessed April 14, 2015].

The USSR State Committee for Construction (Gosstroy) (1964) Order 'On introduction of Statement on preventive renovation of residential and public buildings' September 08 1964 N 147 [online]. Available at http://base.consultant.ru/cons/cgi/online.cgi?base=ESU&frame=400&n=6657&req=doc [Accessed March 3, 2015].

UK Cabinet Office (2012) *A guide to Social Return on Investment. The SROI Network: 2012* [pdf]. Available at http://socialvalueuk.org/publications/publications/cat_view/29-the-guide-to-social-return-on-investment/223-the-guide-in-english-2012-edition [Accessed April 14, 2015].

SROI Model - Novgorod School 18

CAF Programme expens Equipment purchased b	Programme inputs		Code 2 Code 2 Co						low income families	C anero	Grade 3 Grade 4	Grade 2	Similes	normal and high income	Parents		female		_	male		Grade 5		female			male	Grade 4		female			male		Grade 3		female			male		Pupils in the Program Grade 2	Stakeholders					
t es y parents	Ι		4				00			21	14	20		69	5	34	35		127			19			27				23			25			19			28				24			31		me	Population
		meaning and purpose	self-estœm	vitality supportive relationships	meaning and purpose	competence	self-esteem	relationships	vitality			self-esteem	school	supportive relationships	Vitality		self-esteem	school	vitality supportive relationships	and the second	so dal development	autonomy	vitality	self-estœm	so dal development	vitality	self-estœm	so dal development	autonomy	vitality	so cial development	autonomy	vitality	self-estœm	autonomy so cial development	vitality	self-esteem	so dal development	Vitality		so cial development	autonomy	vitality	self-esteem	autonomy	vitality		Outcome
		 profession (self-reported) 	evolution of teachers' solf-esteem (self-reported)	yset-reported) evolution of teachers' relationships with colleagues	 profession (sdf-reported) evolution of teachers' energy levels 	skills (wifeeported) evolution of teachers' perception of intrinsic value of teaching	(self-reported) a volution of teachers' ability to use	wegines are age or resolution butcomes evolution of teachers' self-esteem	evolution of teachers' order gy levels (self-reported)			(self-reported)	evolution of parents' satisfaction with the school (self-reported) evolution of parents' called earn	weighted average of relationships outcomes	e wolution of parents' energy levels (self-reported)		(self-reported)	evolution of parents' satisfaction with the school (self-reported) evolution of parents' safe area	(self-reported) weighted average of relationships outcomes	A set interportation of partners' energy lieves	evolution of children's sidt esteem	responsibility (self-reported) weighted average of relationships	evolution of children's activity (self-reported) evolution of children's	e volution of children's set-esteem (self-reported)	responsarsy (wheepared) weighted average of relationships butcomes	e volution of children's activity (self-reported) e volution of children's	(self-reported)	evolution of children's self-e steem	evolution of chief en's vesponsibility (alf-reported) webbled average of mistionchief	(self-reported) a ctivity (self-reported)	verginosi average on rear unismos putcomes a volution of Children's self-essent	volution of Children's vesponsibility (self-reported)	e volution of children's physical articles (california the	evolution of children's self-esseem (self-reported)	vesponsibility (self-reported) weighted average of relationships putcomes	activity (self-reported) avoiation of Office ar's	evolution of children's self-esteem (self-reported)	veghos unity serve or relationships outcomes	evolution of children's	Away a contract of children's physical	Subcomes would on of children's self-esteem	e woust on or children's responsibility (self-reparted) weighted swease of relationships	evolution of third en's physical activity (self-reported)	eutoomes evolution of children Ssell-esbern set reported	responsibility (self-reported) weighted average of relationships	evolution of children's physical activity (self-reported)		Indicator
CAF accounting data questionnaire, adjus		questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire			questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire		questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire questionnaire	aunancerb	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questonnaire		questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	automoticatio	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire		Source
adjusted for inflation		38%	25%	31%	31%	45%	25%	34%	44%			13%	19%	10%	17%		10%	25%	18%	j	12%	28%	27%	3%	5%	18%	27%	17%	23%	37%	21%	40%	ŝ	25%	21%	36%	17%	17%	30%	6470	16%	40%	65%	23%	31%	38%	counterflectual)	Net Change distance travelled
8.5		13 %	11%	16%	31%	47%	22%	32%	43%			6%	20%	98	7		3%	19%	8%	50 D	18%	21%	28%	7	98 IJ	19%	32%	25%	24%	29%	24%	22%	77%	12%	16%	18%	12%	15%	21%	10 M	13%	17%	22%	H _R X	17%	19%	внер	Attribution from much change is amputed to the
			o salehdders	alue of the			o sale of the subcome a coordin o staleeholders	akes of the					o stalezholders	alue of the Moome accordin				o stalezholders	alue of the secome accordin		o southouts	alue of the subcome accordin			o stakeholders	alse of the		o stalopholders	alue of the sutcome a coordin		o staletholders	alue of the sutcome accordin			o stalehdders	a haa oofe haa		utcome accordin o staleeholders	alue of the		o staletholders	alue of the sutcome accordin		a mantroom	alue of the subcome accordin			Proxy
			(willingness to	Choice			experiment (willingness to	Choice					pay)	Choice experiment				(willingness to pay)	Choice experiment		(Med)	experiment (willingness to	}		w lingress to	Choice		(Act	Choice experiment		(wiingliesto (say)	Choice experiment			experiment (willingness to	Choice		(willingness to pay)	Choice		(hall)	experiment willness to		(Aed	experiment (willingness to			Praxy source
		296.333	296,333	296,333 296,333	296,333	296,333	296,333	296,333	296,333			138,667	138,667	138,667	138,667		138,667	138,667	138,667 138,667	T20000	141,350	120,000	70,000	120,000	141.350	70,000	120,000	141,350	120,000	1Z0,000	141,350	120,000	70.000	120,000	120,000	70,000	120,000	141,350	70,000	T CONTRACT	141,350	120,000	70,000	141,350	120,000	70,000		Proxy value
		13,891	8,334	10,418	28,360	62,508	16,206	31,629	55,910			1,149	5,436	1,174	1,754		452	6,340	2,052 3,122	ecr't	3,171	7,253	5,164	247	5,481	2,360	10,483	6,070	6,592	7,504	7,037	10,305	10 %4	3,583	4,722	4,634	2,489	3,542	5,191		2,841	8,128	9,991	2,435	6,249	5,178	RUB	Annual value per Te
		111.125	66,675	83,344 120,385	226,880	500,063	129,646	253,032	447,278			145,887	690,359	149,144	2 22,7 38		57,386	805,178	260,667 396,470	Uno.cc	85,614	195,840	139,440	6,667	15,160	63,729	262,075	151,755	164,796	208,264	175,925	257,619	250 110	100,333	132,222	129,759	69,686	99,175	145,354	67 C'NO T	88,078	251,969	309,732	95,751	193,704	160,503		stal annual salve. RUB p
			-		-	-		-	μ			-	1	-	-		-	-	н н			-		-	-		-	-	-		-	-	-		- -	-	-		. 			-	-	- -	-	-		Benefit
		9.	9%	8 8	25%	25%	25%	25%	25%			9%	98	%	9		%	9	<u>%</u> %	467	25%	25%	25%	25%	25%	25%	25%	25%	25%	25%	25%	25%	X.	25%	25%	25%	25%	25%	25%	wC7	25%	25%	25%	25%	25%	25%	Project V1 Pr	Amount of gained
		100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%			100%	100%	100%	100%		100%	100%	100%	- CONT	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%		100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	10078	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	oject Y2 :	D
		50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%			50%	50%	50%	50%		50%	50%	50%	0U2	98	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%		50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	00%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%		opoff
418,955 1 129,856 1	400 000		0	0 0	56,720 Z	125,016 9	32,411 1	63, 258 Z	111,820 4			0	0 1	0	0		0	0 3	0 0	Q, MOD	21,403	48,960 1	34,860 1	1,667	3, 790	15,932	65,519 2	37,939 1	41, 199 1	46,900 1	43,981 1	64,405 Z	64 778 7	0	• •	0	0	0		4		0	0	• •	0	•	year 1 y 2012-13 20	Value
41,718 1 22,352 1	5 60	18	56,675 (53, 344 20, 385 11	6,880 Z	0,063 5	19,646 11	33,032 22	17,278 4/		+	10, 205	30,256 Z	1, 103	51, 385		56,660	14,059 6:	21,097 Z 34,187 3		35, 614	35,840	9,440	6,667	5,160	33, 729	52,075 1	51,755	54,796 8	18,264 10	5,925	57,619 1.	80 110 1	10,083	13,056 1 19,497 1	12,440 1	(7,422 0	A, 794 5	36, 338 1.	20,122	22,020	i2,992 Z	77,433 30	18,869	18, 426 19	10,126 10	oar 2 13-14 20	SROI o
64,309 12,329		11.125 55	56,675 33.	83,344 41) 20,385 60,	26,880 113,	00,063 250,	29,646 64,	53,032 126,	47,278 223)		$\left \right $	59,159 19,	79,949 92,	50,479 19,	90,323 29,		44,056 15,	18,148 215,	00,118 69, 04,377 106,	0.26(01	42,807	97,920	59,720	3,333	7,580	31,865	31,037	75,878	82,398	93,800	87,963	28,809	20 55 5	00,333 50,	32,222 66,	29,759 64,	59,686 34,	99,175 49,	45,354 72)	0.6 6.2010	88,078 44) en 570 on	51,969 125/	09,732 154,	75,475 37, 95,751 47.	93,704 96;	50,503 80,	3 yea 14-15 2015	a lculation
		0	338 0	193 0	\$40 0	031	823 0	516 0	0			528 0	010	964 0	815 0		363 0	0 055	785 0 142 0	d	0	0	0	0 0	o c	0	0	0	0	0 0	0 0	0 0		167 0	1111 0 203 0	880 0	843 0	587 0	577 Q	0	039	984 0	0 986	737 0	852 0	251 0	-16 2016-17	
673,629 334,124	1 08 7 80 7	245,080	147,048	265,503	554,598	1,222,378	316,913	618,523	1,093,349		Π	104,752	495,701	107,090	159,934		75,696	1,062,081	343,836 522,970	T ne's c	136,115	311,362	221,693	10,599	24,102	101,322	416,667	241,272	262,005	331,115 298,260	279,700	409,583	411.954	152,503	200,973	197,229	105,921	150,741	220,932	0.00	133,875	382,983	470,780	114,719	294,423	243,958	Value	4.60%
637,497 312,926		222.901	133,741	241,476	507,487	1,118,543	289,993	565,983	1,000,475			95,170	450,357	97,294	145,304		68,671	963,514	311,926 474,435	enthe	126,580	289,550	206,162	9,857	22,414	94,224	387,478	224,370	243,651	307,920	260,106	068'08£ ccrire oe	200 200	137,038	161.148	177,228	95,179	135,455	198,527	110000	120,299	344,145	423,039	130,780	264,565	219,219	Value	8.25%
579,292 279,292	013557	188.861	113,317	141,646 204,599	434,913	958,584	248,522	485,043	857,400			80,464	380,768	82,260	122,852		57,910	812,532	263,048 400,091	0/ D/ D	111,494	255,041	181,592	8,682	19,742	82,994	341,298	197,630	214,613	271,221 244,309	229,106	335,495	227 4 38	113,620	149,732	146,943	78,915	112,308	164,603	10 40 402	99,742	285,337	350,749	108.432	219,356	18 1,7 58	Value	15.00%

129

SRO	
I Mod	
el - Ro	
psha	
School	

	CAF Programme ex Equipment purchas	Programme input CAF Grant funding		Involved in the Programme	Not directly	Involved in the Programme							Grade 7 Grade 8	Grade 6		low income families		Grade 9	Grade 7			land high income f		Parents		female			male		Grade 9		female			male		Grade 8		female	Grade 7		female				male	Grade 6	Pupils in the Prog	Stakeholders
	ed by parents		5				<u>ن</u>					8	19 8	15		50		00 0	x -1 1			37				•			00				13			4				12			5			t	; 		ramme:	Population size
			meaning and purpose	odf-esteern	supportive relationships	/sile/	meaning and purpose	competence	udf-esteern	supportive relationships	458IRY			udf-esteern	school	supportive relationships	disalik y			df-esteem	school	supportive relationships	Ataliky	idf-esteern	social development	autonomy	453IRY	df-esteem	autonomy	A ta liky	udf-esteern	social development	autonomy.	453 RY	udf-esteern	sutonomy social development	453 RY	di eseem	social development	sutcenomy	ita iky	udf-esteern	ocial development	Atonomy	udf-esteern	social development	adonomy	And And		Outcome
			evolution of teachers' perception of intrinsic value of teaching profession (self-reported)	esteem (self-reported)	evolution of teachers' relationships with colleagues	evels (self-reported)	evolution of teachers' perception of intrinsic value of teaching (profession (self -reported)	management skills (self- reported)	esteem (self-reported) (avolution of teachers' ability to	relationships outcomes evolution of teachers' self	erdunon d'heachers' energy levels (self-reported) union of surrays of			(self-reported)	wouldon of pirents satisfaction with the school (self-reported) wouldon of pirents' satisfaction	velationships outcomes	vergifted average of	arriance of parents' assess		(self-reported)	evolution of parents' satisfaction with the school (self-reported)	relationships outcomes	evolution or parents energy levels (self -reported) weighted average of	esteem (sdf-reported)	relationships outcomes evolution of children's self-	versional of charters (responsibility (self-reported) weighted average of	evolution of children's privilical activity (self-reported)	evolution d' children's sett- esteem(sett-reported)	(responsibility (self - reported) weighted average of	erouton o onurens prepara activity (self-reported) erolution of children's	esteem(self-reported)	evolution of children's self-	responsibility (self-reported) weighted average of	evolution of children's physical activity (self-reported)	erolution of children's set- esteem (set-reported)	vesponsibility (self-reported) weighted average of velationships outcomes	evolution of children's physical activity (self-reported) evolution of children's	esteem (sdf-reported)	verighted average of relationships outcomes evolution of children's set	evolution of children's responsibility (self-reported)	evolution of children's physical activity (self-reported)	erolution d'children's set- esteem(set-reported)	velationships outcomes	activity (self-reported) evolution of children's resconsibility (self-recorted)	esteem (self-reported) evolution of children's physical	velationships outcomes evolution of children's set	ectivity (self-reported) evolution of children's responsibility (self-reported)	wolution of children's physical		Indicator
	KNF accounting dating the second s	CVF accounting data	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire			questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	+		questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire			Source
	sted for inflation	adjusted for inflatio	16%	3%	1.6%	2.2%	35%	44%	30%	38%	55%			13%	16%	16%	16%			695	3%	6%	6%	17%	19%	21%	29%	\$	11%	14%	8	2%	2	29%	16%	16%	28%	34%	33%	44%	50%	21%	20%	31%	2.5%	1.4%	25%	Wec		Net Change (distance traveled less counterfadual)
		5	8%	19% according to stakeholders	14%	18%	34%	38%	30% ¹ Value of the outcome according to	41%	38%			10%	14%	1.2% value of the outcome according to	11%			1%	10%	5 % Value of the outcome according to	3%	11%	24% stakeholders	28% value of the outcome according to	38%	14%	1499 mane on the battoms 1.6 m istakeholders	24%	7%	17% Statemanners	13% value of the outcome according to	27%	16%	2.4 % reasons on the outcome spectral states and the second secon	23%	21%	33% stakeholders	39% Value of the outcome	35%	20%	28% stakeholders	2.9% 3.3 c value of the outcome	27%	20% stakeholders	18% value of the outcome	310		Attribution (how much change /s attributed to BH/PI
				(willingness to pay)				(Aed on cessification)	Choice experiment						}	Choice experiment (willingness to pay)					-	Choice experiment	1			Choice experiment			(milingness to pay)				Choice experiment (willingness to pay)	{		Choice experiment Willingness to pay)	1		(willingness to pay)	Choice experiment		}	(willingness to pay)			(willingness to pay)	Choice experiment			Praxy source Pra
			208,889	208,889	208,889	208.889	688,802	208,889	208,889	208,889	208,889		-	266,667	200,000	480,000	266,667			266,667	200,000	480,000	266,667	150,000	96,000	15,000	150,000	150,000	15,000	150,000	150,000	96,000	15,000	150,000	150,000	15,000	150,000	150,000	96,000	15,000	150,000	150,000	96,000	150,000	150,000	96,000	15,000			ky value stakof RL
		• • • •	2,448 22,0	1, 224 11,0	4,622 41,6	7.997 71.9	24,858 223,7	34,926 314,3	18,800 169,2	31,921 287,2	13,658 392,9			3,409 126,1	4,483 165,8	9,005 333,2	4,821 178,3			238 8,8	625 23,12	1,425 52,7	476 17,6	2,859 22,8	4,356 34,8	861 6,8	16,793 134,3	765 6,1	230 1.8	5,204 41,6	833 11,6	367 5,1	83 1,16	11,667 163,3	3,809 53,33	557 7,7 801 11,2	9,492 132,8	10,957 153,3	10,563 147,8:	2,543 35,60	29.531 413.4	6,250 93,7	5,217 78,2	1.016 15.7	10,125 151,8	2,691 40,3	8,003 129,9	0 000 L 000		l value er Total anni iolder, value, RL
			1 1	16 1)2 1	1	2	-	1	88 1	20 1			36 1	1	1	75 1			10 1	1	1	19 1	1	1	37 1	6 1	1	37 1	1	57 . 1		57 1	33 1	20 1	1 1	1	38	1)z 1	-	50 1	-		75 1	55 1	5 8 1 1	-		ual Benefit JB years Pa
			0% 100%	0% 100%	0% 100%	0% 100%	25% 100%	25% 100%	25% 100%	25% 100%	25% 100%			0% 100%	0% 100%	0% 100%	0% 100%			0% 100%	0% 100%	0% 100%	0% 100%	25% 100%	25% 100%	25% 100%	25% 100%	25% 100%	25% 100%	25% 100%	25% 100%	25% 100%	25% 100%	25% 100%	25% 100%	25% 100% 25% 100%	25% 100%	25% 100%	25% 100%	25% 100%	25% 100%	25% 100%	25% 100%	25% 100%	25% 100%	25% 100%	25% 100%	100%		nount of value gain olect Y1 Project
			50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%			50%	50%	50%	50%			50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	E DAY		ved Drop-off Y2
		_										_												_							_			,				_												
Tot Ne SRC	247,351	1,224,936	0	0	0	0	55,930	78,584	42,300	71,822	98,230			0	0	0	0			0	0	0	0	5,718	8,711	1,722	33,586	1,531	459	10,408	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	0	0	0 0		(2008)	falue; year Val
al value create al investment t present value)	416,865, 42	609,760 71	22,031 2:	11,016 1:	41,602 4	71.969 7	223,720 223	314,336 31	169,200 169	287,288 28	92,920 39			27,273 170	35,868 224	72,044 450	38,567 24			1,905 8	5,000 23	11,400 5:	3,810 1.	22,872 2:	34,845 34	6,887	134,345 134	6,122	1,837	41,633 4	2,917 1	1,283	292	40,833 163	13,330 53	1,948 2,802 1	33,223 133	38,350 153	36,972 14:	8,900 3	103,359 413	23,438 93	19,564 78	3 900 1	37,969 15:	10,091 40	32,484 1.23 2,531 10		2009) (20	ue: year Value
đ	4,839 135,	2,800 598,	,031 22,0	,016 11,0	,602 41,6	.969 71.5	1,720 223,7	,336 314,3	,200 169,2	,288 287,2	,920 392,5			A55 124,4	1,174 163,6	328,6	,047 175,9	H	$\left \right $,810 6,5	125 18,1	,725 41,3	,619 13,5	872 11/	,845 17,4	,887 3,4	,345 67,1	,122 3,0	.837	,633 20,5	,667 5,8	,133 2,5	,167 5	1,333 81,6	,320 26,6	209 5,6	.891 66,4	1,398 153,3	,889 147,8	,602 35,6	438 413 4	,750 93,7	1,255 78,2	,148 202,1	,875 151,8),365 40,3	,938 1.29,5),125 10,1	199	10) (201	SROI ci :year Valu
4.009 14,134 5,235 8,898	018, 430 096, 130	365 51	131 22	116 11	02 41	69 71	20 223	36 314	00 169	88 287	120 392			132 64	47 85	99 171	164 91			4	25 10	25 24	10 8	136	122	44	72	61	118	116	33	67	83	67	60	196 104	145	98 76	89 73	02 17	38 206	50 93	55 78	48 202	175 151	165 40	25 10	1.29	1	A Value: y
5 8.2 861 12,24 899 4,73 1,962 7,51 2,76 7,51	1,640	,300	.031 1	.016	602 2	369 3	11	336 15	8	288 14	.920 19			773 2	186 3	104 6	598 3			167	938	938	333	•	0	0	0	0 0		0			0	0	0	0 0	•	699	944	801	719	750 4	255 3	148 10	.875 7	365 2	938 o	3		sar 5 Value:
3,505 9,90 3,432 4,08 0,073 5,8 2,59			1,016	5,508	0,801	5.98.4	1,860	7,168	4,600	3,644	5,460			5,568	3,626	7,541	6,157			1,667	4,375	9,975	3,333	•	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	•	0	0	0	0 0	0	0	0	0	•	6,875	9,128	1,074	5,938	0,183	4,969 5,063	- NED		year 6 Value:
2,42			0	0	0	0	°	0	0	0	0			0	0	0	0			0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	•	0	0	0	• •	0	0	0	0	0	0	•	• •	0	0	0 0	<u>,</u>		year 7 Total
	1,646,259	2,928,907	85,601	42,801	161,643	279.630	923,030	1,296,896	698,090	1,185,298	1,621,119			356,559	468,929	941,886	504,225			20,237	53,122	121,117	40,474	56,752	86,461	17,090	333,354	15,192	4,558	103,305	18,055	7,944	1,805	252,764	82,515	12,060	205,653	365,994	352,848	84,942	986.422	299,252	249,792	645,263	484,789	128,846	414,764 32,319	A*1 8 795.4		4.00% present) Value To
	1,457,206 592,075	2,684,152	73,882	36,941	139,513	241.347	801,912	1, 126, 719	606,488	1,029,766	1,408,399			307,737	404,721	812,918	435,184			17,438	45,774	104,366	34,876	51,159	77,941	15,406	300, 503	13,695	4,108	93,124	15,935	7,011	1,593	223,084	72,826	10,644	181,505	316,972	305, 587	73,565	854, 300	254, 387	212,342	548,521	412,106	109,529	35 Z, 380 27,474	0es c se		Discount rate 8/25% xtal (present) Value
	1, 218, 802 504, 671	2, 362, 528	59,457	29,728	112,274	194.226	65 2, 400	916,649	493,412	837,772	1, 145, 812			247,100	324,974	652,740	349,435			13,973	36,678	83,626	27,945	43,843	66,794	13,203	257,529	11,736	3,521	79,807	13,212	5,813	1, 321	184,963	60,381	8,825	150,489	255,699	246,515	59,344	689, 156	199,842	166,812	430,909	323,744	86,044	27,5,381	77.6 GR 1		15.00% fotal (present) Value

SROI Model - Sobinka School

OF Centfunding OF Regramme expense Opupment purchased by	Programme inputs	a unit for a lea	Not dire city involved in			Programme	involved in the		grade 8 Teachers	grade f	grade 4 grade 5	erate 1	Iowincome families		grade 8	grade 5 grade 7	grade 4 grade 4		familes	montal and bish income	Parents		female				3	Grade 8		female			11010		Grade 7		female			male	Grateo		female			male		Grade 5	female			male		Grade 4	IGNAG			male		Grade 3 Grade 3		man and a star of a star star
Davents				T		5	5		1	8	16	5	1	1	10	58 1A	2 2 5	8	115				14		Ι	1	2			×			5				16			z			ы			10			19			8			5			и			88	Population
	meaning and purpose	uð atteri	exportie relationships	APRICA AND Probability			ef-streen	visit ky	I			wir-streen	attifaction with the shoot	supportive relationships				eð-etzeri	abilitation Gell die	ved ky	40 02.0011	ood if davelopment	autonomy	visity	pel-otern	oci al davelopment	Lubron V	Vedity	ul ^y -atzern	nod al development	water	ef-szen	ooi il davelopment	vidity Iutenority		ood al davekopment welf-esteens	ANDOLOGY	otaty	ud a overprett	Maccount	vēsity	wi ^r -alsen	udonorsy ool if development	vitality	NA OTEL	LUCODA	réality	ad-aten	uderorry od al development	VEREY	ad-oten	uutenersy lood al davelopment	vêdêy	ef-steen	od il davelopment	VEARY	pel-alcen	uod al development	vedity			C. Strange
	reportañ	reportati producion of readward perception of ratinal value of reading profession (self-	ក្លាល់ដែលនៅ មុខជាតិទៅ នៅដល់នៅស្ថិន មាន ស្រុងមួយនេះ មុខលើដែលកានា មុខជាតិទៅ មុខគឺ សំរដ្ឋមន្ត្រី សំរដ្ឋមន្ត្រី	reportati Secolulari di Baldieri di engli levela 6 di l' Teportati	revealed in the base of searching produces on beet	Project planning and management skills	NULLEATERSTRATISTICS AND ADDRESS	reportation Breighted Workgie id realborkshipt	investigation of Baseline's courses assess to all			reportad) reportad)	producer or parents' saturat con with the printed (self reported)	and the wards a series who	FOLDONIC DATENTS FRIEND MARKE BER-			Prokaboli of particle Set-orbiter(user: reported)	scholaster for parter to the fact both die fit office is tread (self responsed)	reportad evelytad works d reabstrates	reportant	ระสุขาย เป็นของ เป็นของ เป็นของ เป็นของ	reportad) weightad workgo d relationships	Vell-sported woldshift of different responsibility (eff-	proportadi preportadi encluiportadi di adverni prevaduli adi alv	weighted worste direktorships Suttorne Marketori direktorships	erobor of different responsibility bet- reported	estation of this entry state attack to attack	evolution of differents of Federates (s 8 F	petral avrige d'reatorshoi	User-exported Weblicken for the Marten's responsed at Ky Bell-	reported produced of of advertising register and the	สิตสิรโตรี สาขารุดิ ปี เริ่มไปเรียกรู้ โปรดอาส โตระสะสาราสาราสาราสาราสาราสาราสารา	(sel-sported) http://doinite/10.illa/Ev/11.festionialia/Ev/10/8- /sported)	evolution of disaberry physical adjusty	องเองาะธ จึงจังมังกำได้ สำคัญข้างว่า สำคัญชีกา 6 สำ ร้างอากสถั	reportati requirati warage a reactorizingo	production of diaberry priyatal addition (set) apported	excelsion of differents of estainer (cd) - reportant	erolularia distri repondety bet- reponet refytati antigo di realtantigo	evolution of disabetry preparat address (self-reported)	exclusion of dilaterns of estarries of the terms of ter	reportad weightad werege of relationships automa	involution of dislatents physical activity (self-exported) en diubon of dislatents responsed by par-	exclusion of dialyon is all estants is all reported	reportat) neutrati nersije d relationskoj	producer of dialeters physical all sky (set reported) Groups of dialeters responded by plac	protection of dischemics at Estimate Esti- report at	veporta) učiji tadi a traje u relitike in po ostoon o	ser-sported NGLDOT of Materia/Neigonaballay plan	estadorial dialectors di estaria 6 di - reportati	Peportad) New Jobs and Age of reduction and putcore as	producer of andren's reported by (ef-	ritorial)	seegraal worste direktordigs buttoring boold of the work of the area work of	Just-sported protection of differents responsibility (self- resported)	producion of d'advents of record to di- reportat) encolution of d'advents physical add why	vegiraa warage direksioningo secon o	ing works of an and the barriers of the second seco			A MANA
CVF accurring dat CVF accurring dat questionnaire, adju	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire			distruction	questionnaire	Î			questionnaire	questionnaire	distruction				questionnaire	dissponse	questionnaire	Andrewer	questionnaire	questionnaire	quediornaire	questornaire	questornaire	questionnaire	automate i	questornaire	questornare	questionnaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questornaire		questionnaire	questionnaire	questornaire	questornaire	questornaire	questornaire	questionaire	quediornaire	questionnaire	questorraire	questornaire	questionnaire	questornaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questornaire	questornaire	questornaire	questionnaire	questionnaire	questornaire	questornaire	quediornaire	quediornaire			1000
a, adjusted for inflati a, adjusted for inflation sted for inflation)	74.6	0%	25%	22%			N. N.	240				8%	12%	18 %				17%	##	22%	and	11%	15%	48 %	3%	-1%	3%	200	17%	74.11 ALC	25	25%	2%	32%		2%	9%6	23%	8%	13%	13%	41%	88	61%	40%	40%	8%	31.W	226	40%	45%	41%	50.95	24.01	8%	23%	20.94	40%	41%		counterfactual) and	
00 00	8%	0 % a sector days	13 % wake of the full core	21%		a average o	aske of the 27 %/outcome	22		~~		15%	21 % statetel ders	20% outcome		~~		55 15	as or puttorse as cording to 23 %, italiette ders	16 %, wake of the	53	ZNjaketuan	21 % outcome	22%) Nake of the	6%	4% pask etcl dars	when of the 2 M outcome		16%	40 %/outcome according to 11 %/out-stated days	24% aske of the	24%	(according to 24%/azitetetates	44%) Nake of the 23%/success		17% satebolders	Z3 % outcome	24.16	25%) 25%)	19 % out one according to	2%	54.94	60 % jour one According to	62 %	16.05 Submerood O	47 % outcome	SD %	42%	42% putcore at cording to	45 %, value of the	22.5	43 %joutcome at conding to 44%, state but days	44%	20%	23% praketet des	23%) When of the 33% outcome	14%	23%/attore according to 30%/attacted days	22% sake of the		bured in BMP/	UCD CDADD012 C Association
		Qued And	Choice experiment	1		Juillingness to payl	Oroke		Ì			1	(will repeat to pay)	Choice					I will repersent pask	Choice	Ì	(red	experiment. Cwill repress to	Oroice		(will repress to past)	Doke	-		(will reness to load	Choice	÷	Cwill repress to page	Choice		(ked	poperiment (will repeat to	r	(mag	Choice experiment (will repress to	-	- 1	coperiment. Lwill repress to	Creater	And	inperiment (will repress to			i will reperiment i will repress to	Choice		roperiment (will repress to pay)	Choice		Nuelli repressito pagé	Choice		toperivers twill repeat to payl	Droite			PURT STOLE
	205,057	206,067	265,657	200,007		C 10 10 C	266,667	266,667	ļ			243,333	240,303	240,303			ļĮ	240,303	240,303	240,303	19150	97,275	75,125	75,125	1 30, 50 0	97,275	75,125	3125	1 30, 500	97.76	7,125	1 30,500	97,275	75,125		130,500	75,125	7,125	130,500	75,125	75,125	1 30,500	75,125	75,125	1 30,500	7125	78,125	1 30,500	97.275	75,125	1 30,500	97,275	75,125	1 302 500	97,275	75,125	1 30,500	97,275	75,125			A NUMBER OF A
	1,875 18,750	0	8,333 83,333	23,900 23,000		0 4 77 0 4 30 7	17,667 176,667	23,333 233,333				2,831 325,568	6,066 697,645	8,5 58 984,184				6,395 735,397	9,929 1,141,802	8,303 954,811	4,1,70 58,404	2,654 37,151	2,366 33,130	7,851 109,908	201 2,819	- <mark>8</mark>	45 649	9M 13614	3,383 47,357	1.118 15.653	6,121 85,698	7,923 95,079	494 -4,002	2,453 29,437		404 6,471	1,552 24,835	4,035 64,570	2,545 35,627	1,784 24,979	2,348 32,867	31,045 776,118	28,172 704,297	28,325 708,148	23,490 234,900	M.1.2M 101,235	20,659 206,594	16,835 319,886	9133 171528	16,636 316,093	30,795 615,924	13,283 265,667 8,479 169,598	16,351 327,015	3,915 39,150	2,236 22,257	5,578 55,780	3,822 91,727	3,919 94,057	6,8-65 164,282		RUB	Autorities units Dill
		9	1 0%					× 14	l			1 09	1 0%					1 08			-	1	1 21	1 25	1 251	1 251	1 1	 N	1 25	1 0	-	1 25		 8 8		ы 	1 21	1 21	1 2	1 2	1 21	54 5 		1 21	1 1	 	1	1	н н И	-	1 2	 3 5	1 25	-		1 1	1 25	1 1			years Projec	bound -
	1005	1005	1005	1009			100	1005	ł		÷	1009	1005	1005		ł	Ħ	1005	1005	100	JUG .	100	1005	1009	100%	1009	1005	Б.	1005	1000	1009	1005	1005	1009	ť	100	1005	1005	1009	10.0%	1009	1000	100	1005	1009	1005	1005	1005	100	1005	10.05	1000	1005	1005	100	1009	1009	1009	1005	ł	o pue 141	ī
	50%	50%	50%	50%		ŝ.	50%	50%	ľ			50%	5.0%	50%				50%	50%	50% 50%	505	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	Sol	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%		50%	50%	50%	50%	5.0%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	SON	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%		12	Contraction of
1,287,968 438,972 198,527	0		0	00,500		81.067	44,167	50.00				0	•					0			14,010	9,288	8,283	27,477	205	-158	16.2	1408	11,842	3.913	21,425	23,770	-1, -8 0	7,359		0 0	0		0 0	0		0.0		0	0.0		0	0	0 0	0	0	0 0		0	0	0 0	0	0 0	0		(2010-11)	Varue : year
664,850 338,018 171,279	18,750	0	83,393	121,058		1444	170,067	230,303				53,789	1 15, 26 3	162,604				223,817	347,505	290,595	Diffe Ric	37,151	33,130	109,908	2,819	673	649	11614	47,357	15.653	85.698	95,079	-5.90 Z	128,326		1,618	6.05.9	16,143	8,907	6,245	8,217	0		0	0 0					0	0		0		0	0 0	0	0 0	0		(2011-12)	Walue: wear 2
76,950 430,640 166,199	18,750	0	80,300	200,000			176,667	233,330	Į			72,191	154,005	218,212			ļ	201,405	312,754	00 1 K	21,22	18,576	16,565	\$4,954	1,A10	436	325	6317	23,683	28.6 erc'or	42,340	47,530	-2,966	64,163 14,718		21,764 6,471	24,835	64,570	35,627	24,979	32,857	0 0		0	0 0		0	0		0	0		0	•	0	0 0	0	0 0	0		3 (2012-13)	white year w
175,335 140,930 190,566	18,790	0	83,300	23,058		10 A M 7	176,667	233,333				22,648	48,512	68,405			Ц.	44,763	105.69	58,119			0	0	0	0	0		0	0		0	0	0 0		10,862	12,417	32,285	3,614	12,490	16,434	194,030	176,074	177,037	58,725	35,309	51,688	79,972	43.302	79,023	153,981	66,417 42,397	81,754	9,788	5,594	13,616	22,932	40, MH 23, 514	41,070		(2010-1-4)	Kue war 4iV
323,790 164,309 139,025	18,750		80,300	200,000		5440	176.667	233,333				118,903	254,792	359.441			ļ	422,054	65,205	547,978			0	0		0	•		0			0	0				0	0	0 0	•	•	776,118	704,297	708,148	234,900	M1,205	206,594	31,9,895	234,371	316,033	615,924	265.667	327,015	39,150	22,257	54,466 55,780	91,727	16 2, 978 94, 057	164,282		(2014-15)	atus: year 5
	9,375 1	0	41,667	61,979		10.101	88,333	116,667	ļ			59,452	127,395	179,721			1	211.027	327,648	273,989			0	0	0	0	•		0			0	0			• •	0	0	0 0	0	•	20 18 BE	352,148	354,074	30,112 117,450	70,618	103,297	159,943	86.764	158,047	307,992	132,833	163,507	19,575	11,128	27,233	45,854	81,489 47,028	82,141		(2015-16)	Value: year 1
2315614 136382 719,818	71,969	0	318,082	473,147		1 91 9 20 7	7 16, 59 9	9-46,452				272,576	584.091	823,990				9 19, 79 3	1,428,009	1,194,146	93,140	59,186	52,780	175,096	4,492	4,074	1,034	21.720	75,450	24.937	136,527	151,471	Å	204,437		33,179	37,851	98,438	26,203	38,081	50,106	1,083,491	983,226	988,603	3 27, 930	197,170	288,413	446,574	242.252	441,278	8 59, 85 4	370,891 236,752	456,525	54,655	31,071	76,036	128,055	131,307	229,314		Value	bold (present)
1,563,36 1,546,55 651,M2	62,875		27.9,458	415,694		1 10 2 11	63.252	002.908	I			236,290	506,250	71.4.178			Î	797,403	1,238,214	1,035,435	80,45	54,925	48,985	162,495	4,169	-	900	20.158	70,032	23.143	126,705	140,574	4,770	43,522		29,72	33,920	88,191	48,659	34,117	44,891	904,630	106.078	825,397	273,792	164,619	240,800	372,850	202.20	358,423	71.7,902	309,655	381,159	45,612	25,942	63,484	106,915	109,630	191,492		(pre sant) Value	Total
1 1,934,53 1,082,75 2, 357,25	50.60	Ĭ	224,89	2 775,00			er's rs	0.080	Î	m		185,90	308.37	16,195		Ť	Ħ	628,39	10.2.16	815.82	a la	48,38	43.14	3 143,13	3.67				61.68	20.38	10,00	123.82		0 167,11	Ì	7,32	28.12	73,12	40,34	28,28	37,23	664.57	903,07	606,37	201,14	120,90	176,90	273.91	200.09	270.65	527,40	4 227,48 145,21	280,00	33,52	19,05	46,63	78,54	80,53	10.67	Î	(pre sant) Value	local



10 St Bride Street, London EC4A 4AD Tel: 03000 123 000 www.cafonline.org

Charities Aid Foundation registered address: 25 Kings Hill Avenue, Kings Hill, West Malling, Kent ME19 4TA

CAF Russia

24/7 Myasnitskaya str., Building 1, Entrance 10, Floor 4, Office 102, Moscow, 101000 Email: cafrussia@cafrussia.ru www.cafrussia.ru